
































 THE CORPORATION OF THE TWONSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

Page 1 of 7 
 

DATE: Monday June 22, 2015 

TIME: 7:00 p.m. 

PLACE: Puslinch Municipal Complex 

FILE NUMBER: Plan of Subdivision File 23T-10004 (D12/DRS) & D14/DRS 
 DRS Developments Ltd. 

MEMBERS: Mayor Dennis Lever - Chair 
 Councillor Ken Roth 
 Councillor Susan Fielding 
 Councillor Wayne Stokley 
 Councillor Matthew Bulmer 
 

The Chair welcomed those attending the Public Meeting. 

The Chair advised that purpose of the Public Meeting is to inform and provide the public with the 
opportunity to ask questions, or to express views with respect to the proposed Plan of 
Subdivision Zoning By-law Amendment commenced by the Applicant: DRS Developments Ltd. 
Located of 66 Queen Street, Morriston. 
 
The Chair advised that the Councillors are here to observe and listen to public comments; 
however, they will not provide a position on the matter. 
 
The Chair informed attendees when Council makes a decision, should you disagree with that 
decision, the Planning Act provides you with an opportunity to appeal this application to the 
Ontario Municipal Board for a hearing. Please note that if a person or public body does not make 
oral submissions at a public meeting or written submissions to the Township of Puslinch before the 
decision is made, the person or public body is not entitled to appeal the decision of the Township of 
Puslinch to the Ontario Municipal Board.  In addition, if a person or public body does not make an 
oral submission at a public meeting, or make written comments to the Township of Puslinch before 
the decision is made, the person or public body may not be added as a party to the hearing of an 
appeal before the Ontario Municipal Board unless, in the opinion of the Board, there are 
reasonable grounds to do so.   

The Chair noted that the Planning Act requires that at least one Public Meeting be held for each 
development proposal.  
 
The Chair instructed the format of the Public Meeting is as follows:  
 

• The applicant will present the purpose and details of the application and any further 
relevant information. 

• Following this the public can obtain clarification, ask questions and express their 
views on the proposal.  

• Following this Council has the opportunity to obtain clarification and ask questions of 
the proposal.  

• The applicant and staff will attempt to answer questions or respond to concerns this 
evening. If this is not possible, the applicant and/or staff will follow up and obtain this 
information. Responses will be provided when this matter is brought forward and 
evaluated by Council at a later date. 

Presentations 

Rob Stovel, Planner and Agrologist, Stovel and Associates Inc., agent for DRS Developments 
Ltd, introduced the Development Team working on the subdivision and zoning amendment 
proposal:  

• Owners of the property, DRS Developments Ltd. – represented by Dave Bouck and Ron 
Schiedel 

• Engineers – AMEC FOSTER WHEELER –Ron Scheckenberger, Principal and Michael 
Dessureault, Senior Civil Engineer 



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TWONSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

Page 2 of 7 
 

• Biologist – Jim Dougan, Director and Senior Ecologist – Dougan and Associates, 
Ecological Design and Consulting 

• Hydrogeologist – Sandy Anderson, Manager, Hydrogeology – Chung & Vander Doelen 
Engineering Ltd. 

Rob Stovel, referencing a plan, detailed the location of the subject site and the uses of the 
properties surrounding the subject lands. He stated the Official Plan designated the entirety of 
the property as Hamlet Residential at the time of submission of the subdivision application. 
Recently DRS applied to the County for a redline revision to the originally submitted draft plan of 
subdivision.  

Rob Stovel continued to give a brief history of planning approvals that affected the subject site 
and stated the County started the 5 year review of the Official Plan in February 2010, referred to 
as  Official Plan #81 (OPA 81). One of the outcomes of OPA 81 included updated mapping 
schedules to address natural heritage features and flood mapping detailed by the conservation 
authorities. One of the mapping changes newly designated part of the DRS property as Core 
Greenlands directly relating to updated flood mapping completed by Conservation Halton. In 
2012, DRS listed concerns of the new Core Greenlands schedule to the County. In September 
2013, the County adopted OPA 81 and DRS appealed OPA 81 to the Ontario Municipal Board. 
The DRS appeal was resolved February 3, 2015 by Agreement between Conservation Halton 
and DRS as it relates to the Core Greenlands designation on the subject property and the 
County agreed to modify the boundary based on the settlement between the two parties. A 
rezoning application has been applied for through the Township to rezone the Core Greenlands 
identified on the property from Hamlet Residential to Natural Environment (NE) Zone and to 
reduce the required setback of 30 metres from the NE Zone to a dwelling to permit a 15 metre 
setback from the NE Zone to a dwelling.  

Rob Stovel stated the Draft Plan of Subdivision includes 11 lots, all 0.24 hectares or larger. The 
MTO will require a road widening along Highway 6 and a stormwater management pond with a 
water treatment system that will be owned and maintained by the Township. Land is also being 
transferred to the church abutting the property to expand their parking lot. There is currently a 
pond partially on the subject site which is proposed to be reconfigured and relocated off the 
subdivision site. The design of the subdivision has taken about 2 to 2.5 years to detail with 
substantial input from Conservation Halton.  

Rob Stovel noted all homes will have a setback of approximately 30 metres from Highway 6. 
The MTO will not permit an access off of Highway 6 and the existing entrance will be removed. 
The historical house will be retained and the owner will confirm this in writing if required. The 
owner plans to maintain the heritage features of the dwelling with plans to initiate renovations 
starting this year, or 2016, depending on the timing of this process. The house is in deteriorated 
condition and work will occur this summer to ensure further deterioration does not occur.  

Rob Stovel listed the studies that have been completed with the submission and processing of 
the subdivision application including an Archaeological Stages Report, Scope Environmental 
Impact Study, Hydrogeological Investigation, Functional Servicing & Stormwater Management 
Report and Geotechnical Investigation. 

Rob Stovel noted there are no significant natural heritage features on the subdivision site, but 
there are natural heritage features on the property which will continue to be protected. Minimum 
Distance Separation does not apply to Hamlet Areas. The pond work that will be undertaken will 
have a net environmental gain.  

Rob Stovel informed the individual lots will contain drilled wells and high end tertiary treatment 
systems. There is a bedrock aquifer and there will be no impacts on neighbouring wells or the 
creek. 

Jim Dougan and Sandy Anderson indicated that runoff from the site contributes to fisheries. 
Plans have been reviewed for the site regarding flow data, desktop field data and assessment 
modeling has been undertaken to mitigate any potential impacts. The headwater of the Bronte 
Creek system cuts from the south. On site grades and off site drainage of the tributary will be 
maintained. The primary component of the grading geometry will be engineered, for example 
the agricultural pond will maintain the same storage capacity and be made better. The existing 
configuration will be matched, but moved to the west. A swale will be created as a relief system.  

There will be no impact on the quantity of run-off but any quality compromise of run-off on the 
roadway will be captured with an oil and grit separator. Discharge will flow into an open 



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TWONSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

Page 3 of 7 
 

collection system and will exceed provincial standards in terms of water treatment. Low impact 
development methods will be utilized for further environmental enhancing. Curbs and catch 
basins combined with the use of swales will provide drainage flow.  

It was confirmed there is a floodplain on the property which is regulated by the conservation 
authority and it was specified that the site will not net an impact. Any impact has the potential to 
be positive. 

Rob Stovel addressed the comments and letters from the public made to date, the first of which 
questioned the developments impact on neighbouring wells and septic systems.  Rob Stovel 
noted wells will be drilled providing potable water and septic tertiary systems will be installed. 

Rob Stovel confirmed there will not be a negative impact on nearby agriculture uses as the 
remainder of the property will continue to be farmed by the owner and there will not be MDS 
impacts on existing nearby barns as the development is within the Hamlet boundary.   

Rob Stovel noted he hadn’t considered the impacts of construction traffic while developing the 
site, but will work with the Township regarding timing and routes.  

Rob Stovel confirmed that street lighting is required as part of the subdivision and hopes to 
install high-end street lights. A lighting plan has not yet been prepared, but it will be required as 
part of the subdivision approval.    

Ron Scheckenberger answered concerns of the pond reconfiguration.  

Rob Stovel assured any grading of the property is subject to County, Township and 
Conservation Halton approvals. He confirmed that the houses that are not near the highway will 
be adequately set back. 

Rob Stovel noted a letter from the public that had been received from Mr. and Mrs. Pankratz 
today noting concerns about the impact on their shallow well from altering the pond. Rob Stovel 
stated that a response had been provided to the Township and County by Chung & Vander 
Doelen Engineering Ltd. Noting that an increase in the quantity of groundwater recharge to the 
shallow water table is anticipated based on the development engineering designs.  

Rob Stovel informed the gallery that he will provide responses to the Township and County for 
any questions that he is unable to respond to this evening.    

Question/Comments 

Mary Tivy, Chair of the Township’s Heritage Committee, noted the Calfas family built the 
Stewart House on the property in the mid-19th century and constructed it with birch and 
fieldstone. It was plaqued and designated as a heritage building in 2000. Today it is in severe 
disrepair and at a great risk of demolition due to neglect. 

Rob Stovel will coordinate with the County Planner responses to all concerns. He stated the 
owner of the heritage house will be developing a schedule for construction on the dwelling, and 
he intends to preserve the heritage aspects of the dwelling.  

Don McKay, of 84 Queen Street, stated he shares the pond with the Bouck farm. He is 
concerned with the reconfiguration of a natural pond and acknowledged that the plans can 
seem great but do not always end up right and there is no guarantee that it will not either dry up 
or flood. He disagrees with Conservation Halton that the pond is not a wetland. It contains 
turtles, amphibians and muskrats and no one came to his door to count what was in his pond 
and the only reason to fill the pond is to gain land to build on. He is concerned with his right to 
farm when urban people move in and could potentially complain about manure spread, dust and 
other the effects of farming activities, including properties with possible fences that could have 
dogs that stress his cattle.  

Barb McKay, of 84 Queen Street, stated she is happy to hear that the properties will have 
tertiary treatment type septic systems. Conditions on the properties could change with the 
addition of pools on properties and there should be a baseline study to determine the current 
well conditions and then to monitor future impacts from the development. She noted Morriston is 
a rural and historic village and a streetscape plan should respect the existing character of the  
village and stated any lighting should be downward and not upward, but questioned the need for 
another subdivision. 



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TWONSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

Page 4 of 7 
 

Barb McKay stated that Victoria Street is narrow and is not able to handle construction traffic 
and vehicles and believes an alternate location should be identified for the development access. 
The impact of 11 new homes could be 2 cars a day per home, creating a minimum of 22 trips a 
day and the current state of Victoria Street would be stressed by that. There will also be the 
Highway 6 by-pass located behind the subdivision and future buyers need to be made aware of 
this.  

Rob Stovel stated he would provide a written response to the letter the McKay’s submitted to 
the Township and County and offered to arrange a meeting with Mr. and Mrs. McKay and the 
engineering consultants to address the pond reconfiguration.    

Jerry Warner of 50 Queen Street inquired what types of septic systems are being installed on 
the lots. 

Sandy Anderson Manager of Hydrogeology at Chung & Vander Doelen Engineering Ltd., stated 
that tertiary treatment systems are being installed on the properties and that will have a positive 
impact on nutrient reduction by improving the quality of the treatment before entering the septic 
bed.  

Cathy Haskell, of 67 Queen Street, noted existing properties along Highway 6 have runoff 
draining to them. She would like to see the addition of another drain to address this problem 
when more lots are created and to ensure there is not an increase of any run-off. 

Rob Stovel suggested the consultants could meet with Cathy Haskell to go over her concerns. 

Ron Scheckenberger, of AMEC FOSTER WHEELER, stated that when designing the 
Stormwater Management Report, there had to be demonstration of no impact to the existing 
drainage on Highway 6, and approval of the SWM report is a development requirement of the 
MTO. There will be no more water and it will be of the same quality.  

Cathy Haskell asked if this could be guaranteed. 

Ron Scheckenberger noted the report is science based and impacts will be monitored and 
tested.  

Peter Curtis of 7 Church Street stated that all water now runs through his property. He 
questioned how this development will not affect his property, his well and septic and his 
neighbours too.  

Ron Scheckenberger studied the existing drainage and a requirement was to demonstrate that 
there would be no net impacts on municipal grading or Conservation Authorities’ regulated 
areas and the effect of the stormwater management pond will be to maintain the grading and 
current rate of flows as it exists now.   

Peter Curtis stated in 15 years nothing has been touched, but once disturbed more water will 
run off.  

Ron Scheckenberger stated modeling was done to develop the best design for stormwater, and 
it has been reviewed and approved by all authorities including the MTO, Conservation Halton 
and the Township. Any systems that are designed to infiltrate the water system have to work 
starting day one. During the construction phase there will be an interim drainage system to 
address stormwater impacts.  

Peter Curtis advised that for 41 years he has worked the night shift and he is concerned with the 
construction noise that will occur during the day. 

Rob Stovel stated noise levels must adhere to the Ministry of the Environment & Climate 
Change standards.  

Peter Curtis inquired if any construction equipment will be using Church Street as an access.  

Rob Stovel said that has not yet been discussed and that will need to be addressed.  

Jeff Blythe of 72 Queen Street, also representing the owners of 75 Queen Street, noted he had 
prepared a written submission. He continued, noting there should be no net increase of water 
leaving the site. He wants a guarantee that there will not be any run-off because he does not 
want to lose any more use of his property, and he is concerned his property was not surveyed 
for his wells.  



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TWONSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

Page 5 of 7 
 

Ron Scheckenberger stated there will be a zero net increase of any run-off and informed that 
the well and septic of Jeff Blyth’s house was not studied. The analysis was based on the data 
available at the time and the adequacy of the data was confirmed. 

Sandy Anderson stated that the well records that were relied on did not speak to everyone’s 
wells. Wells down gradient are drilled and are within the aquifer that is well protected. Sandy 
Anderson indicated that he is satisfied with the analysis that has been completed, which 
demonstrates no impact.  

Rob Stovel addressed the sound issue by stating the houses are well setback and sound will 
not be resonating off the buildings and an acoustic report would respond to any concerns. 

Kathy White of 4540 Wellington County Road 35 stated there are Core Greenland features on 
the property that are provincially significant. 

Rob Stovel responded that was incorrect. 

Kathy White noted there is to be a 15 metre setback from the flood plain and recommended that 
the normal requirement of a 30 metre setback should not be varied.  

Rob Stovel stated that the 30 metre setback by-law requirement in the Township’s Natural 
Environment Zone can be reduced when reviews and approved by the conservation authority. 
The proposed 15 metre setback was proposed with extensive analysis by his team and 
Conservation Halton and approved in principle by the Ontario Municipal Board. 

Kathy White stated the Headwaters of the Bronte Creek create the original Greenbelt in the 
southern part of Puslinch and the property was in the Greenbelt, and believes the pond is spring 
fed and is concerned about the cutting and fill required to alter the pond and the remaining 
stability of the filled lands where the pond is currently located. 

Rob Stovel confirmed that the Ontario Municipal Board designated the subject lands Hamlet and 
the development proposal conforms to the Greenbelt Plan.  

Sandy Anderson stated there would be no surface water run-off to the pond. 

Ron Scheckenberger explained the process to reconfigure the pond and noted a nominal 
amount of fill will be required. The soil will be permeable and compacted.   

Sandy Anderson informed that modest glacial till material will be recompacted that will be ideal 
for this use, and the water balance will be maintained.  

Don McKay said the pond on his property is spring fed and that was confirmed by Harden 
Environmental. His side of the pond is deeper and he does not wish to have it touched. The 
Stewart side of the pond has dried out twice in 31 years. 

Barb McKay asked if the pond was not moved how many lots would be lost and doesn’t agree 
with the changing of natural features to create building lots, and noted there is a potential for 
archeological materials to be found with any pond reconfiguration due to the higher percentage 
of materials that were discovered in the Floodway Class. 

Rob Stovel stated all design work has been completed based on the relocation of the pond.  

Sandy Anderson stated that it was found that the pond is not significantly fed by ground water, 
but is not saying that there are not any sources of ground water feeding the pond.  

There were no more questions or comments from the gallery and the Chair asked if Council had 
any questions or comments. 

Councillor Fielding asked if there was any possibility of an entrance from Highway 6 during 
construction as that may be an advantage for construction equipment. 

Rob Stovel responded that he has not asked the MTO about the possibility of a temporary 
construction entrance from Highway 6. 

Councillor Fielding inquired if the homes are to be built by a single builder 

Rob Stovel responded that the future property owners would be responsible for choosing their 
builders.  



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TWONSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

Page 6 of 7 
 

Councillor Stokley requested a drawing illustrating the current configuration of the pond with an 
overlay of the proposed pond reconfiguration. 

Rob Stovel stated that could be prepared. 

Councillor Stokely asked what type of material would be used to construct the laneways for the 
proposed homes.  

Ron Scheckenberger stated that it is proposed that the development will maintain as much 
ground water infiltration as possible using Low Impact Development measures, but at this stage 
only functional design has been undertaken. 

Councillor Stokley noted there would be discharge from the roof as well that should be 
accounted for.  

Councillor Stokley remarked concern about the number of vehicles during construction and that 
a possible service road/entrance should be identified. 

Rob Stovel responded that options for construction access will require discussion with Township 
Staff. 

Councillor Stokley suggested a construction entrance from Highway 6 would solve a number of 
concerns from the Public and the construction access location should be determined soon and 
questioned if there would be a second Public Meeting, noting that any need would be 
determined by Council. 

Councillor Roth mentioned if there was work to be done on the house this summer to consider 
giving a schedule to the Township outlining the works and that it is good practice for the 
applicant to preserve the historic house. 

Councillor Roth asked for clarification that MDS does apply to lot creation within the Hamlet and 
if lot creation in the Hamlet would affect any expansion of existing farming activities surrounding 
the property. 

Aldo Salis, County of Wellington Development Planning Manager, confirmed that MDS does not 
apply to Hamlets. 

Rob Stovel stated MDS II would be applied and it is more lenient for proposed new, enlarged or 
livestock facilities, noting the OMB decision already accounted for the development and its 
effect on farming in the area.  

Councillor Roth asked how it is that the pond could be made better when reconfigured. 

Rob Stovel replied that the pond would remain the same off the DRS property, but would be 
reconfigured in a way that would provide a net increase to the pond size and ecological 
enhancements would be made. The plan is to create a shoreline and include a treatment 
system that will prevent surface slime on the pond.  

Jim Dougan, Ecologist, of Dougan and Associates, Ecological Design and Consulting noted that 
the pond in its current state freezes in the winter because it is not deep enough. Turtles were 
identified in the study of the pond along with other wetland features and the use of the pond for 
farming purposes. The pond will be engineered to prevent agricultural runoff from entering the 
pond, enhancing the water quality, as well as when the pond is made deeper turtles may 
possibly continue to use it during the winter months.  

Councillor Roth stated concern for the construction access and the impacts of construction 
equipment on surrounding landowners and inquired if studies were done on the property for 
species at risk.  

Rob Stovel said that barn swallows were identified and the Ministry of Natural Recourses 
requires a barn swallow structure to be installed offsite.  

Councillor Bulmer identified concerns that were to be addressed including informing future 
owners of the lots the proximity of farming activities, similar to the requirement of the 
homeowners being aware of the 15 metre Conservation Halton required setback to the Natural 
Environment Zone, the construction access needs to be determined, outstanding drainage 
concerns are to be addressed and believes any pond works are for consultants to comment on 
and approve. 



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TWONSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 

Page 7 of 7 
 

Ron Scheckenberger clarified that stormwater runoff on portions of the development may 
change but the overall flow direction of the site in its entirety will remain the same. 

Councillor Bulmer noted the lot sizes reflect the character of Victoria Street and the architecture 
of the future dwellings should be consistent with the existing structures on Victoria Street. 

Rob Stovel stated that they are not at the stage for house designs yet. 

Dave Bouck, owner of DRS Developments Ltd. would look to the Hamlet to respect the village 
character with future designs. 

Councillor Bulmer stated that street lights are a requirement as a part of municipal standards for 
safety, but there are different ways to do lighting.  

Councillor Bulmer indicated that a clause should be included in a purchase and sale brochure 
identifying the Natural Environment Zone, and questioned if pools were permitted within the NE 
Zone. 

Councillor Bulmer noted a reference to Grindstone Creek should instead be Bronte Creek.   

Councillor Bulmer remarked that it would be a goodwill gesture to maintain the historical building 
so that it would not be left to deteriorate any further.  

Mayor Lever cited concerns with any Highway 6 access and the deterioration of the existing 
heritage building and inquired what is happening with the north-west corner next to the church 
parking lot, and Lot 1 on the plan. 

Dave Bouck informed that he owns ¾ of the parking lot and it is being deeded over to the 
Church. Lot 1 will then drop a bit in level.  

Mayor Lever inquired about the Low Impact Development standards being used to deal with 
stormwater run-off and existing drainage. 

Mayor Lever asked the gallery if there were any further questions 

Jerry Warner asked how big the houses will be. 

Rob Stovel speculates that the houses will be 2000 – 2500 square feet in size. An 8000 – 10000 
square foot house is not possible due to having to accommodate a septic system on the 
property. 

Kathy White stated if the pond is a habitat for turtles, a capture and release plan should be in 
place and screening around the pond should be erected during construction. 

Jim Dougan responded that it would depend on the season that the pond was reconfigured, but 
a rescue plan has not been developed yet.  

Rob Stovel stated that it is a requirement to complete a rescue plan as part of the pond 
reconfiguration. 

Kathy White noted concern for the heritage home and maintenance should be started.  

Rob Stovel committed to providing a schedule to address maintenance and renovation of the 
heritage home. 

Dave Bouck stated he intends to fully renovate the dwelling.  

Cheryl McLean of 17 Victoria Street inquired where the stormwater management pond is to be 
located. 

Rob Stovel stated the stormwater management pond is adjacent to Lot 11.  

There were no further questions and the Chair called an end to the public meeting and advised 
that Council would not be taking action on this proposal tonight. 

Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 9:07 p.m. 



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TWONSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 
 

Page 1 of 4 
 

DATE: Tuesday July 7, 2015 

TIME: 7:00 p.m. 

PLACE: Puslinch Municipal Complex 

FILE NUMBER: D14/PER – Persian Investments 

MEMBERS: Mayor Dennis Lever - Chair 
 Councillor Ken Roth 
 Councillor Matthew Bulmer 
 Councillor Susan Fielding 
 Councillor Wayne Stokley 

The Chair welcomed those attending the Public Meeting. 

The Chair advised that purpose of the Public Meeting is to inform and provide the public with the 
opportunity to ask questions, or to express views with respect to Zoning By-law Amendment 
commenced by the Applicant: Persian Investments, located at 424 Maltby Road.  
 
The Chair advised that the Councillors are here to observe and listen to public comments; 
however, they will not provide a position on the matter. 
 
The Chair informed attendees when Council makes a decision, should you disagree with that 
decision, the Planning Act provides you with an opportunity to appeal this application to the 
Ontario Municipal Board for a hearing. Please note that if a person or public body does not make 
oral submissions at a public meeting or written submissions to the Township of Puslinch before the 
decision is made, the person or public body is not entitled to appeal the decision of the Township of 
Puslinch to the Ontario Municipal Board.  In addition, if a person or public body does not make an 
oral submission at a public meeting, or make written comments to the Township of Puslinch before 
the decision is made, the person or public body may not be added as a party to the hearing of an 
appeal before the Ontario Municipal Board unless, in the opinion of the Board, there are 
reasonable grounds to do so.   

The Chair noted that the Planning Act requires that at least one Public Meeting be held for each 
development proposal and this evening will be the second Public Meeting held for this 
development proposal.  
 
The Chair instructed the format of the Public Meeting is as follows:  
 

• The applicant will present the purpose and details of the application and any further 
relevant information. 

• Following this the public can obtain clarification, ask questions and express their 
views on the proposal.  

• Following this Council has the opportunity to obtain clarification and ask questions 
regarding the proposal. 
  

The applicant and staff will attempt to answer questions or respond to concerns this evening. If 
this is not possible, the applicant and/or staff will follow up and obtain this information. 
Responses will be provided when this matter is brought forward and evaluated by Council at a 
later date. 

Presentations 

Hugh Handy of GSP Group, agent for Persian Investments, detailed the Development Team 
working on the zoning amendment proposal, including the Developer - Persian Investments, 
Land Use Planners – GSP Group, Natural Environment – Dance Environmental, Civil Engineers 
– Braun Consulting Engineers and Hydrogeologist – LVM. Hugh Handy introduced Brandon 
Flewwelling of GSP Group and Ken Dance of Dance Environmental who represented the project 
team this evening. Regrets were given on behalf Marlene Walker, representative of the 
ownership group, who was unable to attend. Hugh Handy stated that any questions which his 
team could not answer tonight would be addressed following the meeting.  



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TWONSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 
 

Page 2 of 4 
 

Hugh Handy informed the gallery the last Public Meeting was held in August of 2014 where the 
application to rezone the lands to Industrial Zone and Natural Environment Zone was presented, 
together with a concept plan including a 28,000 square foot three storey office with parking 
behind and a stormwater management facility in the front. The parcel is a total of 100 acres in 
size with an existing farm house and farm buildings that are in disrepair and has been cleaned 
and secured. Only a portion of the property is proposed to be rezoned.  

Hugh Handy outlined the key issues that were identified from the first Public Meeting and the 
comments received from the Township which included traffic, wetlands and woodlands, MDS, 
archaeology and final proposed uses.  

Hugh Handy noted that the proposed final uses have been further refined to address comments 
made and no longer include the uses of automotive service and repair, a transport terminal or a 
warehouse. Water quality design will be addressed through the Site Plan approval process. 
Truck Traffic will be from the proposed entrance on Concession 7 to Maltby Road, with no 
further truck traffic to the south and confirmed intersection requirements or upgrades are not 
required for the proposed zone change. A Traffic Impact Study was based on an office with 200 
employees and the site distance from the proposed entrance location to Maltby Road is 135 
metres which provides for safe turning. 

Hugh Handy indicated that any other appropriate dry industrial uses on the site to be included in 
the rezoning, such as self-storage, would involve discussions with the County. 

Hugh Handy referred to the City of Guelph updated comments that detailed three intersection 
scenarios and noted this small site would have minimal impact on the Maltby Rd – Concession 
7 – Highway 6 intersections.  

Hugh Handy noted a public concern of the Paris Galt Moraine from the previous Public Meeting 
and stated that the proposed development is to achieve water balance of pre/post development 
and will be subject to a more detailed review at site plan approval when the final use is 
determined.  

Hugh Handy stated that in 1999 the County of Wellington designated the lands Industrial Area 
with development priority on the east side of the Hanlon Expressway and the Industrial use 
complements the City of Guelph’s business park. Zoning will determine development setbacks 
to specific wetlands of 15 metres to 30 metres and all environmental concerns have been 
addressed and by Ken Dance, of Dance Environmental, working with Township staff, the Grand 
River Conservation Authority and the MNR as approval authorities.  

Hugh Handy stated that the integrity of the natural heritage features can be maintained and the 
septic system can be located where some of the Scots Pines are located. 

Hugh Handy indicated that wetland “A” has been added to the Mill Creek wetland complex and 
refinements to the dripline were made to wetland “B”, and confirmed that it is recognized that 
there must not be any impacts to the wetlands and the GRCA is satisfied all concerns have 
been addressed 

Hugh Handy informed that MDS calculations were completed and reviewed with Sarah Wilhelm, 
who is satisfied that there are no impacts. Calculations were done based on the potential of the 
nearby barn, noting there in nothing in the barn right now. 

Hugh Handy stated that field tests were done in May 2015 for an Archaeological Study. No 
artifacts were discovered and he is waiting on the acceptance of the findings from the Ministry of 
Tourism, Culture and Sport.  

Hugh Handy specified that Persian Investments intends to sell the property to someone who will 
respect the development concept. 

Hugh Handy noted that the concept plan designed the septic possibly larger than needed and 
the stormwater management facility is located on the north side of the driveway. The newly 
identified wetlands decreased the developable area to 4.58 hectares, down from 4.93 hectares. 

Hugh Handy stated he believes that all public and agency comments have been addressed in a 
comprehensive way. 

 



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TWONSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 
 

Page 3 of 4 
 

Questions/Comments 

Bev Wozniak of 7088 Wellington Road 34, inquired if the remaining 100 acres was being 
rezoned and what area of the property is being sold. 

Hugh Handy confirmed the remaining lands were not being rezoned and would not be 
developed. There is a possibility to sell the entire parcel if there is a buyer, or a severance 
application could be done to sever the industrial lands from the agricultural lands. 

Bev Wozniak listed the Artisans in the area that have outlets, including the Hanlon, Capital 
Paving that has a siphon, Reid’s Heritage Homes, Heritage Lake, University of Guelph and 
Ren’s, and stated that the City of Guelph is proposing a water tower.  

Bev Wozniak inquired if a new owner has to accept the concept plan as shown. She noted that 
an Agricultural and Industrial Equipment Sales and Service use would require a different layout, 
a nursery and commercial greenhouse would use too much water and the land is too valuable 
and prominent to contain a building contractor’s yard. A motel would create too much traffic if 
Maltby Road was closed.  

Kathy White of 4540 Wellington Road 35 asked the County to use caution when approving a list 
of proposed uses, as Agricultural and Industrial Equipment Sales & Service could be servicing 
heavy equipment, a motel could use too much water, nurseries require high water usage and 
use chemicals and a factory outlet that is secondary to manufacturing is too open ended. 

Kathy White stated the Scots Pine area is in the Greenlands, but not core Greenlands. The 
Scots Pines provide a corridor for wildlife and if the septic goes there the trees would need to be 
removed. 

Hugh Handy confirmed the trees would have to be removed for the septic installation. 

Ken Dance stated there is a key corridor of conifer plantation on the property south of the 
subject lands. In terms of function on the property, they are new seedlings and nothing 
significant would be impacted. The Official Plan does permit development in green spaces if 
natural features are not compromised. 

Kathy White stated she is not a fan of net loss or compensation plans for planting new 
materials.   

There were no further questions from the gallery. 

Councillor Bulmer stated he is pleased that there is interest for development of this property. He 
is concerned with the location of the access and questioned why is there not an access 
proposed on Maltby Road. 

Hugh Handy stated access to Concession 7 was decided based on site layout taking into 
consideration both technical and aesthetic layouts. The SWM may be in the way of any access 
to Maltby Road.  

Councillor Bulmer noted Guelph wants a 5 metre road widening. 

Hugh Handy stated that has been planned for and it is no concern. 

Councillor Bulmer inquired if a Holding Provision could be implemented until a final use is 
determined, and then zone the property for that specific use and not permit any of the other 
uses. 

Hugh Handy stated he would prefer to have a defined list of approved uses without any holding 
provisions.  

Aldo Salis, Development Planning Manager at the County of Wellington, noted there is some 
latitude to holding provisions under the Planning Act, but what Councillor Bulmer is alluding to is 
conditional zoning. 

Councillor Bulmer informed he is looking to balance development with concerns of the public. 

Councillor Roth stated all his concerns have been addressed. 

Councillor Stokley stated he would prefer to see a defined list of permitted uses so the property 
would not come back for more planning applications and the Township would be clear on what 
the potential development could be. 



 THE CORPORATION OF THE TWONSHIP OF PUSLINCH 
PUBLIC MEETING MINUTES 

 
 
 

Page 4 of 4 
 

Councillor Fielding asked how old the trees are in the forested area. 

Ken Dance responded that they are 10 – 25 years old and the more mature trees on the 
property to the south. 

Mayor Lever noted the City of Guelph commented on no outdoor storage, so a building and 
contractors yard use would likely be removed and a defined list of uses is requested. 

Kathy White noted the concern is for wildlife habitat and the connectivity through the fields. 

Also Salis stated that the subject site is in the Rural Employment Area that could include some 
commercial and dry industrial uses which includes some manufacturing and some traditional 
heavy industrial uses. 

There were no further questions and the Chair called an end to the public meeting and advised 
that Council would not be taking action on this proposal tonight. 

Adjournment 

The meeting adjourned at 8:37 p.m. 



WHAT TO EXPECT: The Township of Puslinch invites you to participate in one of two public 
consultations to discuss our first Community Based Strategic Plan.

 Dr. John Whitesell, the Managing Director of Whitesell & Company, Inc., 
will be facilitating the 90-minute consultation sessions. Your input is a 
very important component to the development of the strategy, especially 
what you think about the priorities and issues that the Township needs to 
consider as we move forward. 

 Even if you don’t know the difference between a strategic objective and 
a strategic goal, John has a great deal of experience leading community 
conversations in a way that is productive, informative and enjoyable.

 We are looking forward to having you participate in our Community 
Consultations!

.

DATE  |  TIME:  Wednesday, September,  9 —7:00 pm - 8:30 pm

  Thursday, September, 10 —7:00 pm - 8:30 pm

LOCATION:  Council Chambers
 Township of Puslinch
 7404 Wellington Road 34
 Guelph ON  N1H 6H9

 519-763-1226 ext. 214

You are invited to attend

A Public Consultation
to discuss

A Community Based Strategic Plan 
for The Township of Puslinch



 

THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 

REVISED NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING 
 

TAKE NOTICE that the Council of the Township of Puslinch will hold a public meeting on 
Thursday the 10th of September 2015, at 6:00 pm in the Council Chambers at 7404 
Wellington Road 34, to consider a proposed Zoning By-law Amendment, pursuant to the 
requirements of Section 34 of the Planning Act, R.S.O., 1990, as amended. The file number 
assigned to this application is D14/FER. 

THE LAND SUBJECT to the application is municipally known as 0 McLean Rd West and 
legally known as Front Part Lot 26 to 27, Concession 7, Township of Puslinch. The subject 
lands are shown on the inset map. 

THE PURPOSE AND EFFECT of the application is to amend the Township of Puslinch Zoning 
By-law 19/85 from Agricultural Zone to Industrial Zone and Natural Environment Zone. 

ORAL OR WRITTEN SUBMISSIONS may be made by the public either in support or in 
opposition to the proposed Zoning By-law Amendment. Any person may attend the public 
meeting and make and oral submission or direct a written submission to the Township 
Clerk at the address below. All those present at the public meeting will be given the 
opportunity to make an oral submission, however; it is requested that those who wish to 
address Council notify the Township Clerk in advance of the public meeting. 

TAKE NOTICE that if a person or public body does not make an oral submission at a public 
meeting or make a written submission to the Township of Puslinch before the Zoning By-
law is passed, the person or public body is not entitled to appeal the decision of the Council 
of the Township of Puslinch to the Ontario Municipal Board. 

AND TAKE NOTICE that if a person or public body does not make an oral submission at a 
public meeting or make a written submission to the Township of Puslinch before the Zoning 
By-law is passed, the person or public body may not be added as a party to the hearing of 
an appeal before the Ontario Municipal Board unless, in the opinion of the Board, there are 
reasonable grounds to do so. 

REQUEST FOR NOTICE OF DECSION regarding the Zoning By-law amendment must be 
made in written format to the Township Clerk at the address shown below. 

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION regarding the proposed amendment is available for review 
between 8:30 a.m. and 4:00 p.m. at the Township of Puslinch Municipal Office. 

Dated at the Township of Puslinch on this 18th day of August 2015. 

Karen Landry Key Map 
CAO/Clerk 
Township of Puslinch  
7404 Wellington Road 34 
Guelph, Ontario  N1H 6H9 
Phone (519) 763-1226 
admin@puslinch.ca 
 



1 

REPORT PD-2015-021 

INFORMATION REPORT 

FROM: Kelly Patzer, Development Coordinator 

DATE:  September 2, 2015 

SUBJECT: Public Meeting - Rezoning Application, File D14/FER 
L. Ferraro Inc., Front Part lot 26 to 27, Concession 7 
McLean Road West, Township of Puslinch 

BACKGROUND: 

1. Purpose of Report

This report is to advise Council and the Public of an application for a Zoning By-law 
Amendment located on Mclean Road West. The proposed amendment seeks to rezone 
the subject property from Agricultural (A) Zone to Industrial (IND) Zone and Natural 
Environment (NE) Zone. A portion of the property that bounds Highway 401 is to remain 
in the Agricultural Zone as lands for the future Highway 401 expansion.  

2. Application

The zoning amendment application has been submitted to rezone a portion of the lands 
to permit the future development of the property for industrial purposes, with the intent 
to sever the property into 3 separate parcels.  



2 

The following documents were submitted in support of the proposed rezoning 
application: 

• Proposed Zoning Plan
• Functional Servicing Report (includes conceptual stormwater management

assessment, hydrogeological report and geotechnical investigation) prepared by
R.J. Burnside & Associates Limited

• Traffic Impact Study prepared by R.J. Burnside & Associates Limited
• Environmental Impact Statement prepared by R.J. Burnside & Associates Limited
• Aggregate Assessment  prepared by R.J. Burnside & Associates Limited
• Planning Impact Assessment prepared by Black, Shoemaker, Robinson &

Donaldson Limited

All reports and studies are available at the Township office for review. 

3. Location & Site Characteristics

The vacant 22.5 hectare (55.6 acre) triangular parcel fronts onto McLean Road West 
and is bound by the Kerr Industrial subdivision to the east and Highway 401 to the 
south. St. Mary’s Cement is located on the north side of McLean Road West across 
from the subject property.  

The property has been used for farming and contains an abandoned gravel pit and a 
woodlot in the east corner of the property. 

N 



3 

APPLICATION CHRONOLOGY: 

1. Township of Puslinch Zoning Application

The rezoning application was deemed complete February 10th, 2015 with the 
submission of all required supporting reports and studies and circulated for review to 
staff and commenting agencies. 

2. Notice:

March 6, 2015: Notice of a Complete Application was mailed to property owners within 
120 metres of the subject property and all required agencies. 

August 14, 2015: Notice of a Public Meeting was published in The Wellington Advertiser 
for a September 3rd, 2015 Public Meeting date. 

August 21, 2015: REVISED Notice of a Public Meeting was published in The Wellington 
Advertiser for a September 10th, 2015 revised Public Meeting date. 

September 10, 2015: Public Meeting to be held at Township of Puslinch. 

3. Staff, Agency & Public Circulation Comments:

The zoning application was circulated March 15th 2015 for review to Township staff, 
consultants and external agencies for comments. The County of Wellington Planning 
report detailing the proposed rezoning is attached as a separate document titled 
Attachment “A” – County of Wellington Planning Report. The comments provided to 
date by the consultants and agencies for the rezoning application are attached below as 
Attachment “B”- Agency Comments.  

The Township has not received any comments from the public in support of or against 
the rezoning application.  

APPLICABLE LEGISLATION & REQUIREMENTS: 

1. County of Wellington Official Plan

The Official Plan designates the subject lands as Secondary Agricultural and Core 
Greenlands and the property is within Special Policy Area PA7-1, the Puslinch 
Economic Development Area. This policy recognizes that this area of the Township is 
the predominant location for business and industry and encourages the development of 
new employment uses. 



4 

2. Township of Puslinch Zoning By-Law

The subject lands are designated Agricultural (A) Zone and are proposed to be rezoned 
to Industrial (I) Zone and Natural Environment (NE) Zone. No buildings are structures 
are permitted within the NE Zone. Permitted uses in the Industrial Zone include: 

• a body shop;
• a building or construction contractor's yard;
• a business office;
• a concrete plant;
• a factory outlet;
• a feed mill;
• a grain storing, weighing and drying operation;
• a fuel depot;
• a home occupation accessory to a permitted existing single dwelling;
• an industrial use;
• a public use, including a Municipal Airport and related activities;
• a retail lumber and building supply yard;
• a restaurant;
• a sawmill;
• a service trade;
• a transport terminal;
• a warehouse.

CONCLUSION: 

Once a resubmission has been submitted addressing all public concerns and agency 
comments relating to the submitted reports and studies, a final Recommendation Report 
will be brought forward to Council with the associated amending By-law to summarize 
and assess the merits of the application. 



PLANNING REPORT  
for the TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 

Prepared by the County of Wellington Planning and Development Department 

DATE: May 15, 2015 
TO: Kelly Patzer, Development Coordinator 

Township of Puslinch 
FROM: Sarah Wilhelm, Senior Planner 

County of Wellington 
SUBJECT: FIRST CIRCULATION D14/FER (L. Ferraro Inc.) 

Zoning By-law Amendment 
McLean Road (Part Lots 26 & 27), Puslinch 

SUMMARY 
This zoning by-law amendment application was deemed complete March 5, 2015. The purpose of this 
report is to provide our preliminary comments concerning the application materials submitted by the 
applicant’s agent (Nancy Shoemaker of Black, Shoemaker, Robinson & Donaldson Ltd.). Comments have 
been sought from applicable review agencies and there are outstanding technical comments and 
concerns that will need to be addressed prior to a decision on the application.  

RECOMMENDATION 
We would recommend that this application proceed to a statutory public meeting, which will allow the 
community to review the proposal and provide input to Council.   

INTRODUCTION 
The land subject to the proposed zoning by-law amendment (Application D14/FER) is bounded by 
Highway 401 and McLean Road to the south and southwest (see Figure 1). The property is legally 
described as the Front Part of Lots 26 and 27, Concession 7. This triangular shaped property has 613.5 m 
(2,013 ft) of frontage on McLean Road and is 22.5 ha (55.6 ac) in size.  

The majority of the property is farmland with a wooded area along the eastern limit. According to the 
Planning Impact Assessment, the site has been historically used for agricultural purposes and aggregate 
extraction. Surrounding land uses include industrial uses to the east and aggregate operations to the 
north and northwest. 

PROPOSAL 
The purpose of the proposed amendment is to rezone a 17.9 ha (44 ac) portion of the property from 
Agricultural (A) to Industrial (IND) and Natural Environment (NE). The portion of the property along 
Highway 401 identified as part of the future Highway expansion will remain zoned Agricultural (A). 
In support of the rezoning application, the proponent has filed various technical studies, including the 
following: 

• Aggregate Assessment
• Environmental Impact Assessment
• Functional Servicing Report
• Planning Impact Assessment
• Traffic Impact Study

Attachment “A” – County of Wellington Planning Report



PLANNING REPORT for the TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH  
First Circulation, D14/FER (L. Ferraro Inc.) 
May 15, 2015 Page 2 

If approved, the property would be developed for industrial purposes similar to those in the Kerr 
subdivision to the east. 

Figure 1 Property Location 

PROVINCIAL PLANNING POLICY 
The Provincial Growth Plan (Places to Grow) places an emphasis on intensification and optimizing the 
use of existing land supplies. Under Section 2.2.6 – Employment Lands – municipalities are to provide 
“an appropriate mix of employment uses including industrial, commercial and institutional uses…” The 
Growth Plan also encourages employment growth through the “development of vacant and/or 
underutilized lots within previously developed areas” or by “infill development”. 

The Provincial Policy Statement (2014) provides similar policy direction regarding the provision and 
promotion of employment lands at appropriate locations and under appropriate conditions. Such 
development is to consider the adequacy of site services, transportation systems, and protection of the 
natural environment, among other matters. 



PLANNING REPORT for the TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH  
First Circulation, D14/FER (L. Ferraro Inc.) 
May 15, 2015 Page 3 

COUNTY OFFICIAL PLAN 
According to Schedule A7 (Puslinch) of the Official Plan, the property is designated SECONDARY 
AGRICULTURAL and CORE GREENLANDS, subject to Special Policy Area PA7-1. There is a proposed major 
roadway identified in the Plan adjacent to the property’s Highway 401 frontage, which is related to the 
proposed highway expansion. A portion of the property is also within the Paris Galt Moraine Policy Area. 

Land identified as PA7-1 is known as the Puslinch Economic Development Area. The Official Plan 
recognizes that this area of the Township is the predominant location for business and industry and 
encourages the development of new employment uses. The general intention of the area is for 
employment uses to be considered when extractive or aggregate-related uses have ceased or are 
incorporated as an after-use. 

PUSLINCH DESIGN GUIDELINES 
The development of the subject property for industrial purposes would be subject to the Township’s Site 
Plan process and the Puslinch Design Guidelines are largely implemented through that process. At this 
time, however, we wish to provide comments regarding the Puslinch Design Guidelines that relate to 
the rezoning application. We would recommend inclusion of an outdoor storage prohibition in the 
amending by-law due to Highway 401 exposure. 

We would also refer the applicant to the following sections of the Design Guidelines which are of 
particular relevance to their proposal: commercial, industrial and institutional uses (B1.1, B1.2); vehicles, 
parking and service areas (B4.1, B4.2 and B4.3); signs (B5) and landscaping (C5). Detailed design review 
comments will be provided at the time of site plan review. 

PUBLIC AND AGENCY COMMENTS 
No comments have been received from neighbouring property owners at this time. We have received 
agency comments as follows: 

Figure 2 Agency Comments 

Name Agency Comment Summary 
Greg Scheifele 
April 1, 2015 

GWS Ecological & 
Forestry Services Inc. 

• More detailed inventories needed, followed by re-
evaluation of potential impacts on natural features

• Ecological enhancements should be considered
Stan Denhoed 
April 10, 2015 

Harden Environmental 
Services Ltd. 

• Water supply to be obtained from Goat Island or
Gasport Formation

• Three monitoring wells to be installed
Amanda Pepping 
April 14, 2015 

GM BluePlan 
Engineering 

• Additional information needed:
- Preliminary road design details
- Regional storm overflow path
- Preliminary/functional grading

Andrew Herreman 
April 22, 2015 

Grand River 
Conservation Authority 

• No objection

John Morrisey 
May 1, 2015 

Ministry of 
Transportation (MTO) 

• Do not anticipate any issues with rezoning
• Zoning may not precisely correspond with land

required by MTO (less land may be needed by MTO
than shown)



PLANNING REPORT for the TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH  
First Circulation, D14/FER (L. Ferraro Inc.) 
May 15, 2015 Page 4 

AGGREGATE RESOURCES  
The total extractable area of the property is estimated to be 10.5 ha (26 ac).  The presence of aggregate 
resources and potential for extraction is addressed in both the Aggregate Assessment and Planning 
Impact Assessment. Both reports advise that:  

• The most valuable and easily removed aggregate has been taken
• Neighbouring aggregate operators are not interested in the top layer of the resource on the site
• Better material may be available below the water table, but would leave the site in a relatively

unusable state

It is concluded that “the site is better left in its current condition to provide employment opportunities 
that will better serve the long term interests of the municipality than the limited resource material 
available at the site”. Some of the material on site could be used as part of the development of the 
property. 

MATTERS TO BE ADDRESSED BY THE APPLICANT 
While the applicant has provided supporting technical reports and a planning policy review, they will 
also need to provide sufficient information and details to address the technical comments and concerns 
raised by the Township, its peer review consultants and other review agencies. Other matters to address 
include, but are not limited to, re-evaluation of impacts on natural features and consideration of 
environmental enhancements; provision of adequate services; preliminary road design for left turn lane; 
preliminary/functional grading; boundary confirmation for land required by MTO; and any other 
concerns raised by Council, the Planning and Development Advisory Committee, and the public. 

NEXT STEPS 
The Township could now proceed to schedule a public meeting for this application. Materials associated 
with the application, including the technical reports should be available to the public at the Township’s 
office prior to the public meeting date. Following the public meeting Township Council may further 
consider the applicant’s response to any matters raised at the public meeting and the technical 
comments and concerns already raised by review agencies and the Township’s peer review consultants. 
Our planning recommendations will be provided following the public meeting and resolution of 
outstanding issues. 

Respectfully submitted 
County of Wellington Planning and Development Department 

_____________________________ 
Sarah Wilhelm, BES, MCIP, RPP 
Senior Planner  



PEOPLE | ENGINEERING | ENVIRONMENTS

GUELPH | OW EN SOUND | LISTOWEL | KITCHENER | EXETER | HAMILTON | GTA 

650 WOODLAWN RD. W., BLOCK C, UNIT 2, GUELPH ON N1K 1B8  P: 519-824-8150  F: 519-824-8089   WWW.GMBLUEPLAN.CA 

April 14, 2015 
Our File: 115006-5 

Township of Puslinch 
RR 3, 7404 Wellington Road 34 
Guelph, ON N1H 6H9 

Attention: Ms. Kelly Patzer 

Re: D14/FER – Lambda Properties Industrial 
Development, Part Lots 26 and 27 Concession 
Road 7/McLean Road, Township of Puslinch 

Dear Ms. Patzer: 

An application has been submitted for a Zoning By-law amendment from the Agricultural (A) Zone to the Industrial 
(IND) Zone and the Natural Environment (NE) Zone to permit development of the property for industrial purposes. 

The following documents and drawings were received and reviewed: 

 Aggregate Assessment, R.J. Burnside, Nov. 13, 2014
 Traffic Impact Study, R.J. Burnside, Nov. 13, 2014
 Functional Servicing Report, R.J. Burnside, Nov. 2014
 Environmental Impact Study, R.J. Burnside, Nov. 2014
 Planning Impact Assessment, Black, Shoemaker, Robinson & Donaldson, January 2015

Based on our review, we offer the following comments: 

TRAFFIC CONSIDERATIONS 

1. The traffic impact study states that a left turn lane is warranted for Access 2 and 3. The existing McLean Road
right-of-way is 20m. It is understood that final access locations and lot sizes are conceptual, however it is
requested that the applicant submit a preliminary road design incorporating the left turn storage lane in order to
ascertain whether road land acquisition to permit road widening will be required.

2. Consideration by the Township may be required to ensure that land acquisition and financial contributions to
permit the necessary road improvements are provided for. This may include use of a holding provision pending
satisfactory road improvements and access.

SANITARY SEWAGE SYSTEM DESIGN 

3. The hydrogeological report includes calculations for attenuation of nitrates from septic effluent. The calculations
revealed nitrate loadings between 4.94 mg/L and 9.97 mg/l. The site will be required to comply with the MOE
reasonable use criteria of 2.5 mg/L. All lots will require tertiary sewage treatment to reduce effluent nitrates. This
will be further assessed at the time of site plan approval.

Attachment “B” – Agency Comments



PAGE 2 OF 2 

OUR FILE: 115006 

 

GUELPH | OW EN SOUND | LISTOWEL | KITCHENER | EXETER | HAMILTON | GTA 

POTABLE WATER SUPPLY 
 
4. Potable water supply for the site will be provided through drilled well(s). Refer to review comments from Harden 

Environmental Services for further requirements. 
 
FIRE PROTECTION 
 
5. Fire protection requirements for each parcel will include an in-ground precast water storage reservoir and a 

suitable fire route satisfying the requirements of the Ontario Building Code. Fire protection details may be 
satisfied during site plan approval.  

 
PRELIMINARY STORMWATER MANAGEMENT DESIGN 
 
6. The existing site does not produce runoff due to existing site topography (depression area) and a very high 

infiltration rate. The conceptual stormwater management design incorporates infiltration basins to provide 
quantity control through to the 100 year storm event. Quality measures will be implemented on an individual lot 
basis. The soil infiltration rates at the site are supportive of infiltration based stormwater management approach. 

 
7. Safe conveyance of the Regional Storm Event is not discussed within the Functional Servicing Report.  

Additional details regarding the Regional Storm overflow path are required.  
 

SITE GRADING  
 

8. No preliminary/functional grading is provided within the Functional Servicing Report. Additional details regarding 
the proposed site grading and feasibility are required.  
 

ADDITIONAL REQUIREMENTS 
 
9. Lighting and Landscaping will be required at the time of site plan approval. 
 
SUMMARY  
 
In general it appears that the proposed land use can be adequately serviced at the site, however the following 
additional information is requested: 
 

- Preliminary road design details  
- Regional storm overflow path  
- Preliminary/functional grading 

 
 
If you have any questions or require additional information, please do not hesitate to contact us. 
 
Yours truly, 
 
GM BLUEPLAN ENGINEERING 
Per: 

 
Amanda Pepping, P.Eng. 
 



 
 
            File:3501 
            By: Email & Mail 
 
April 1, 2015 
 
Township of Puslinch  
7404 Wellington Rd. 34 
R.R # 3 
Guelph, Ontario 
N1H 6H9 
 
Attention: Mrs. Karen Landry 
                 Clerk/CAO 
 
Dear: Mrs. Landry 
 

Re: Natural Environment Review of Proposed McLean Road Industrial Development 
on Part of Lots 26 and 27 Concession 7, Township of Puslinch, D14/Fer 

 
 As requested, I reviewed the Environmental Impact Study (EIS) prepared by R.J Burnside 
& Associates Limited (Burnside) in support of proposed industrial development along McLean 
Road in Part of Lots 26 and 27, Concession 7, Township of Puslinch. I also reviewed the Planning 
Impact Assessment Report prepared by Black, Shoemaker, Robinson and Donaldson Limited 
(BSR&D) and the Functional Servicing Report prepared by Burnside. The proponent, Lambda 
Properties Limited, has filed an application to amend the Township’s Zoning By-Law 19/85 from 
Agricultural Zone (A) to Industrial Zone (IND) and Natural Environment Zone (NE). The developer 
would like to sever the property into 3 separate parcels to be occupied by rural industrial uses. 
Each new parcel would be serviced by individual well, septic system and stormwater 
management facilities. Approximately 4.7 hectares (11.6 acres) of the 22.5 hectare (55.6 acres)  
property has been identified by the MTO as land required for the future expansion of Highway 401 
and these highway lands would remain in their current Agricultural Zone, except for the woodland 
area in the southeast corner which would be rezoned to Natural Environment Zone. 
 
 The lands proposed for industrial development encompass 17.8 hectares (44 acres). The 
western portion of the site consists of agricultural cropland, while the eastern part consists of a 
small abandoned gravel pit, old fields that are undergoing secondary plant succession and a 
small woodlot. The site is currently vacant but was historically used for agricultural purposes and 
aggregate extraction. The existing agricultural land gently slopes to southwest while the eastern 
part of the area varies from level to strongly rolling and hummocky. Surrounding land uses include 
a large rural industrial subdivision to the east, Highway 401 to the south and active aggregate 
extraction (CBM) to the west and north. 
 
  

 
GWS Ecological & Forestry Services Inc.  Tel.: (519) 651-2224 Fax: (519) 651-2002 
4670 Townline Road, Cambridge, ON. N3C 2V1  Email: gwsefs@sympatico.ca 



Subsequent to my initial review of the available documentation, I inspected the site on March 31, 
2015 to become more familiar with the area and verify reported information on natural features. 
Based upon this information and my field observations, I offer the following comments on the EIS 
and proposed industrial development of this area. 
 

1. A discussion of vegetation communities found on the property is provided on pages 15 
to 18 and their spatial distribution is mapped in Figure 6.2. In general, I agree with the 
mapping of the identified communities but I have concerns about the species listed as 
characterizing these areas. For example in the mineral cultural thicket CUT1(A) the 
dominant woody species I observed were common buckthorn, tartarian honeysuckle, 
hawthorn, apple, white pine and white cedar, instead of white cedar, black cherry and 
Scots pine as reported. In CUT1(B) and the mixed forest FOM2-2 I suspect common 
buckthorn has been mis-identified as glossy buckthorn. Furthermore, in the mixed 
white pine/sugar maple forest (FOM2-2) Scots pine is clearly not a dominant species 
and I question the reported presence of eastern hemlock in this stand. Similarly in 
MAM2-2, which appeared recently disturbed by machinery, I observed mostly cattails 
and common reed grass (Phragmites) instead of reed-canary grass. The above noted 
discrepancies raise concerns about the quality of botanical work carried out on this 
site.  

 
The Terms of Reference for the EIS indicated that a plant inventory was to be carried 
out. No botanical information is, however, provided in the report other than the brief 
discussion associated with the description of vegetation communities. Given the 
presence of red cedar in the cultural thicket and the diversity of grass species I 
observed growing on the dry, stony, infertile soils found in this area I suspect that 
prairie/savannah species may inhabit this area. In any event, the lack of a detailed 
botanical inventory represents a significant omission in the evaluation of potential 
impacts to natural heritage features. 

 
2. The review of background data on pages 7 to 9 indicated the possible presence of 

eastern milksnake and eastern ribbonsnake in the study area. Both species are now 
provincially identified as being of special concern. Although no snakes were observed 
during Burnside’s fieldwork there is much discussion in the report about 5 rock piles 
potentially providing snake hibernaculum habitat and the need to re-locate some rock 
piles within the proposed forest buffer. Given the old fieldstone fencelines that now 
traverse the cultural thicket and extend along McLean Road, I fail to see the merit in 
re-locating 3 stone piles unless they are in fact utilized by snakes. To confirm the 
possible presence of snakes in the study area and the merit proposed habitat 
relocation work, I suggest that snake boards should be distributed this spring in the 
vicinity of stone piles and/or stone fencelines. 

 
3. On page 39 of the EIS a 30 m buffer is recommended adjacent to the dripline of the 

mixed forest in order to protect tree roots and provide opportunities for habitat 
enhancements. Aside from the re-location of rock piles no other habitat enhancements 
are suggested. Consideration should also be given to other enhancements such as 
tree planting and the implementation of invasive species control measures. In addition, 
the buffer width actually being proposed needs to be confirmed because the BSR&D 
report (see page 16) indicates that a 5 m buffer is to be applied to the woodland edge, 
instead of a 30 m buffer. 

 

2 
 



4. A shallow marsh (MA5) is located off-site but immediately adjacent to the mixed forest. 
This marsh likely provides breeding habitat for frogs and possibly salamanders. Since 
the forest is going to be entirely retained and protected by a buffer I agree with 
Burnside’s conclusion that amphibian habitat will not be affected by the proposed 
development. 

 
 
5. On page 39 Burnside recommends that land clearing should not be carried out during 

the breeding bird season which extends from May 1st to July 31st unless a bird 
specialist confirms that no migratory birds are actively nesting in the area. Given the 
common to uncommon bird species observed breeding on the property I suggest the 
critical nesting season can be reduced to May 25th to July 31st. 

 
To summarize, I feel potential impacts to natural features should be re-evaluated after 

more detailed inventories for vascular plants and snakes have been completed. In addition, more 
thought should be given to desirable ecological enhancements that could be implemented in the 
retained woodland area. Please do not hesitate to contact me if you require further clarification on 
these matters. 
 
Yours truly, 
 
GWS Ecological & Forestry Services Inc. 
 

 
 
Greg W. Scheifele, M. A., R.P.F. 
Principal Ecologist/Forester 
 
CC: Aldo Salis, County of Wellington 
       Nathan Garland, Grand River Conservation Authority 

3 
 



 
Our File:  1506   
 
April 10, 2015 Puslinch File:  D14 FER 
 

Township of Puslinch 

7404 Wellington Road 34  

Guelph, ON, N1H 6H9 

 

Attention: Mrs. Karen Landry 

  CEO  

 

Dear Mrs. Landry; 

 

We have received the submission for the Puslinch Industrial 

Development (Lambda Properties) located at Part Lot 26 and 27 

Concession 7.   We have reviewed the following documents; 

 

 Functional Servicing Report (Burnside, November 2014) 

 Hydrogeological Evaluation (Burnside, October 2014) 

 Aggregate Assessment (Burnside, November 2014). 

 

 

Water Supply 

 

Although there may be an overburden aquifer available beneath this site 

we recommend that the water supply be obtained from the Goat Island or 

Gasport Formation.  The Goat Island and Gasport formations are 

confined aquifers well protected from potential surface contamination.  

Any bedrock well extending into the underlying Goat Island Formation 

or Gasport Formation at this site will be required to have a steel casing 

to the top of the Goat Island formation with annulus sealed with 

bentonite. 

 

 

Nitrate Analysis 

 

The nitrate analysis assesses the impact of a three lot scenario.   The 

calculations have been done correctly.  There are nearby users of the 

overburden aquifer, therefore groundwater flow directions in the 

unconfined overburden aquifer must be determined in order to properly 

site wells and septic systems in order to prevent contamination of the on-

site and off-site water supply wells.  We recommend that three 

Harden Environmental Services Ltd. 
4622 Nassagaweya-Puslinch Townline Road 
R.R. 1, Moffat, Ontario, L0P 1J0 
Phone: (519) 826-0099 Fax:  (519) 826-9099 
 

Groundwater Studies 
 
Geochemistry 
 
Phase I / II 
 
Regional Flow Studies 
 
Contaminant Investigations 
 
OMB Hearings 
 
Water Quality Sampling 
 
Monitoring 
 
Groundwater Protection 
Studies 
 
Groundwater Modeling 
 
Groundwater Mapping 
 
Permits to Take Water 
 
Environmental Compliance 
Approvals 
 

ARDEN 



Township of Puslinch 

April 10, 2015 

Page 2 

monitoring wells be installed in order to assess groundwater flow directions and that 

water-supply-well-siting consider existing sources of contamination (septic systems, 

SWM ponds etc..) off-site as well as on-site. 

 

Storm Water Management 

 

We concur that the significant thickness of sand and gravel beneath the site are suitable 

for infiltration basins. 

 

Aggregate Assessment 

 

Based on nearby water well records, the site is underlain by some 25 to 30 metres of sand 

and gravel.  The presence of numerous aggregate operations in this same geological 

formation refutes the statement by Burnside that the aggregate resource is not ‘suitable’.    

The setbacks from neighbouring properties and the municipal road may make the 

aggregate deposit less economical, however, the fact remains that there are high quality 

aggregate resources beneath this site. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

Harden Environmental Services Ltd. 

 
Stan Denhoed, P.Eng., M.Sc. 

President 

 

Cc: Greg Scheifele – GWS Ecological and Forestry 

 Sarah Wilhelm – County of Wellington 

 Andrew Herreman – GRCA 

 Amanda Pepping – GM Blue Plan 







Ministry of Transportation  Ministère des Transports 
 
Engineering Office   Bureau du génie 
Corridor Management Section  Section de gestion des couloirs routiers 
West Region   Région de l’Ouest 
 
659 Exeter Road   659, chemin Exeter 
London, Ontario N6E 1L3  London (Ontario) N6E 1L3 
Telephone:  (519) 873-4597  Téléphone:    (519) 873-4597 
Facsimile:    (519) 873-4228  Télécopieur:  (519) 873-4228 

  
May 1, 2015 
 
Township of Puslinch 
7404 Wellington 
R.R. 3  
Guelph, Ontario 
N1H 6H9 
 
RE: Applicant: L. Ferraro Inc. 
 Submission No.: D 14/FER 
 Lot 26 & 27, Concession 7 
 Regional Municipality of Waterloo 
 Township of Puslinch - Highway 401 
 
 
The Ministry of Transportation (MTO) has completed its review of the above-noted amendment. 
The amendment has been considered in accordance with the requirements of our highway 
access control policies and the Public Transportation and Highway Improvement Act. The 
following outlines our comments. 
 
MTO do not anticipate any issues associated with the rezoning of the subject parcels provided 
the applicant is made aware of the following items. 
 
The Ministry of Transportation received approval in January 2009 for an Individual 
Environmental Assessment for a new Highway 6 corridor between Freelton and Guelph.   
Following that, MTO received EA clearance in December 2013 for improvements to Highway 
401 under GWP 8-00-00.  The preferred plan includes the following:   
  

 A new 5 km, 4-lane alignment, west of Morriston, that connects Highway 401 in the 
north with existing Highway 6 just south of Maddaugh Road; 

 Widening of Highway 401 to 10 lanes HOV with continuous auxiliary lanes between 
Highway 6 North and Highway 6 South; 

 Construction of 3 new interchanges and improvements to the Highway 401 and 
Highway 6 (Hanlon Expressway) interchange; 

 Three new overpass structures and eight underpass structures; 
 Construction of a local connection road; 
 Improvements to municipal roads in Wellington County. 

  
The proposed highway expansion adjacent to the subject property will increase the current 6 
lanes to 12 lanes, and will require property to accommodate the improvements which are 
generally shown on BSR&D ‘Concept Plan’ dated January 26, 2015.  The project is listed in the 
Southern Highways Program 2014 to 2018 under “Planning for the Future.”, however; timing of 
construction has not been determined at this time.  The new route has been designated and 
property is being acquired in hardship cases, or on a willing seller-willing buyer basis. 
 
 
 

…2 
 



-2- 
 
As indicated in BSR&D Planning Impact Assessment (January 2015) the lands required for the 
highway expansion will remain in the current Agricultural (A) zone, and are in part currently 
comprised of active agricultural lands.  The lands shall be valued as at today’s current zoning 
and prior to the surrounding proposed zoning and immanent severance(s).  Should the owner 
wish to enter into negotiations with MTO for the property requirement now, they may contact 
me and express their desire to move ahead with the advanced purchase. 
 

Note: The lands identified on BSR&D Concept Plan may be larger than what is actually 
required by MTO.  If this is not addressed as part of the rezoning, there may be a sliver 
of lands which the proposed Industrial Zoning would not apply at the time of severance.    

 
The Traffic Impact Study prepared by BSR&D (November 2014) assessed the traffic impacts at 
the access locations only, and not on the local road network intersections.  That being said 
however, MTO will not require a Traffic Impact Study for the proposed industrial 
development(s). 
 
Proposed Consents / Lot Creation 
 
The Puslinch Industrial Development EIS prepared by BSR&D (November 2014 - page 35) 
indicates the three industrial lots are conceptual at this stage and may be subject to change 
during detail design.  In anticipation of the proposed land severances, MTO will be requesting 
the following items to be completed to our satisfaction: 
 

 As a Condition of Consent, the owner prepares a reference plan identifying the highway 
property widening.  A draft reference plan must be submitted to the MTO for review and 
approval prior to being deposited.  It is recommended that the surveyor contact MTO 
prior to commencing their work (see Note above – this may want to be addressed now); 
and 

 
 As a Condition of Consent, the owner shall make arrangements for the erection of a 

security fence along the boundary of the highway property widening.  The security 
fence shall be a minimum of 1.8m in height and be offset a minimum 0.3m away from 
the proposed highway property widening. 

 
Site Plan Control   
 
Through the Site Plan Control / Approval process the applicant(s) should be made aware of 
MTO’s requirements not limited to the following: 
 

 As a condition of MTO permits, applicants shall submit site plans, site-servicing plans, 
grading plans, and drainage plans for the proposed development(s) to MTO for review 
and approval.   

o All new buildings and structures integral to the development (including 
stormwater management facilities, parking areas, internal roads, loading areas, 
and septic beds) must be set back a minimum of 14m from the proposed 
highway property widening. 

 
 As a condition of MTO permits, the owner shall submit a stormwater management 

report along with grading/drainage plans for the proposed development for review and 
approval as a condition of our permit approvals. The owner's consultant should refer to 
the website at www.mto.gov.on.ca/english/engineering/drainage/index.html for MTO’s  
drainage requirements to assist in preparing their report; and    

 
 

…3 
 



 
-3- 

 
 All signs visible from Highway 401 and within 400m of the existing Highway 401 

highway limit shall be under a MTO permit.   
 

We would appreciate receiving a copy of your council’s decision on this application for our 
records. 
 
Should you have any questions, please contact me. 

 
John Morrisey 
Corridor Management Planner 
Corridor Management Section  
West Region, London 
 
c. Tracy Pastor, Corridor Management Officer – Corridor Management Section 
   



 
THE CORPORATION OF THE TOWNSHIP OF PUSLINCH 

 
  

NOTICE OF PUBLIC MEETING 
 

Proposed 2016 User Fees and Charges By-law 
Proposed Grant Application Policy and Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy 

 
You are invited to attend a Public Information Meeting on September 17, 2015, as the Township 
of Puslinch is seeking your input and comments on a proposed by-law for 2016 User Fees and 
Charges and a proposed Grant Application Policy and Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy. 
 
Your attendance and comments at this meeting are welcome as it is your opportunity to learn 
more about the proposed by-law and policies and express any opinions that you may have.  
 
 
Date:   Thursday, September 17, 2015  
Time:  7:00 p.m.  
Place:  Puslinch Community Centre, 23 Brock Road South  
 
Additional Information: 
 
For further information or to obtain a copy of the proposed 2016 User Fees and Charges By-law, 
Grant Application Policy, and Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy, please visit the Township’s website 
at www.puslinch.ca or contact the Township at (519)-763-1226 ext. 222.  
 
 













































































































































Government of Ontario Site Map Français 

About the Registry Search How do I ...? MyEBR FAQs Links Contact Us Home

Information Notice: EBR Registry Number: 012-4694 
Title:
Approval of the source protection plans and the assessment reports for the Halton Region and Hamilton Region Source Protection Areas within the Halton 
Hamilton Source Protection Region 

Ministry:
Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change 
Date Information Notice loaded to the Registry:
August 14, 2015 

Keyword(s): Aquifers  | Drinking Water  | Ground Water  | Water  | Wells
This notice is for your information. The Environmental Bill of Rights does not require this notice to be placed on the Environmental Registry, however, section 6 of the Act does allow the Environmental Registry to be used to share information about 

the environment with the public.

Rationale for Exemption to Public Comment:

The purpose of this information notice is to advise the public that the source protection plans for the areas within the Halton-Hamilton source protection region 
have been approved by the Minister of the Environment and Climate Change, in accordance with section 29 of the Clean Water Act, 2006.

In addition, the updated assessment reports prepared for the areas within the Halton-Hamilton source protection region, in accordance with the Clean Water Act, 
2006 have been approved by the Director.

The source protection plans and assessment reports have been consulted on extensively with the public and other stakeholders by the local Halton-Hamilton 
source protection committee. Please see the “Other Public Consultation Opportunities” section of this notice below for details.

This information notice for the approval of the source protection plans is required under section 30 of the Clean Water Act, 2006 and for the approval of the 
updated assessment reports under section 18 of the Clean Water Act, 2006 and is for your information only. 

Description:

The purpose of the Clean Water Act, 2006 is to protect existing and future sources of drinking water to help protect human health and the environment, and to 
ensure safe, clean drinking water for all Ontarians.

The Act ensures communities are able to protect their drinking water sources through prevention - by developing collaborative, locally driven, watershed based 
drinking water source protection plans founded on science. Source protection planning is a vital part of Ontario’s drinking water safety net, a framework designed 
to protect drinking water from the source to the tap. Source protection plans have been prepared by the 19 source protection committees in the province. 

The source protection plans for the areas within the Halton-Hamilton source protection region, including the assessment reports, were developed by the local 
multi-stakeholder Halton-Hamilton source protection committee. The plans set out policies to address the significant risks to sources of drinking water within 
specific protection zones (vulnerable areas) surrounding the 10 drinking water systems in the region. Additionally, the plan sets out policies to address certain 
moderate and low risks within protection zones surrounding the drinking water systems across the Halton-Hamilton source protection region.

The source protection plans, including the assessment reports, for the areas within the Halton-Hamilton source protection region address the legislative and 
regulatory requirements set out in the Clean Water Act and Ontario Regulation 287/07 (General) and have been approved. The effective date of these source 
protection plans is December 31, 2015.

The province is committed to source water protection and ensuring that plans protect local sources of drinking water, are developed by the local community and 
reflect local situations. Implementation of the source protection plans will involve many partners, including the local municipalities, provincial ministries and federal 
governments (in some cases), source protection authorities, businesses and local citizens. Monitoring policies and progress reporting will provide information on 
the approved plans to protect sources of drinking water.

Other Information:

The Minister has concluded that the legislative requirements under the Clean Water Act have been met and that comments that the source protection committee 
received during consultation on the plans have been adequately considered and addressed.

Other Public Consultation Opportunities:

During preparation of the source protection plans for the areas within the Halton-Hamilton source protection region, the source protection committee carried out 
public consultation. At the start of the process in June 2011, a notice was published and sent out to the municipalities, government and other stakeholders. In 
August-October 2011, invitations to comment on draft policies were provided to the implementing bodies responsible for the policies, including government, 
municipalities and other stakeholders, prior to consulting broadly with the public through two consultation periods held in February-April 2012 and June-July 2012.

The first consultation period on these draft source protection plans included posting to the internet, public meetings and more than the minimum 35-day 
consultation period required by the legislation. The source protection committee is required to consider any comments submitted during the first public 
consultation period and to incorporate these comments, as necessary, into revised documents called the proposed source protection plans. The proposed plans 
were then posted for the second public consultation period of 30 days. The Act requires the submission of the proposed source protection plans to the Minister, 
along with any stakeholder comments received during the second consultation. The source protection authority must include a summary of any unresolved 
comments made by municipalities and First Nations on the draft source protection plans and may include any other comments it wishes to make. The plans were 
submitted to the ministry in August 2012 for approval.

The Halton-Hamilton source protection committee has completed the legislative requirements for public consultation for their source protection plans. Comments 
received on the draft plans were taken into consideration by the source protection committee and revisions were made to the proposed plans, where necessary. 
Comments received on the proposed plans were submitted to the Minister and taken into consideration as part of the review process. The ministry’s review of the 
plans and comments received identified several revisions to the plans that would improve their clarity and implementability and ensure that the plans met the 
requirements of the Act. The committee made changes in response to these comments and submitted the revised plans to the ministry in April 2015. The 
changes that were made continue to be available to the public through a request to the Halton Region source protection authority.

The assessment reports were updated during 2014 to include information from the water quantity stress assessment for the Kelso and Campbellville well fields, 
updated maps including a small portion of the wellhead protection area from the Cedarvale drinking water system in the neighbouring Credit Valley source 
protection area which extends into the Halton Region source protection area, and minor updates to the mapping and enumeration of risks to Lake Ontario 
drinking water sources. Because this new information required the source protection committee to include new policies for risks to water quantity, and because 
other existing policies applied to new protection zones, additional consultation was warranted for the updates to the assessment reports and plans. Therefore, the 
Halton-Hamilton source protection committee conducted two additional consultation period on the revisions to the proposed plans and updated assessment 
reports in March-April 2014, and December 2014-January 2015. Comments received during this public consultation period were considered as part of the review 
process.

The policies in the plans adequately address the risks identified in the assessment reports.

The approved source protection plans, including the assessment reports, can be viewed at the link provided in this notice and on the Halton-Hamilton source 
protection region website.

The future review cycle for the source protection plans for the areas within the Halton-Hamilton source protection region is to begin after the lead source 
protection authority (Halton Region source protection authority) prepares and submits a workplan that recommends the scope and scale of the review of the 
plans, along with supporting rationale. The workplan will be developed in consultation with the Halton-Hamilton source protection committee, the Hamilton Region 
source protection authority, participating municipalities, and the Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change, and will take into consideration information from 
the first annual progress reports on plan implementation. The workplan will be submitted to the ministry no later than November 30, 2018.

Contact:

Heather Malcolmson
Manager
Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change
Drinking Water Management Division
Source Protection Programs Branch
40 St. Clair Avenue West 
Floor 14
Toronto Ontario
M4V 1M2 
Phone: (416) 314-0560 

Additional Information:

The following government offices have additional 
information regarding this Notice. To arrange a viewing 
of these documents please call the Ministry Contact or 
the Office listed below.

Source Protection Programs Branch
40 St. Clair Avenue West 
Floor 14
Toronto Ontario
M4V 1M2 
Phone: (416) 212-5296 

The documents linked below are provided for the 
purposes of enhancing public consultation.
All links will open in a new window

1. Source Protection Plans for each Source 

Add Notice into My Watch List

The materials on this web site are protected by Crown copyright. You may copy and re-distribute any of the Environmental Bill of Rights information on this web site provided that the contents remain unchanged and the source of 
the contents is clearly referenced. You are not permitted to alter or add to the contents. 

ONTARIO HOME | CONTACTS | HELP | SITEMAP | FRANÇAIS

This site is maintained by the Government of Ontario, Canada. 

PRIVACY | IMPORTANT NOTICES

Copyright information: © Queen's Printer for Ontario, 1994-2015



News Release 

Province Protecting Sources of Drinking Water in the GTHA
Ontario Approves Two More Source Protection Plans

August 14, 2015 1:30 P.M. Ministry of the Environment and Climate Change

Ontario has approved two plans to protect sources of drinking water in the Greater Toronto and Hamilton Area.

The CTC Source Protection Plan, and the Halton-Hamilton Source Protection Plan were developed by local municipal 
and community partners to protect the quality and quantity of water sources that supply municipal drinking water systems 
around Credit Valley, Toronto and Region and Central Lake Ontario, and Halton-Hamilton. The plans set out actions to 
eliminate, manage or reduce potential risks to these drinking water sources. 

Many municipalities in the Greater Toronto and Hamilton Area will now be responsible for:

• Creating management plans to reduce the risks associated with manure, biosolids, livestock grazing, and 
commercial fertilizers

• Providing information to the community on best practices for maintaining septic systems as well as handling, 
storing and applying commercial fertilizers, pesticides, and road salt

• Developing or updating water conservation plans to support future growth and development

• Improving partnerships to protect the Great Lakes. 

The CTC Source Protection Plan, and the Halton-Hamilton Source Protection Plan will take effect Dec. 31, 2015.

Ontario has now approved 18 of 22 source protection plans from areas across the province, and expects to approve the 
remaining plans by the end of the year. Together those plans will cover areas where 95 per cent of province's population 
live.  

Protecting the province's clean drinking water and the environment are part of the government's plan to build Ontario up. 
The four-part plan includes investing in people's talents and skills, making the largest investment in public infrastructure in 
Ontario's history, creating a dynamic, innovative environment where business thrives, and building a secure retirement 
savings plan.

Quick Facts

• The Clean Water Act established 19 local committees across Ontario. Each committee developed science-based 
plans that address risks to the water that supply municipal drinking water systems.

• The Credit Valley, Toronto and Region, and Central Lake Ontario (CTC) make up one source protection region. 
The region has 27 municipal drinking water systems that serve approximately 95 per cent of the area’s 6.7 
million residents.

• The Halton-Hamilton source protection region has 10 municipal residential drinking water systems - six draw 
from an aquifer, and four draw from Lake Ontario. Over 90 per cent of the area’s 900,000 residents are served 
by these systems.



“I am very pleased with the approval of the source protection plan for the Halton-Hamilton Source Protection Region. A 
special thanks to the hard work of the committee members and the guidance from our dedicated staff in developing a 
science-based plan that will protect our municipal drinking water supplies now and in the future. Also, thanks to our 
partners at the ministry, municipalities and our community stakeholders. We look forward to working with our partners to 
implement the plan.”

Robert Edmondson 
Chair, Halton-Hamilton source protection committee 

“The day our plan was approved was a proud one for our committee. We have worked collaboratively to develop policies to 
protect drinking water sources for the seven million people who depend on municipal water. Our drinking water sources 
are diverse — from Lake Ontario to rural wells, with quality and quantity challenges.”

Susan Self 
Chair, Credit Valley, Toronto and Region and Central Lake Ontario (CTC) source protection committee 

“Few things are as important to our health as having safe water to drink. Ontario’s approach 
to protect drinking water has made our tap water among the best protected in the world. 
Protecting the sources of drinking water - our lakes, rivers and groundwater - is the 
foundation of our safety net.”

Glen R. Murray
Minister of the Environment and Climate Change 

Lucas Malinowski
Minister's Office
lucas.malinowski@ontario.ca
(416) 212-7307

Kate Jordan
Communications Branch
kate.jordan@ontario.ca
(416) 314-6666

• Earlier this year, Ontario introduced the proposed Great Lakes Protection Act, building on existing Great 
Lakes partnerships for joint action to fight climate change, reduce harmful algal blooms, protect wetlands and 
tackle other complex problems in the Great Lakes basin.

Additional Resources

• Find out more about other source protection areas.

Quotes

Media Contacts









































Imagining a prosperous future for  

our communities

August 17, 2015

MEMBERSHIP ENGAGEMENT SUMMARY



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 2

Introduction

Most municipal governments have forward-looking strategic plans. But what is the strategic 
plan for our community of communities? In April, the Association of Municipalities of Ontario 
launched a discussion with its membership to begin charting a common path towards achieving 
long-term fiscal sustainability. Our sincere thanks to the hundreds of leaders from across the 
province who participated in this phase of What’s Next Ontario.

We launched the discussion knowing that the intergovernmental relationship needs to 
continuously improve, evolve, and be renewed. We’ve done this before, with results. With the 
upload nearing completion in 2018, we ask the fundamental question, what’s next Ontario?

The Dialogue 

AMO posed questions in all four corners of the province. In meetings, online, in documents, 
and long discussions, over several months, we heard from you.

These discussions were based on what our shared financial future looks like. Here is the essence 
of the problem we share:

Assuming all other revenues remain stable, and services remain unchanged, we project property 
taxes will need to increase by 4.51% per year for the next ten years just to meet current 
service levels and standards. In addition, municipalities are facing an estimated $60 billion 
infrastructure investment gap. If property tax revenues alone were to close this gap, it will 
require an additional increase of 3.84% each year, for a combined 8.35% increase in property 
taxes annually to 2025. Are property tax increases of this magnitude the best way to finance 
the anticipated future needs of our communities?



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 3

Revenue Needed to Fund Operating Expenses & Infrastructure Gap

 

Year 2015-2025

$60

$50

$70

$40

$30

$20

$10

$0

2010

(billions)
’15 ’16 ’17 ’18 ’19 ’20 ’21 ’22 ’23 ’24 ’25

Estimated annual 8.35% property tax 
increase to fund operating expenses and 
close the infrastructure gap over ten years

8.35%
Property tax increases

(estimated)

infrastructure gap 

Operating expenses (forecast)

Total revenue (current trend)

Source: AMO 

 
What might such an increase mean to the average property taxpayer? The chart below illustrates 
what an estimated 8.35% annual increase might mean for a typical household. Would property 
taxpayers in your community accept these property tax increases? Is there the capacity to pay 
these amounts? Does capacity look different from one municipality or region to the next? Debt 
capacity and the capacity to pay are important matters. Despite the uploads, Ontarians still pay 
the highest property taxes in the country. At the same time, Ontarians also pay for services that 
are paid for by provinces in other parts of the country.

 

Estimated Property Tax Increase for Typical Homeowner  
(including infrastructure deficit spending)

 2015 2020 2025

$3,000 $3,000

$3,740

$0

$1,000

$2,000

$3,000

$4,000

$5,000

$6,000

$7,000

$8,000

$4,480 $4,663

$6,690

Estimated Property 
Tax Increase including 
infrastructure de�cit 
spending

Estimated Property 
Tax Increase

8.35% Property Tax 
Increase – estimated

Property tax increases
8.35%

Property tax increases
(estimated)

Source: AMO

 



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 4

The revenue raising capacity of property tax is extremely limited for many communities. For half 
of Ontario municipalities, a 1% property tax increase generates less than $50,000. In addition, 
a million-dollar bridge is a million-dollar bridge, no matter where it is located in the province. 
Many smaller municipalities have many such bridges. 

While it is generally considered to be a stable source of revenue, it is less responsive to 
economic growth when compared to sales tax. It can also be a volatile tax for an individual 
property, given its reliance on market values. If a property’s assessed value increases at a rate 
that is greater than the average for the whole municipality, property taxes for that property will 
increase without a total municipal levy increase (and vice versa). 

It is also considered to be a regressive form of taxation. How much you pay is not necessarily 
determined by how much you earn or your ability to pay. It is determined by the value of your 
property. As one example, a retiree on a fixed income who has lived in a home for decades that 
has increased in value will direct more of their income toward property taxes each year, even 
though their income has not increased. As residential values increase, and more residents move 
into the lower senior income category, more pressure will be placed on property tax setting, as 
well as the provincial senior’s property tax credit. 

Of every household tax dollar paid by Ontarians, municipalities collect just 9 cents. 
Most of these dollars are collected through property tax and to a lesser extent, user fees.

Where does your tax dollar go?



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 5

The Questions

To move forward with common priorities and possible tools and solutions, 
AMO asked a series of key questions for the municipal sector to consider:

1.  What fiscal challenges is your municipality facing now and how will they change in 
the future?

 • Which areas present the greatest municipal fiscal challenges or opportunities?

 •  Rank the top five fiscal challenges facing your municipality in the next five years and the 
next ten years.

2. What changes can you make to tackle those challenges?

 •  How can municipal governments on their own modernize and improve what they do to 
increase fiscal sustainability?

 •  Is there anything standing in the way of doing this?

3.  What changes can the Province or the federal government make to empower your 
municipality to tackle those challenges?

 •  What ideas would you like to see the provincial government take on that would help 
municipal governments move towards fiscal sustainability?

 •  Are there any specific provincial policies that could be strengthened or removed to improve 
our sector’s fiscal sustainability?

 •  Do municipalities need more authority to tackle fiscal challenges? If so, what type of 
authority do we need?

 •  Do municipal governments need more taxation tools? If so, what taxation tool(s) would 
work effectively in your municipality and how?

 •  Alternatively, would you prefer current types of transfers from other levels of government 
knowing that more assistance means less independence for the municipal sector?

4.  What possible solution(s) do you think should be the focus of a coordinated 
municipal effort to meet this challenge?

5. Did we miss anything?

 • Please let us know if there are any key municipal fiscal issues.



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 6

AMO President Gary McNamara and staff toured the province to ask these questions. 
Here is where we went:

Meeting/Location Date Attendees 

NOMA – Thunder Bay Apr-23 190

OSUM – Belleville May-01 120

FONOM – Sudbury May-08 200

AMCTO – Thunder Bay Jun-08 30

ROMA – Toronto Jun-11 8

WOWC – Blyth Jun-12 26

Webinar Jun-17 8

MFOA – Toronto Jun-19 13

Webinar Jun-24 9

CAOs – Caledon Jun-26 30

EOWC – Pembroke Jun-26 30

Guelph Jul-15 35

Online Forum 3

Email Submissions 37

TOTAL – Estimated 739

 

A total of 739 municipal elected officials 
and staff participated directly in the What’s 
Next Ontario consultations.

40 written submissions 
were received (includes emails 
and online forum).

17 
webinar 
participants

10 
Face to face 
meetings held 

10 municipal 
associations 
consulted



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 7

In the words of AMO members

The following are quotes from the written submissions AMO 
received from elected officials and senior staff. 

“It is anticipated, however, that without additional economic and assessment growth, 
sustainable funding for infrastructure and the upload of social housing, current fiscal challenges 
will continue to hamper financial sustainability and exacerbate property tax affordability issues 
for residents and businesses.” 
- From a GTA regional municipality

“The AMO-Provincial MOU allows for consultations before action, but a higher recognition of 
municipalities as equal partners is required to provide municipalities greater taxation authority.” 
- From a southwestern rural municipality

“Sustainable and dependable funding should be provided for such services through greater 
sharing of higher-level government tax revenues. The Federal and Provincial gas tax systems 
both provide examples of a favoured revenue model whereby higher level orders of government 
dedicate a portion of their ongoing tax revenues to municipal programs.” 
- From a GTA regional municipality

“We continuously look for ways to become more efficient. We’ve changed the overall way 
we provide services in many areas working with our community partners rather than try to 
be all things to all residents. When it comes to discretionary services such as recreational 
programming, we have found it is best to work with community partners for the delivery of 
these services. We are currently undergoing a service delivery review to identify cost-saving 
opportunities, we are exploring shared service arrangements with neighbouring municipalities, 
school boards, hospital and DSSAB. We are continuously replacing older equipment with more 
energy efficient alternatives; we’ve recently converted our streetlights to LED, upgraded our 
boilers at the recreation facility, upgraded the blowers at the sewage treatment plant and 
lighting throughout municipal buildings. Where municipalities need assistance from the Province 
is with the high cost of services that ultimately we have no control over, for example social 
services, land ambulance and policing.” 
- From a northern municipality

“A change in demographics is putting at risk the ability to rely on property taxes. This includes 
an aging population with more fixed-income seniors and a lack of growth (new assessment).” 
- From a southwestern rural municipality

“Empowering municipalities and making transformational change starts and ends with long 
term sustainable funding and alternative revenue tools, and the accompanying authority.” 
- From a GTA municipality



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 8

“Any new tax should be piggy backed on provincial or federal collection capabilities so as 
not to add cost to the overall government sector and should be weighed heavily against the 
economic impacts. They should also be used for specific purposes or investments rather than 
just offset the provision of the public good. Clear principles should be established before 
allowing additional taxes or revenue streams.” 
- From a southwestern city

“The increasing trend for residents to “age in place” will require the City to continually 
evaluate the services it provides. More specialized programs for the senior population and new 
or modified infrastructure beyond services currently being provided will be required”  
- From a GTA municipality

“Reductions in OMPF funding are creating tremendous sustainability challenges. In 2008, our 
OMPF funding was equal to 51.2% of our levy, whereas in 2015 it was down to 20.5%.”  
- From a southwestern rural municipality

“What are the top five fiscal challenges facing our municipality faces in the next ten years?  
1. Impact of aging population  
2. Changing nature of employment  
3. Affordable housing  
4. Traffic congestion  
5. Impacts of provincial legislation.”
- From a GTA regional municipality

“Changes in the OMPF formula denote a complete departure of a provincial policy supporting 
agricultural areas in Ontario. The economic competitiveness of rural municipalities is 
disadvantaged by provincial property tax policy in terms of the ability to have comparable tax 
rates to our urban neighbours. Rural municipalities are burdened with funding the cost of the 
Farm Tax Rebate programme, for which the objective of the programme is to provide low cost 
food and agricultural products to citizens across all of Ontario.”  
- From an eastern municipality

“Bill 73 is welcome legislation which will take future transit service levels into account, but 
more can be done in the legislation to capture all development costs.”  
- From a GTA municipality

“Far too many reports are required across many provincial Ministries, and the few grants that 
come out takes too much administrative or consultants time to complete. We have not been 
successful in the past year or so in getting any applications approved, so we simply waste 
time and money completing paper work. I suggest a serious look at all provincial processes 
and eliminate as many reports and unnecessary work spent by municipal staff trying to satisfy 
Provincial requirements. Perhaps a tool like Lean 6 Sigma would help identify low-value work 
that could be eliminated saving both provincial and municipal time and money.”  
- From an eastern municipality



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 9

“Something has to be done to bring down the costs of the OPP across Ontario, as this is simply 
not sustainable with this very costly and inefficient organization downloading their cost and 
inefficiencies to the municipalities.” 
- From an Eastern Ontario municipality

“What changes can the Province or the federal government make to empower your municipality 
to tackle those challenges? Full recognition of equal government status and allow municipalities 
to share in the same tax tools – sales tax, income tax and other such revenue sources.”  
- From a southwestern municipality

“A municipality’s success is ultimately measured by the taxpayer and the value they feel they 
are receiving for their tax dollar. Yet residents are unaware of the level of responsibility that is 
delegated by the Province.” 
- From a northern municipality  

“Emergency service costs – particularly policing - is our main fiscal challenge. In 2014 the actual 
final policing cost for our municipality was $270,309. In 2015 that cost will jump to $403,100 
and is projected to be $717,375 by 2019. That is a 165% increase from 2014 to 2019.” 
- From an eastern municipality

 

Key Themes

The What’s Next Ontario engagement and discussions revealed the 
following consistently expressed province-wide themes.

Infrastructure   
This is the number one concern of member municipalities. Given the breadth of the issue, not 
surprisingly this concern takes many shapes.

State of good repair   
Upgrading of existing facilities and assets, management and replacement of aging roads, 
bridges, water and wastewater facilities are top of mind across all communities.

Ability to pay   
How do communities facing financial distress (declining population, assessment or tax base) 
meet the needs of their residents? How is it that a lack of debt disqualifies some from provincial 
infrastructure grants or that high debt becomes a qualifier for others? What incentives can 
optimize appropriate financial strategies for infrastructure and asset management? What does 
an aging population, workforce, and demographic change mean for ability to pay?



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 10

Service demands in high-growth municipalities  
Growing communities have growing service needs, particularly with respect to transit and 
transit expansion. Revenues from growth-related charges (i.e. development charges) are 
inadequate and mean higher property taxes for all.

Service demands in low-density, rural or northern municipalities  
Geographically large communities have unique infrastructure needs and are financed with 
difficulty by a sparse population.

Interest Arbitration  
Municipalities continue to be highly critical of the emergency services labour relations 
framework and what it means for the cost-of-service delivery. This is a common and consistent 
theme expressed across all submissions.

Policing  
Ontarians pay the highest policing costs in the country. The new OPP billing model, while 
beneficial for some, means much higher policing costs for many when fully phased in.

An aging population  
This demographic trend was a very prominent theme across all municipalities for combination 
of reasons. The issue has both revenue and service dimension at the local level.

Social Housing  
Some members are calling for the establishment of a true partnership between all orders of 
government on the delivery of this service. Affordable housing is fundamentally an income-
distribution program and should not be funded through property tax. Funding the renewal of 
an aging housing stock is a major challenge for many municipalities, particularly where demand 
is increasing. 

Revenue in small, rural, and northern Ontario  
Recent industrial assessment appeals and activity have affected the tax base of many 
municipalities including those with saw or paper mills, grain elevators and landfills, in particular. 
These changes magnify existing revenue challenges in rural areas include provincially mandated 
farmland and managed forest property tax discounts. Proposed reductions to provincial power 
dam payments are very troubling for many municipalities. 

Provincial Equalization and Operating Assistance  
Until recently, farmland and managed forest property tax discounts were offset by provincial 
grants through the Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund (OMPF). These have since been 
discontinued. Policing grants through the OMPF for rural and northern communities have also 
been discontinued. As a result, property taxes in rural and northern areas have been increasing 
to make up for this difference. The increased operating budget pressure this has caused 
compounds the difficulties these communities face when dealing with infrastructure funding.

Matthew
Sticky Note
should be "including"



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 11

Possible Solutions 

Below is a summary of what we heard from municipal leaders  
across Ontario:

On infrastructure

-  There is a need for increased predictable and long-term infrastructure funding to address 
future needs and service requirements.

-  Developing or refining existing Asset Management Plans will help direct resources to 
priority projects and determine future required level of capital funding. Increasing municipal 
capacity can accelerate plan development.

-  Municipalities need a greater ability to pay for infrastructure needs.

-  Predictable provincial infrastructure funding would help. If municipalities knew how much 
they were getting each year, like the federal gas tax, it would make a huge difference.

On revenue for infrastructure

-  How about a municipal sales tax? It could be coordinated at the provincial level, and then 
allocated as dedicated infrastructure funding.

-  What about dedicating 1% of the HST to municipal priorities?

-  We could allocate 1% of provincial gas tax revenues towards climate change initiatives and 
developing more resilient infrastructure.

-  Photo radar can be an effective enforcement tool for drivers which could be dedicated to 
municipal infrastructure.

-  Lower congestion and help transit by tolling all 400 series provincial highways.

-  Whatever revenue tools are considered, they need to be flexible. “One size fits all” won’t work.

-  Railways, industry, and commercial properties should pay higher taxes.

-  Revenue sharing from non-renewable resource industries (i.e. mining) makes a great deal of 
sense.

- What about an income tax surcharge or cap and trade revenues for municipalities?

On what municipalities can do

- Greater service integration at the upper tier could yield efficiencies.

-  Municipalities should scale back on the services they offer. Some services should be reduced 
or eliminated.

- More municipalities should opt to use stormwater charges.

-  We need to do a better job of explaining the need to raise taxes to our residents. We need to 
do a better job at communicating the economic challenges being experienced in rural Ontario.



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 12

On what the Province can do

-  Municipal liability and risk exposure needs to be amended.

-  Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund dollars need to be enhanced, especially in rural Ontario 
and a long-term plan developed.

-  Social housing, public health and policing – these are all provincially mandated services 
which are managed at the local level. Perhaps some should be uploaded or provide greater 
flexibility in service delivery.

-   Allow municipalities greater flexibility in setting user fees.

-  Extend the provincial gas tax so that it is applicable to more than just transit. Provincially 
mandated programs, such as the farm property class rebate, the managed forest tax 
incentive, and the greenbelt, need to be provincially paid for.

After hearing from our members and the discussion in this initial 
phase, in summary, there seem to be three options on how to meet 
our infrastructure and operating needs to 2025?

Option 1: Do Nothing [Status Quo]   
Use existing revenue streams. This translates into a combination of either sector wide 
annual property tax increases of 8.35% per year for ten years, or service reductions and 
pass on the infrastructure deficit to future generations.

 

Advantages Disadvantages

-  Property taxes are a stable and 
reliable source of revenue. 

-  Not dealing with the infrastructure 
deficit is the easiest short-term 
option.

-  Any service reductions related to 
failing infrastructure or capital needs 
are a least a few years away

-  Ontarians already pay the highest 
property taxes in Canada.

-  Many communities simply do not have 
the ability to pay such increases.

-  Ignoring the deficit will only compound 
future costs for future generations.

Matthew
Sticky Note
Delete question mark.



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 13

Option 2: Do Something 
Incremental revenue improvements. Seek Toronto taxation powers for all communities 
and seek increases to provincial operating support and infrastructure funding for 
municipalities.

Advantages Disadvantages

-  A modest improvement to the fiscal 
capacity of some municipalities. 

-  Greater local revenue flexibility for 
some.

-  Limited barriers to implementation, 
Toronto tools have already been 
tested.

-  Limited revenue potential, will 
solve only part of the longer term 
infrastructure challenge.

-  It is only a partial solution available for 
fiscally healthy municipalities.

-  Increases dependence for all other 
municipalities which rely on provincial 
transfers and exposure to long-term 
vulnerability with any change in 
provincial transfer policy.

Option 3: Do Something Bigger and Bolder 
Develop a new approach for additional of revenue sources for all municipalities and 
develop a package of reforms to refresh provincial-municipal relations.

Advantages Disadvantages

-  Equity, all would bear the cost and 
receive the commensurate benefit.

-  Diversifies municipal revenues for 
achieving sustainability in the long-
term.

-  Less dependence on provincial 
transfers to meet municipal operating 
and capital needs.

-  Increased taxation burden or less 
provincial government revenue, 
depending on the tool used.

-  Public confidence in any proposal will 
need a very strong business case and 
well-articulated goals for acceptance.

Matthew
Sticky Note
Delete "of"



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 14

A special note about Toronto’s tax tools

In June, the Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing launched a consultation regarding 
fiscal sustainability. It includes a discussion about what barriers municipalities may face in 
achieving long-term financial sustainability and whether municipalities have the necessary 
tools to effectively plan for, prioritize and fund their investments in infrastructure and 
spending on services.

The Ministry’s public consultation discussion guide includes a reference to the broader taxation 
authority granted to the City of Toronto. (This includes the following: entertainment; alcoholic 
beverages; tobacco; motor vehicle ownership tax; land transfer tax; parking tax; road pricing/
congestion; and a billboard tax). Currently, Toronto is using the land transfer tax and the 
billboard tax. Toronto is the only Ontario municipality with the authority to levy these taxes.

The consultation reflects the Premier’s remarks in February at the OGRA/ROMA Conference 
where she said, “To those of you who would like to talk with the Province about whether it 
is time to give municipalities new revenue tools - time to create some 21st century tools - it is 
a discussion I am open to having.” The Minister of Finance subsequently confirmed any new 
revenue tools would exclude any existing provincial revenue streams. 

Is broadening the use of Toronto’s tax tools to other municipalities part of the answer? 
It might be for some. But it raises a series of questions that must be considered 
including:

1. What is the revenue raising capacity of these tools province-wide over the next ten years? 

2.  Let’s assume any new revenues from these tools would be dedicated to the infrastructure 
deficit. Will they generate sufficient revenue to cover the municipal share of the $60 billion 
needed over ten years? 

3.  Do Ontarians in all areas of the province have the fiscal capacity to pay these additional fees 
in addition to projected property taxes increases of 4.51% per year for ten years to meet 
municipal operating budgets?

4.  What is the long-term plan for municipalities that will remain dependent on provincial 
government transfers because of fiscal circumstance?

5.  What is the plan for communities in the province that do not have the fiscal capacity to pay 
either higher property taxes or fees or both?

6.  What legislative or regulatory relief can the Province provide municipalities in the delivery of 
mandatory programs?

7.  Are these expanded revenue tools the extent of the Province’s plan to help build a 
sustainable fiscal future for municipalities?



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 15

Conclusions

 

AMO’s Action Plan

Municipalities share diverse but common concerns regarding the future. 

Developing a solution for long-term fiscal sustainability will require a fiscal framework that can 
meet the future needs of our communities. What that fiscal framework should look like remains 
to be seen. Further work is needed to explore what shape that should look like and which tools 
should be used. One thing is clear; it should meet the varying needs and fiscal circumstance of 
all communities including northern, rural and urban Ontario.

Through this process we discussed the need to control spending. Municipal governments do 
this by necessity, because they have relatively weak revenue sources compared to other orders 
of government. However, municipalities must fulfil mandates that are imposed on them, 
primarily by the Province, and municipalities are limited in their authority to control costs in 
some areas. For example, municipalities cannot place reasonable limits on liability, or restore 
balance to Ontario’s interest arbitration system. They must rely on the provincial order of 
government to make legislative changes to control costs in these areas, and many others.

The next option is increasing taxes. This is not popular with municipal leaders or the public. 
There was considerable discussion about how new tax revenue could or should be raised, given 
that the topic is controversial. There was also considerable discussion about how municipalities 
would use new revenue tools, if made available. We must recognize that increasing revenue 
through new forms of taxation at the local level simply isn’t a viable option for some Ontario 
communities. It might do more harm than good.

Many believe that the 9% municipal share of existing taxation is too low. Most of the services 
that most people use most of the time are municipal services. We believe that more and more 
Ontarians are questioning why so little of their current taxes contribute to the municipal order 
of government, and why the Provincial and Federal orders of government receive four or five 
times more in taxes. AMO believes that this question will only grow over time. This must be 
discussed going forward.

As we move to the next stage of considering our shared future, and in response to the very 
strong feedback we have received, AMO commits to exploring potential approaches under 
Option 3: Do Something Bigger and Bolder. 

The breadth, scale, and scope of input we have received from the membership demands that 
we carefully explore the options and their potential impact. In September, AMO will establish a 
committee of municipal and community leaders to explore revenue tools and the foundations of 
sustainability for the municipal sector. By January 2016, we will continue the conversation with 
focused and detailed options for the sector to consider. By next August 2016, we will arrive at a 
member-directed position to chart our future together.



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 16

Nothing in the above prevents the Province from advancing progress on the long-standing 
challenges that weigh down the provincial-municipal relationship. This could be focused on 
three areas:

Longstanding Issues – Includes ongoing delays with implementing POA fine collection reform, 
joint and several liability reform, waste management funding, farm property class rebate, the 
managed forest tax incentive, updating the heads and beds levy, modernizing policing, and 
substantial changes to the interest arbitration process. There is a growing municipal frustration 
at the lack of any provincial action on these well-known and well – documented municipal asks.

New Issues – New and evolving issues continue to arise. They include Ontario Retirement 
Pension Plan (ORPP) implications, the scaling back of power dam payments and the need for a 
firm foundation for provincial-municipal cooperation on climate change. 

Exploring Municipal Fiscal Health – “More fundamental reforms are needed for the 
[municipal] sector to be on a sustainable footing.” Don Drummond made this comment in 
2012. We still need to determine the shape of that reform. The last comprehensive review of 
the fiscal health of all municipalities in Ontario took place in 2008. The cumulative impact of 
provincial actions on municipalities should be measured on a regular basis. The Municipal Fiscal 
Circumstances Index (MFCI), incorporated into the Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund (OMPF) 
does a good job of measuring rural and northern municipal fiscal health, but it doesn’t paint a 
comprehensive picture of the entire municipal sector. Again, a great deal can be accomplished 
together in understanding where challenges are today and where they might be in the future. 

We’ve come a long way – the recent past

In 2005, the municipal sector rallied around AMO’s $3 Billion Gap Campaign and strongly 
advocated for the uploading of social assistance costs that had been downloaded by the 
province in the late 1990s. After much municipal effort and discussion, the provincial 
government responded positively. The result was the Provincial-Municipal Fiscal and Service 
Delivery Review (PMFSDR) agreement and the upload of many social assistance costs off the 
property tax base from 2008 to 2018. This was not a “gift” from the province but rather a 
recognition that the province needed to pay for its social services programs from its own tax 
base, not the municipal tax base. The municipal sector did not achieve its full ask of $3 billion a 
year and it did agree to give the province a decade to reassume financial responsibility for these 
provincial programs. 

The municipal sector continues to realize value from this long-term, predictable agreement, 
which will be worth $1.8 billion in 2016 alone. Page 20 of the Provincial-Municipal Fiscal and 
Service Delivery Review report and action plan stated, “municipalities benefiting from the 
upload of the three major social assistance benefit programs as a result of this review will, over 
time, have great room in their budget for infrastructure spending. Municipalities recognize the 
need to increase their investment in municipal infrastructure, in partnership with the provincial 
and federal governments.”

*Represents municipal matching funds for fed-
eral and provincial stimulus programs.

Matthew
Sticky Note
Should be "greater".



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 17

Municipalities have certainly upheld their side of the deal.  Here are the results:

Municipal Infrastructure Investments vs the Upload Value

 

 

Year

$10

$8

$6

$4

$2

$0

2010

(billions)
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

Municipal Infrastucture Spending (Debt and Own Source)

Ontario Municipal Partnership Fund 

Provincial Upload

*Represents municipal matching funds for federal and provincial stimulus programs.

*

Source: AMO; FIRS

The upload was achieved because of a committed provincial government and a united municipal 
sector to rebalance a previous provincial action. The success of increased municipal infrastructure 
spending thus far is the product of several things. It includes the spending room created by the 
upload, additional municipal debt financing, additional municipal taxation, and efficiencies in 
areas of discretionary municipal spending. 



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 18

What others have been saying since the launch of 
What’s Next Ontario?

 
“Municipalities generally have the ability to match expenditures well with revenues, except 
for capital spending, which can be intensive for some. Many have been limited in their ability 
to renew their infrastructure, roads, water, and wastewater, due to constraints on fee and 
property tax increases.”  
- Standard & Poors, April 30, 2015

“There’s the not-so-trivial issue of maintaining and repairing the existing capital stock. The 
first comprehensive report card on municipal infrastructure, issued in 2012, rated a significant 
portion of the country’s municipal infrastructure as “fair” or “very poor”, with roads requiring 
the most urgent attention.” 
- National Bank of Canada, June 25, 2015

“[The] broad fiscal narrative highlights the need for new revenue tools/measures at the 
municipal level should Canada truly desire to tackle infrastructure needs more quickly.” 
- National Bank of Canada, June 25, 2015

“The municipal sector generally bears the greatest burden when it comes to addressing 
Canada’s infrastructure deficit. ... Local governments are responding to this infrastructure 
challenge as best they can.” 
- National Bank of Canada, June 25, 2015

“Looking beyond just keeping infrastructure in good repair, the increased incidence of extreme 
weather events makes the case for a renewed focus on infrastructure in the most general 
sense, including upgrades.” 
- TD Economics, April 2015

“Quality infrastructure, in good repair, can help mitigate many of the impacts of extreme 
weather events. Conversely, poor quality infrastructure has an increased risk of failure during 
these events, potentially exacerbating their impact.” 
- TD Economics, April 2015

“Property taxes are a major revenue source, but tend not to grow in line with demands. 
Making more use of user-pay and other arrangements, alongside better infrastructure 
management can help close funding gaps.” 
- TD Economics, April 2015

“Across Canada, 2015 is shaping up as a key year for cities looking for new ways to raise 
money, through taxing powers or other revenue tools.” 
- C.D. Howe Institute, July 2015



What’s Next Ontario? – Summary of Membership Engagement and Submissions 19

Appendix A: Who did we hear from? 

Our sincere thanks to all for your participation in various discussions and your thoughtful 
submissions. In addition to 21 anonymous submissions, we heard from individuals or 
councils in the following municipalities:

1. City of Belleville
2. City of Burlington
3. City of Cambridge
4. City of Guelph
5. City of Kenora
6. City of Kitchener
7. City of London
8. City of Mississauga
9. City of Owen Sound 
10. City of St. Catharines
11. City of Timmins
12. City of Waterloo
13. County of Frontenac
14. County of Perth
15. County of Wellington
16. Municipality of Central Manitoulin
17. Municipality of Chatham-Kent
18. Municipality of Hastings Highlands
19. Municipality of Huron Shores
20. Municipality of Meaford
21. Municipality of Morris-Turnberry
22. Municipality of North Grenville
23. Municipality of North Middlesex
24. Municipality of North Perth
25. Municipality of South Huron
26. Municipality of St. Charles
27. Municipality of Temagami and 
28. Municipality of Wawa
29. Municipality of West Grey
30. Municipality of West Nipissing
31. Region of Durham
32. Region of Peel
33. Town of Blind River
34. Town of Bracebridge
35. Town of Bruce Mines
36. Town of Carleton Place
37. Town of Espanola
38. Town of Hanover
39. Town of Hearst

40. Town of Huntsville
41. Town of Kearney
42. Town of Lincoln
43. Town of Midland
44. Town of Minto
45. Town of Newmarket
46. Town of Northeastern Manitoulin  
 and the Islands
47. Town of Parry Sound
48. Town of Petawawa
49. Town of Smiths Falls
50. Town of Spanish 
51. Town of Tecumseh
52. Town of the Blue Mountains
53. Township of Carlow/Mayo
54. Township of Cavan Monaghan
55. Township of Chisholm
56. Township of Clearview
57. Township of Fauquier-Strickland
58. Township of Greater Madawaska
59. Township of Grey Highlands
60. Township of Guelph/Eramosa
61. Township of Hornepayne
62. Township of Horton
63. Township of Larder Lake
64.  Township of Leeds and the  

Thousand Islands
65. Township of Loyalist
66. Township of Lucan Biddulph
67. Township of McKellar
68. Township of North Frontenac
69. Township of Perth East
70. Township of Perth South
71. Township of Ramara
72. Township of Rideau Lakes 
73. Township of St. Clair
74. Township of The Archipelago
75. Township of Uxbridge
76. Township of Woolwich











CRIME
PREVENTION
IN ONTARIO 

 A Framework for Action



Minister’s Message     ...................................................................................
Ontario Association of Chiefs of Police Message    .....................................   
Section 1 – Introduction     ............................................................................  
Section 2 – Nature and Extent of Crime     ...................................................
Section 3 – What is Crime Prevention?     ....................................................
Section 4 – Rationale for Engaging in Crime Prevention             .................
Section 5 – Ontario’s Partners in Crime Prevention     .................................
Section 6 – Ontario’s Resources     ...............................................................
Section 7 – Opportunities for Strengthening Crime Prevention in Ontario ..
Section 8 – Ontario’s Way Forward     ..........................................................
Section 9 – The Next Phase     ......................................................................
Appendix 1     ................................................................................................ 
Endnotes     ...................................................................................................   

Table of Contents

1
2
3
4
8
12
15
20
21
23
30
31
33



Ontario continues to see significant reductions in the rate 
of crime in various categories. This encouraging trend 
provides support to our efforts to work closely with our 
partners to prevent and reduce the incidence of crime in our 
communities. Yet, there is more work to be done. We will 
minimize the risk factors that contribute to criminal activity 
and maximize the positive factors that help reduce crime and 
make our communities safer.

It is important to develop a focus on crime prevention, 
involving all stakeholders, and build on the successes to date. 
This document serves as a guide to the task ahead.

Crime prevention is everyone’s responsibility – federal, 
provincial, and municipal government, police services, 
community organizations and citizens. A successful strategy 
will reach out to all members of society including vulnerable 

groups, children and youth, offenders and victims and use a variety of initiatives that respond to 
the particular needs of each.

I welcome the participation of the Ontario Association of Chiefs of Police and all our partners and 
congratulate them for joining in this important effort.

Honourable Madeleine Meilleur,
Minister of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Message from the Minister

        1                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Message from the Ontario Association of 
Chiefs of Police

The most effective method of reducing crime in a community 
is preventing it from happening in the first place. Although 
not often the subject of front-page news, crime prevention 
methods are an effective, cost-saving measure that improves 
quality of life for all, and contributes to the overall wellbeing 
of Ontarians. 

From a policing perspective, preventing crime cannot be 
accomplished solely through law enforcement. In order 
to truly affect crime, community members, social groups, 
businesses and governments must be able to identify 
crime trends, be educated in prevention strategies, and be 
prepared to apply overall best practices - together.  This 
booklet, Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for 
Action is a useful resource that provides integral background 
information on the current criminal landscape, offers a 
variety of crime prevention approaches, and outlines the 

cost-effectiveness of being proactive when it comes to addressing root causes of crime. 
   
The Ontario Association of Chiefs of Police (OACP) is committed to working together with 
all Ontarians to support the objectives of crime prevention in our communities and realize the 
many positive impacts of these practices. By experiencing less crime, we will collectively realize 
considerable cost-savings, reduced fear of crime, and most importantly, fewer victims. 
 
On behalf of the OACP, I thank you for your interest in crime prevention and I encourage you to 
review and familiarize yourself with Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action. Rest 
assured that crime prevention and reduction is a top priority for police services throughout Ontario.

Chief Matthew A. Torigian 
President, Ontario Association of Chiefs of Police

        2              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Setting the Stage 

Community safety is one of the concerns most frequently expressed by Ontarians. Although statistics 
point to overall falling crime rates, Ontario’s citizens want assurances that they are safe in their own 
communities. 

The Ontario government is dedicated to making Ontarians safer in their communities by being tough 
on crime through effective enforcement and crime prevention. The key to enhancing personal and 
community security through  crime prevention is to actively address the risk factors associated with 
crime.

Provincially, the Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services (MCSCS) has a strong 
commitment to preventing crime. MCSCS continuously delivers services and sets standards, policies 
and guidelines in policing, corrections and public safety to keep Ontario’s communities safe. This 
is evident through the extensive work undertaken in partnership with various municipal police 
services, the Ontario Provincial Police (O.P.P.), all levels of government and community agencies in 
promoting crime prevention through community policing and community mobilization throughout 
the province. 

In addition, a number of ministries are involved in the support and delivery of community well-being 
and social development related programs that contribute to crime prevention. Strong legislative, 
policy and program ground work has been laid throughout the province and communities across 
Ontario have built varying degrees of local crime prevention capacity.   
 
In Spring 2009, MCSCS partnered with the Ontario Association of Chiefs of Police (OACP) to 
initiate the development of a provincial response to crime and victimization through a collaborative 
and integrated crime prevention approach. The OACP is a strong proponent of provincial leadership 
in the area of crime prevention and reiterated this position at the 2009 OACP Conference by passing 
a resolution that calls for the establishment of a coordinated response to preventing crime. 

As a first step, MCSCS, in partnership with the OACP, has developed the Crime Prevention in 
Ontario: A Framework for Action booklet, which is intended to:

• Raise awareness and generate a dialogue on crime prevention in Ontario;
• Highlight the opportunities to move forward;
• Set the stage for the development of further crime prevention work which will: build and enhance 

crime prevention partnerships; encourage the development of coordinated, multi-sectoral 
responses; and promote community leadership and participation in crime prevention.  

Section 1 - Introduction

        3                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Ontario Profile 

In order to understand the complexities of undertaking crime prevention in Ontario, it is important 
to put crime-related statistics into context by providing an overall profile of the jurisdiction. Our 
province is home to over 13 million individuals, which translates into approximately 1 out of 3 
Canadians residing in Ontario. Over 85% of the population lives in urban centres and 90% live 
in southern Ontario, with the largest concentration of people and cities falling into the ‘Golden 
Horseshoe’ region along Lake Ontario. The remaining 15% live in rural and/or remote communities1.  
Spatially, over 440 municipalities and 133 First Nation communities span across more than 900,000 
square km of land and water2. 

Ontario’s population is as diverse as its geography. About 2.7 million individuals in Ontario self-
identify as members of a visible minority group and about 6.8 million individuals belong to one 
or more of over 200 ethnic groups. Since 2001 this number has increased by 27.5%. Much of this 
growth is attributed to immigration3.  The population aged 65 and over is expected to double to 3.5 
million by the year 20314. 

Roughly 242,000 Aboriginal people (which includes First Nations, Inuit and Métis) reside in Ontario 
and 105,205 or 43% of these are under 25 years old. Approximately 80% of First Nation people live 
off reserve and 20% live on reserve in Ontario5. 
 
 
 
Crime Rates 

According to crime data, between 2007 and 2009, 
Ontario had one of the lowest violent and non- 
violent crime rates in Canada6.  Despite the notable 
decrease in overall crime volume and severity, 
the perception Ontarians have of crime deserves 
attention. As 2001 data shows, a significant 
segment of our society – over 80% - feels that 
crime in their neighbourhoods is either increasing 
or remaining the same year over year7. 

Statistics pertaining to the nature and extent of 
crime in Ontario can be derived from multiple 
provincial and national sources. In 2011, Statistics Canada released a report based on 2010 data, 
which analyzed police-reported violent and non-violent crimes. For that year, police-reported crime 

Section 2 - Nature and Extent of Crime

The overall rates for offences in Ontario 
are as follows:
•	 homicide – 1.4 per 100,000 

population 
•	 serious assaults – 114 per 100,000 

population
•	 break and enters – 414 per 100,000 

population
•	 motor vehicle theft – 171 per 100,000 

population
                        - Statistics Canada (2010)

Section 2 - Nature and Extent of Crime

        4              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



dropped by 6% from the previous year in Canada. Almost all Criminal Code and federal offences 
declined in 20108. 

In addition to these statistics, it is important to account for unreported or undiscovered crime. In 
order for an incident to be included in police-reported crime statistics a victim must be aware that 
a crime has occurred and it must be reported to the police. A disruption at any one of these stages 
can result in the incident not being captured by police-reported crime statistics, resulting in the rate 
of reported crime being lower than the actual state of crime. This dilemma becomes apparent when 
we look at the 2004 Statistics Canada General Social Survey which states the unofficial crime rate 
of 28,000 per 100,000 while the official crime statistics showed a rate of only 8,951 per 100,000 
population9. 

Crime Trends 

• In 2006, over 38,000 incidents of spousal violence were reported to police in Canada and 
approximately 1/3 of these incidents occurred in Ontario10.  In 2009, of the nearly 19 million 
Canadians who had a current or former spouse, 1.2 million reported they have been a victim of 
physical or sexual abuse by their partner in the previous five years11. 

• In 2009, 176 out of 100,000 seniors were the victims of elder violence with the majority of the 
abusers being an adult child12. 

• Alcohol impairment accounts for almost 25% of all fatalities on Ontario’s roads.  In 2005, 174 
people were killed and 3,852 were injured in motor vehicle collisions involving a drunk driver13.  
In 2010 there was a 6% decrease in the rate of impaired driving incidents over the previous 
year14. 

• In 2009, police services across Canada reported 1,473 hate-motivated crimes – a 42% increase 
from 2008. This followed a 35% increase between 2007 and 2008. Ontario accounted for 
901 of the hate crime offences committed in 2009. Kitchener-Cambridge-Waterloo, Guelph, 
Peterborough and Ottawa reported the highest number of police-reported hate crimes in 2009. 
Ottawa, Toronto, Kitchener-Cambridge-Waterloo and Montreal accounted for the largest increase 
in hate crimes between 2008 and 200915. 

• Cyber crime is a complex and quickly increasing crime trend. Cyber crime includes new crimes 
(phishing) as well as a variety of traditional crimes (extortion, fraud, intimidation, sexual 
exploitation) that are carried out on-line using a computer. The Canadian anti-fraud call centre 

        5                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



– Phonebusters – received 332 reports of losses of over $12.5 million in 419 scams over the 
internet in Ontario alone. Further, 24,479 Ontarians reported being victims of identity theft with 
an estimated total loss of over $46 million16. 

• Bullying is an issue encountered in Ontario schools and communities, with studies showing that 
children who bully others are 37% more likely than those who do not bully to commit offences 
as adults17.  In terms of victimization, approximately one in three students in Grades 7 to 12 
reports having been bullied at school18. 

• In 2006, 60,616 youth (aged 12-17 years) in Ontario were implicated in a violation of the 
Criminal Code (excluding traffic) bringing Ontario’s youth crime rate to 5,956 per 100,000 
youth. This represents a 1% increase over the previous year19. 

• Knives were the most common weapon students brought to school with 1 in 5 students reporting 
that they carried a knife to school20.  Further, knives are the most commonly used weapon to 
commit violent offences, with three in 10 homicides being committed using a knife.  Knife-
related crime is on the rise in Ontario. According to the Canadian Centre Justice Statistics 
(CCJS), police reported 23,500 victims of violent crime with instances involving a knife in 
Canada in 2008. Of these, 7,111 were in Ontario21. 

• Over 2,400 high school students in Toronto carried a gun to school in the 2004/05 academic 
year. The problems associated with guns and gangs were highlighted by Toronto’s ‘Summer of 
the Gun’ in 2005, when the gun-related homicide rate doubled to 52 in total, of which 11.4% 
were gang-related22. 

• Results from the 2002 ‘Canadian Police Survey on Youth Gangs’ indicate that Ontario has the 
highest number of youth gangs (approximately 216) and youth gang members (approximately 
3,320) of all jurisdictions in Canada. Reports indicate that males compose 97% of the gang 
member population23.  Ottawa, Toronto and Thunder Bay are considered the focal points for 
street gang activity which ranges from drug trafficking to violence24.  Further, First Nation-based 
gangs represent about 4% of total gang members in Ontario25  and continue to exist mainly in 
Northern Ontario26.  

• The 2009 Report on Organized Crime confirms that organized crime is a major crime issue for 
Ontario. Contraband tobacco, environmental crime, financial crime (money laundering, fraud), 
illicit drugs and synthetics, as well as illicit firearms and theft of intellectual property rights are 
some of the major activities requiring intervention27.  These newer trends build upon existing 
issues such as: human trafficking, motor vehicle theft, street gangs28 , and illegal immigration 
and weapons trafficking29.   Due to technological advancements in the past decade, organized 
crime has become increasingly trans-national, harder to detect and requires the cooperation 

        6              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



of multiple jurisdictions30.  Out of the Shadows: An Overview of Organized Crime in Ontario, 
2007, points to the fact that there is growing diversity among the groups and individuals 
engaging in organized crime activity in Ontario.  In terms of its composition, research shows 
that the face of organized crime has morphed to include various ethno-cultural and socio-
economic groups as well as both genders31. 

• Aboriginal people continue to be overrepresented in Ontario’s correctional system, as is the case 
nationally. In 2007, Aboriginal people represented 1.8% of the adult population in Ontario, but 
accounted for 9% of the remand population and 8.5% of the sentenced population32. 

• The table below illustrates overall charges laid in Ontario by offence type during the period 
January 2009 to December 2009.

OFFENCE TYPE 
(Ontario)

CHARGES RECEIVED
 BY COURT

Administration of Justice 
Offences*

       139,349

Attempted Murder   395

Break & Enter 15,763

Criminal Harassment 5,386

Drug	Possession	&	Trafficking 52,179

Fraud 41,078

Homicide 417

Impaired Driving 29,713

Major & Common Assault 70,190

Mischief 26,480

Prostitution 1,721

Robbery 8,445

Sexual Assault & Other Sexual 
Offences

10,762

Theft 46,946

Uttering Threats 19,761

Weapons Offences 24,572

Youth Criminal Justice Act 
Offences

13,711

        7

* Includes: Fail to Appear, Breach of Probation, Unlawfully at Large, Fail to Comply with Order and Other Administration of 
Justice Offences.

                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Definition 

Crime prevention speaks to a desire to circumvent a crime before it occurs. Extensive research has 
been done in defining crime prevention. The definition guiding crime prevention in Ontario reads as 
follows:

“The anticipation, recognition and appraisal of a crime risk and the actions taken – 
including the integrated community leadership required – to remove or reduce it”.

The intent of this definition is to take an inclusive and truly preventative approach in order to 
predict, identify, prevent and reduce crime by addressing the risk factors associated with crime and 
victimization.  This definition encourages communities to focus on the factors that precipitate the 
onset of criminal  and anti-social behaviour through the proactive provision of measures that target 
all members of society including children and youth, the elderly, offenders, and victims. 

‘Integrated community leadership’ is an essential part of crime prevention. Effective crime 
prevention strategies involve a multi-sectoral approach (academic institutions, community agencies, 
government, mental health agencies and police services among others) in an effort to build strong, 
cohesive, localized community capacity to effectively prevent crime.     

Risk Factors of Crime

Risk factors are the negative characteristics and/
or conditions present in individuals, families, 
communities or society that may increase 
the presence of crime or fear of crime in a 
community. These factors may also increase 
the likelihood that individuals engage in crime 
and/or become victims.  It is important to note 
that these risk factors are multi-dimensional and 
overlap with each other. 

Examples of these are listed in the table below.

Section 3 - What is Crime Prevention?

Any one single risk factor does not work 
in isolation to cause crime.  Instead, 
research shows that “…the interaction 
and accumulation of risk factors increase 
the likelihood...” of delinquent or criminal 
behaviour “...not only because the effect of 
risk factors is cumulative, but also because 
they interact.” 

                          - Public Safety Canada 

        8              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Risk Factors
Individual Family/Peers Community Society

Behavioural problems
Poor educational 
achievement
Poor mental health
Prior criminal behaviour
Racism/Marginalization
Victimization/Abuse

Abuse
Few economic resources
Neglect
Negative parenting 
Poor	peer	influences
Parent/sibling criminality

Crime in area
Few social services
High poverty concentration 
Poor housing

Cultural norms supporting 
violence

Social disorganization

Negative media 
messaging

Protective Factors

Protective Factors
Individual Family/Peers Community Society

Personal coping strategies
Strong attachment to adult
Positive school experience
Self-esteem
Self-efficacy
Sense of responsibility

Adequate parental 
supervision

Parent(s) engaged in 
child’s life

Positive	peer	influences

Housing in close proximity 
to services

Cohesive communities

Recreational facilities for 
youth

Low social tolerance of 
violence

High awareness of the 
determinants of well-being

 

A research study conducted by Public Safety Canada on Risk Factors for Aboriginal Offenders 
showed that while the risk factors listed above are applicable to Aboriginal people, there are also 
additional environmental risk factors that should be considered.  Access to services, isolation and the 
impact of assimilation policies have all been proposed as risk factors specific to Aboriginal people.33  
Cultural differences may play an important role in the development of treatment strategies and the 
delivery of appropriate interventions.34

Protective factors are positive elements that can mediate or moderate the effect of being exposed to 
risk factors and can help to foster healthier individuals, families and communities thereby increasing 
the safety of a community.  Listed below are a number of general protective factors, including 
individual, familial and societal variables that may decrease the likelihood of crime and victimization. 
For a more complete list of risk and/or protective factors please refer to APPENDIX 1.  

        9                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



By focusing on building and improving protective factors and decreasing risk factors identified 
throughout this section, Ontarians can create healthier, stronger, safer communities and provide 
required supports and opportunities for individuals, thereby decreasing crime to a considerable 
degree.      

Crime Prevention Approaches 
 
Crime prevention can be achieved in various ways and at various points in time.  Each stage in the 
chart illustrated below is extremely valuable and serves an important purpose. From the preventative 
perspective, the two key stages are: 

(a) Prevention prior to occurrence; and,  
(b) Post-incarceration/community supervision. 

Prevention prior 
to occurrence of 
crime

Arrest and Post-
Arrest*

Sentencing Incarceration Post incarceration/
community 
supervision

Crime Prevention 
Opportunity

Target risk factors 
of crime

Identify and 
suppress crime

Identify 
opportunities 
for alternative 
measures, 
diversion programs 
and mandatory 
programming

Rehabilitate and 
treat offenders

Reduce recidivism 
and	influence	
offender decisions

Actions Predict
Intervene
Treat

Enforce
Investigate
Apprehend

Applying the 
appropriate 
sentencing option

Incapacitate
Control 
Rehabilitate

Reintegrate
Predict
Intervene
Treat

Scope Risk factors of 
crime

Criminal Act Criminal act  &  risk 
factors of crime

Criminal act &  risk 
factors of crime

Risk factors of 
criminality
Recidivism

Focus Potential victims 
and potential 
offenders

Accused/Actual 
Offender

Actual offender Actual offender and 
actual victim

Actual offender and 
actual victim

* Refers to the period between being arrested and being sentenced (if applicable).  For example, being held in remand falls within the post-arrest category.

Crime prevention is not a static concept, its parameters change over time.  Current crime prevention 
practices focus largely on targeting the risk factors that contribute to crime through social development 
approaches.  The emphasis is on early intervention and focuses on combining two main types of 
crime prevention: situational and social development.  

        10              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



offender will commit a crime. 

Crime Prevention through Social Development (CPSD) recognizes that the intersection of multiple, 
complex social, economic, health and environmental factors lead to criminality.  CPSD involves 
long-term, sustainable, multi-agency, integrated actions that deal with the risk factors and divert 
people from the path of crime, and build protective factors that may mitigate those risks. 

A strong community policing framework currently exists in Ontario and works concurrent to situational 
and social development crime prevention methods.  The OACP defines community policing as the 
process by which police and other community members partner to improve community wellbeing, 
safety and security through joint problem identification, analysis, response and evaluation. The 
Ontario Police College training for new and existing recruits currently includes community policing.

Examples of Crime Prevention through Social Development 

•	 Teach parenting skills
•	 Improve literacy rates
•	 Provide aggression management and counselling
•	 Increase employment opportunities
•	 Community Engagement in developing pro-active initiatives 

Situational crime prevention seeks to reduce the opportunity to commit crime in a particular time 
and place. As part of this approach, situations are altered to make it less likely that the potential 

Examples of Situational Crime Prevention 

•	 Surveillance and monitoring systems
•	 Crime Prevention through Environmental Design
•	 Car and home alarm systems

        11                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Section 4 - Rationale for Engaging in Crime 
Prevention 

“Crime prevention today is an essential instrument for bringing down the crime rate, including 
crimes that are reported to police and those that remain undisclosed.  It makes neighborhoods safe 
and at the same time ensures that people’s rights and freedoms are respected.”35

Address Crime Before It Occurs

‘Prevention is better than cure.’ The 
intention is to work with communities 
to identify the risk factors that may lead 
to criminality even before it occurs. 
Crime prevention allows communities 
to work to reduce the motivation and 
risk factors associated with crime 
thereby safeguarding potential victims.  

In addition, programs that reduce recidivism are an essential part of crime prevention. There is 
value in working with individuals who have been convicted to reduce future criminality. Ultimately, 
addressing crime before it occurs for the first, second or any subsequent time will enhance the safety 
of Ontarians. 

 
Cost-Effective

The overall financial and social costs of crime are increasingly important for society and government.  
Crime places a large financial burden on Ontarians. There are both tangible and intangible costs 
associated with crime. Tangible costs can be assigned a financial value and include medical,  mental 

health,  criminal justice, victim 
services, protective services costs 
and the value of stolen or damaged 
property.  Intangible, or non-monetary 
costs, are generally more difficult 
to measure and include pain and 
suffering, fear of crime, hindering 
economic development, and lost 
quality of life.  Significant also are the 
negative implications in terms of costs 

to the victims’ and offenders’ families.

“Although it seems contradictory, a violence 
prevention plan cannot focus on violence.  Instead it 
must focus on human and social development.  This 
is because violence is a symptom of a society out of 
balance, and unless and until that balance is created, 
violence will continue at an unacceptable level.”
                - Waterloo Crime Prevention Council (2006)

“Thorough economic evaluation has shown that 
preventing just one career criminal can save society 
over $2 million.  It is easy to see how a prevention 
program that costs $1.5 million to deliver services 
to 100 participants would be successful from an 
economic standpoint even if it only prevents 1% of 
program participants from a life of crime.”
                         - Pennsylvania State University (2008)

        12              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



• In 2003, crime and victimization cost Canadians over $70 billion, of which, $13 billion was spent 
on the criminal justice system.36 In 2008, the cost of crime was estimated at $100 billion.37

   
• A study released in 2009 showed that for an average municipality of 900,000 people, the estimated 

annual costs of crime to victims and the public is more than $1.3 billion.38  

From a cost-benefit perspective, extensive research shows that crime prevention programs have 
proven to have significant returns on investment and are a cost-effective manner in which to address 
crime.  It is fiscally responsible to work collaboratively and allocate resources in a balanced manner 
to target the risk factors of crime.   

Studies confirm that a dollar invested 
now in crime prevention and early 
intervention avoids seven dollars spent 
on incarceration, victim services and 
other associated costs in the future.  
Another study found that one dollar 
allocated for enriched child care saves 
$17 in criminal justice costs in the 
future.39 

The ‘Better Beginnings, Better Futures 
Program’ serves as a local example of 
crime prevention through social development and illustrates the cost-effectiveness of implementing 
this type of program.  It costs approximately $2,960 to put a child through the program.  Through an 
extensive research project, Queens University found that Better Beginnings resulted in cost savings 
by: lowering the number of visits children made to their physician; decreasing grade repetitions; 
decreasing the need to use special education programs; lowering arrests; decreasing instances of 
individuals requiring welfare and/or disability services.40 

As illustrated below, an extensive evaluation of six crime prevention programs in Pennsylvania – each 
of which targets risk factors associated with crime – revealed a considerable return on investment.41  

The Perry School Program provides evidence that 
the crime prevention through social development 
approach is cost-effective.  “…for every dollar spent 
on the program, the community gained roughly 
$7	dollars	worth	of	benefits	in	crime	reduction	and	
improvement of life opportunities.” This includes 
the	benefits	realised	by	participants	and	the	costs	
avoided for criminal justice and victims services.
                - Australian Institute of Criminology (2000)
                 - Better Beginnings, Better Futures (2004)

        13                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Life Skills 
Training

Multi-
Dimensional 
Training 
Foster Care

Multisystemic 
Therapy

Functional 
Family 
Therapy

Nurse-Family 
Partnerships

Strengthening 
Families 
Program 
10-14

Per Dollar 
Return on 
Investment

$25.72 $11.14 $3.61 $14.56 $3.59 $7.82

 
Supported By Research

Evidence shows that social development approaches are cost effective and are effective at reducing 
crime and victimization.   Research and current practices internationally, nationally and locally 
indicate that social development activities that target the risk factors of crime are the best way 
to address crime.  Numerous provincial, national and international governments and agencies 
are increasingly focusing on social development by developing and delivering integrated multi-
disciplinary strategies to this end.    

Public Support

The public is highly supportive of prevention. When asked to identify the principal goal of the 
criminal justice system, twice as many Canadians supported prevention as opposed to punishment.  
Furthermore, while people recognize and value the strong need for a robust corrections system and 
processes to control and incapacitate offenders, only 16% believe that corrections actually help 
prisoners become productive, law abiding citizens.42 

        14              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Reducing crime and victimization requires localized, collaborative and comprehensive planning. 
In Ontario, existing programs and services intended to build safer communities are delivered by 
a network of partners, including government, non-profit organizations, law enforcement, and the 
private sector.  

The causes of crime are complex and interrelated, and so must be the response.  Strong partnerships, 
centralized planning, and alignment with other crime prevention efforts are the key drivers in 
realizing an effective crime prevention strategy.  

Provincial Government 

Section 5 - Ontario’s Partners in Crime Prevention

        15

Current Government Initiatives

Provincially-led strategies contributing to community well-being include: 

•	 Ministry of Children and Youth Services – Ontario Poverty Reduction Strategy;
•	 Ministry of Health and Long Term Care – Mental Health and Addictions Strategy;
•	 Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing – Long-Term Affordable Housing Strategy; 
•	 Ministry of Community and Social Services – Aboriginal Healing and Wellness 

Strategy;
•	 Ministry of Attorney General – Victims Services Secretariat and Alternative Measures 

Programs;  Aboriginal Justice Strategy;
•	 Ministry of Education – Safer Schools Strategy;  
•	 Ministry of Aboriginal Affairs – New Approach to Aboriginal Affairs.

Other Ontario government actions include:

•	 Developing a Youth Policy Framework; 
•	 Responding to the Ipperwash Inquiry and the Hate Crimes Community Working Group 

Report;
•	 Implementation of full day kindergarten and improvements to the immunization 

program for children and adolescents; 
•	 Expanding the Guns and Gangs Task Force as well as the OPP-led Provincial 

Weapons Enforcement Unit;
•	 Hiring	more	police	officers,	more	crown	attorneys,	more	victims	services	staff,	and	

more	adult	probation	and	parole	officers;
•	 Increases	in	social	assistance	and	Ontario	Child	Benefit	rates;
•	 Investing in community initiatives with a focus on youth-based crime prevention 

programs; and
•	 Targeting organized crime through focused intelligence-gathering efforts.
•	

                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



        16

Further, MCSCS ensures all of Ontario’s communities are safe, supported and protected by 
law enforcement, and that community safety and correctional services are secure, effective and 
accountable. Each year the ministry leads a number of police and community-based programs that 
promote community safety in priority areas. Examples of programs include:

• Community Policing Partnerships (CPP) Program
• Crime Stoppers Centralized After-Hours Phone Service
• Hate Crime and Extremism Investigative Team (HCEIT)
• Provincial Anti-Violence Intervention Strategy (PAVIS)
• Provincial Strategy to Protect Children from Sexual Abuse and Exploitation on the Internet
• Reduce Impaired Driving Everywhere (R.I.D.E.)
• Safer Communities – 1,000 Officers Partnership Program
• Safer and Vital Communities

MCSCS supports and emphasizes holding offenders and inmates accountable in order to create 
healthier and safer communities.  Correctional services offer rehabilitation, treatment, training, 
life skills and education as a way to support inmates in institutions and those under community 
supervision to address their offending behaviour and reduce recidivism. Addressing their offending 
behaviour, and assisting those who have been in institutions to integrate back into the workforce or 
school can have positive impacts on recidivism.  

While all of these efforts support our common objective of making Ontario safer, we continue to 
believe that effectively fighting crime requires mobilizing and organizing within communities.

Federal Government 

The National Crime Prevention Strategy (NCPS) is an integral part of the federal government’s efforts 
to tackle crime in order to build safer communities. 

The NCPS provides a policy framework for the implementation of crime prevention interventions in 
Canada.  It is administered by the National Crime Prevention Centre (NCPC) within Public Safety 
Canada.  

              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



        17

With an investment of $63 million annually, NCPC assists communities in developing projects that 
reduce crime by reducing the personal, social and economic factors that lead some individuals to 
commit criminal acts.  NCPC focuses particularly on children, youth and young adults who show 
multiple risk factors known to be related to offending behaviour; high risk offenders in communities; 
and First Nation, remote and northern communities, especially those with high crime rates and 
persistent crime problems.  

The NCPC administers three funding programs, including the Crime Prevention Action Fund (CPAF), 
the Northern and Aboriginal Crime Prevention Fund and the Youth Gang Prevention Fund. The 
Ontario Project Review Committee recommends projects for funding by a Project Review Committee 
(PRC) that includes representatives from the NCPC and provincial or territorial governments which 
are forwarded to the Department of Public Safety for final review and approval.

Municipalities 

Municipalities play an important role in providing crime prevention interventions in Ontario. As 
the order of government closest to the public, municipalities are well positioned to work with local 
partners to develop effective community-based programs. They are also best able to identify local 
crime problems as well as the conditions that contribute to those problems. Many municipalities are 
well advanced in developing and delivering situational and social development crime prevention 
programs and practices.      

First Nation Communities  

Many First Nation communities face unique challenges with respect to crime, violence and 
victimization, making it difficult to move forward in positive and rewarding ways.43  However, some 
communities have experienced healing, relationship building and social and economic development.  
These are critical steps toward successful intervention in communities that may lack capacity to 
prevent crime.  For example, some First Nation communities have initiated healing circle processes 
as a way to respond to the harms within their community. 
 
Remedying communities at risk or in crisis requires the effective integration of personal, economic, 
social and political efforts that address the risk factors associated with crime and victimization.  
By building partnerships with those most affected all sectors will be in a better position to deliver 
transformative interventions that apply to Aboriginal traditions, practices and cultures.44 Further, 
crime and victimization in First Nation communities does not only affect rural and remote regions.  
The Ontario Federation of Indian Friendship Centres and legal organizations have a strong presence 
in urban communities with high percentages of Aboriginal people. 

                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Ontario Police Services
  
Ontario is a leader in recognizing the pivotal role police services play in crime prevention. This 
is demonstrated through current legislative requirements under the Police Services Act, which 
mandates police services to provide community-based crime prevention initiatives in the areas 
that they serve. Ontario’s police services recognize that crime prevention is a key component of 
community mobilization and that strong community partnerships are an essential element of any 
crime prevention strategy.

Further, the OACP is a policing leader in the area of crime prevention and supports social development. 
A recent example is the review and revision of the Community Policing Model, originally developed 
in 1996.  The new model defines community policing as “…the process by which police and other 
community members partner to improve community wellbeing, safety and security through joint 
problem identification, analysis, response and evaluation.”45   

First Nations Police Services 

First Nations Police Services encounter unique issues when dealing with crime and victimization.  
Adequate and culturally appropriate policing can have a positive impact in mitigating the risk factors 
associated with Aboriginal offending.  A mandate of the First Nations Chiefs of Police Association 
(FNCPA) in partnership with the Aboriginal Policing Directorate at the Department of Public Safety 
is to continually develop strategic partnerships to complement the delivery of culturally sensitive 
crime prevention services

Community and Non-Profit Organizations 

The localized approach to building healthier and safer communities relies on society’s participation 
in mobilizing and sustaining crime prevention initiatives.  To date, communities across Ontario 
have established strategic partnerships with non-profit organizations in order to develop and deliver 
comprehensive crime prevention services that respond to local needs and conditions.  

To strengthen these efforts, the Ontario Trillium Foundation has granted hundreds of millions of 
dollars to thousands of community and non-profit organizations across the province.  The Foundation’s 
mission is ‘building healthy and vibrant communities throughout Ontario by strengthening the 
capacity of the voluntary sector, through investments in community-based initiatives’. 

        18              Crime 
Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



        19

Private Sector 

In addition to recognizing the importance of involving all levels of government, law enforcement and 
the community, strategic efforts to prevent and reduce crime also require private sector involvement 
and investment.  The impact of crime on private businesses and the communities in which they are 
located can be substantial; i.e., affecting a company’s ability to attract customers, recruiting and 
retaining employees, ensuring productivity, or staying in business.  

Given the overall financial impacts of crime, it is clearly in the interest of the private sector to 
help build stronger and safer communities.  The private sector can bring its creativity, skills, and 
resources to assist in the development of crime prevention strategies. 

Academic Institutions 

A safe and positive learning environment is essential to help students succeed, reduce the fear 
and incidence of crime, and contribute to community safety and crime prevention.  As part of the 
Ontario Safe Schools Strategy, changes are being made in existing curricula for all levels of the 
education system to ensure students feel safe at schools and on school grounds.  These changes will 
assist students in making good personal choices and dealing positively with issues such as conflict 
resolution, bullying, inappropriate sexual behaviour, harassment and discrimination. 

The Ontario government is also working with schools and communities to prevent youth violence 
by shifting away from an approach that is solely punitive towards progressive discipline.  The new 
approach corrects inappropriate behaviour by providing early and ongoing intervention, involving 
parents sooner, and working with law enforcement, social workers, counsellors and psychologists 
to offer support to at-risk youth. 

Post-secondary institutions such as universities, polytechnics and colleges also play an important 
role in crime prevention.  They provide access to authoritative sources of crime prevention expertise, 
data, crime trends, proven examples of projects that have prevented crime, and the reasons for 
investing in crime prevention. By fostering a network of partners, and organizing conferences and 
workshops, higher academic institutions disseminate scientific knowledge and evidence-based 
practices and help relevant stakeholders enhance community safety in their local areas. 

                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Section 6 - Ontario’s Resources

Ontario, much like any other jurisdiction in Canada, experiences various types of crime in each of 
its urban, rural and remote communities. Ontario has an existing vast pool of resources to support 
a comprehensive and integrated approach in responding to crime and victimization in communities 
across the province. While a more comprehensive discussion of Ontario’s partners is provided in 
section 5, from a provincial perspective, various government ministries play a significant role in 
contributing to community well-being and addressing the risk factors associated with crime and 
victimization.  The Ontario government has taken significant steps to reduce future levels of crime 
and victimization by focussing on the areas of community safety, education, health care, and poverty, 
among others.  

Overview of Ontario’s Resources

•	 20 Universities, 28 community colleges, and over 1,800 elementary and high schools 
•	 University-based Centres of Criminology and/or Crime Prevention 
•	 About 30 provincial government ministries 
•	 Over 50 municipal police services 
•	 9 First Nations Police Services 
•	 Ontario Provincial Police 
•	 Ontario Association of Chiefs of Police 
•	 Over 200 hospital sites 
•	 Over 300 community mental health organizations 
•	 Over 150 addiction treatment organizations 
•	 74 Schedule 1 psychiatric facilities 
•	 50 Human Services and Justice Coordinating Committees 
•	 116 diversion and court support programs through community mental health 
•	 67 community crime prevention councils 
•	 160 residential facilities for abused women and children 
•	 About 30 provincial adult correctional facilities 
•	 Dedicated youth justice custody/detention facilities 
•	 416 community-based youth justice services and programs 
•	 53 Children’s Aid Societies 
•	 119	adult	parole	/	probation	offices;	64	youth	justice	probation	offices	
•	 Over 440 Municipalities 
•	 133 First Nation communities
•	 29 Friendship Centres 
•	 Association of Municipalities of Ontario 

        20              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



A sustainable crime prevention strategy is required across all sectors in Ontario to address the risk 
factors of crime in a holistic, consistent and integrated manner. To that end, a number of strategic 
opportunities have been identified that could strengthen the delivery of crime prevention services in 
Ontario.

Integration of Crime Prevention Efforts 

Currently, there are many levels of government, groups, organizations and police services working 
on crime prevention that could learn from, and assist each other. The efforts and resources being 
spent on crime prevention could be enhanced by working as part of a network of partners where 
experience, expertise, and information can be readily shared. For example, some crime prevention 
practitioners are unaware of federal and provincial grant programs and existing projects from which 
they might benefit, learn, or incorporate into their own programs. This may limit the emergence of 
programs with great potential.    
 

Evidence-based Research and Evaluation 

There has been significant effective, reliable, and result-based evaluation of crime prevention 
programs which facilitates the delivery of future interventions.  In-depth and qualitative evaluations 
of crime prevention through social development programs offer opportunity to provide an analysis 
of long-term prevention effects. This level of analysis is useful for gaining detailed knowledge about 
the positive elements that can mediate or moderate exposure to risk factors.  

Information Sharing Among Crime Prevention Partners, Services and 
Referral Programs

All levels of government, law enforcement and the community require readily available access to 
credible information on crime prevention. Increased information sharing between organizations and 
partnerships may address the risk factors associated with crime such as treatment programs and 
facilities for mental health and addiction issues, temporary supportive housing and social activities. 
An example is Ontario 211 which is a free public information service that connects people with 
information, and provides access to over 56,000 community resources, social, health and related 
government services and programs. 

        21

Section 7 - Opportunities for Strengthening Crime 
Prevention in Ontario

                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Crime Prevention Education and Awareness 

Public education and awareness is an important tool for preventing crime and victimization.  Actions 
such as using social/commercial media to educate communities about how they can avoid being 
victimized or how to identify the early signs of risk factors for crime in an individual can go a long 
way.  Education and awareness campaigns can also play a strong role in enhancing the community’s 
understanding of the benefits of social development and crime prevention.  

Promising practices on rehabilitative programming for youth indicate that in order to ease a young 
person’s transition from custody to the community and to foster desistance from crime, the public 
and communities into which they are reintegrating need to be supportive. To that end, media can 
assist in changing public sentiments and misperceptions about the best way in which to deal with 
crime and victimization, thereby generating new ideas on how to make communities safer.

Publicizing crime prevention and social development through a variety of media channels can be an 
effective way to reach large target audiences quickly and persuasively.  In this respect, the internet, 
print and broadcast media could be utilized to educate the public on issues of crime prevention and 
to deliver important messages related to community safety. 

        22              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Section 8 - Ontario’s Way Forward

Ontarians generally look first to the police as credible authorities on crime and crime prevention issues.  
As a result, a large burden is placed on our police services to engage in community mobilization and 
crime prevention along with the traditional methods of crime control and law enforcement. While 
police play a strong and active role in responding to these expectations, building strong, healthy 
communities from the ground up requires a localized response and involvement of many partners.  

In response to this challenge, MCSCS in partnership with the OACP has undertaken the development 
of this booklet.  To date, the input received from many of our partners has been critical in exploring 
possibilities on how to move forward.  The objectives, pillars, guiding principles, and priority groups 
identified in this section have all been developed based on existing crime prevention strategies across 
Canada and internationally and on research findings.  These have been further refined to reflect 
Ontario’s unique needs after consultation with multiple stakeholders.  Gathering input and feedback 
from a variety of sources will be essential  and MCSCS will continue to engage municipalities and 
Aboriginal communities as we move forward.  

Objectives

• Strengthen sense of safety in communities across Ontario.

• Demonstrate provincial leadership in crime prevention and community wellness.

• Bring together various levels of government, police, community agencies, individual    
community members, business, educators and health care professionals to create an integrated 
approach to crime prevention.

• Ensure federal/provincial/municipal initiatives are complementary and aligned.

• Assist Ontario’s communities in developing their own, region-specific crime prevention/social 
development activities.

• Enhance community level involvement, ownership and control in the development and 
implementation of crime prevention activities.

• Identify priority areas and vulnerable groups affected by crime and target the socio-economic 
risk factors of crime and reduce the opportunity to commit crime.

        23                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Pillars

The pillars of a coordinated, multi-disciplinary approach to crime prevention. 

1. Prevention through Social Development by targeting risk factors associated with crime and 
victimization.

2. Prevention through Situational Measures by reducing opportunity to commit crime.

3. Prevention through Education and Awareness of all Ontarians, including building knowledge 
about local communities and their needs.  

4. Prevention through Community Policing 
by enhancing policing efforts and supporting 
police in their crime prevention activities. 

Guiding Principles

The guiding principles outline fundamental ways 
in which crime prevention can be undertaken.

Prevent crime through community leadership 
and a local approach  

• Each community is unique in its capabilities and needs. Communities are best placed to provide 
the most accurate and relevant information pertaining to their crime problems and can best create 
responses that are applicable to the specific needs of their region.   

• Through community leadership, citizens are given ownership and responsibility for creating safe 
communities and neighbourhoods by complementing current police work. 

• Community responsibility and engagement are essential aspects of developing and delivering 
effective crime prevention programs. 

• The localized approach strongly emphasizes that the existence of crime in a particular community 
is not solely the result of actions by a small number of individuals but is rather the interplay of 
a multitude of determinants present within communities. The goal is to identify how all citizens 
can contribute positively.  

“Many crime and community safety issues 
emerge	from	local,	specific	contexts	and	
thus are rightfully ‘owned’ at the community 
level. Communities experience crime 
problems	first	hand	and	thus	have	valuable	
knowledge that may be critical to the 
success of an intervention. Moreover, the 
long term success and sustainability of 
positive changes are seen as inextricably 
linked to the level of community 
involvement and ownership of strategies.”

- International Centre for the Prevention of 
Crime (2006)

        24              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Prevent crime through evidence and evaluation – based experience

• Evidence-based crime prevention refers to the collection of reliable and valid data that provide 
factual information regarding the effectiveness of crime prevention programs and/or policy. 

 
• Evaluation is a key component that should be built into all crime prevention programs so that 

effectiveness can be assessed. 

• Evidence-based crime prevention ensures that public funds are being spent on programs that 
actually work and allows decision makers to determine where funding should be allocated.  

Prevent crime by establishing integrated, multi-sectoral, multi-disciplinary responses and 
partnerships 

• Crime prevention cannot be undertaken by 
one agency or sector alone.  Crime prevention 
partnerships – formalized at the local level – 
are essential to coordinating efforts among 
the relevant sectors and disciplines, and 
ensuring that the risk factors associated with 
crime are attacked from every angle.

• There are numerous risk factors associated 
with crime – each of which is addressed 
by different agencies, sectors and areas 
of responsibility.  To ensure that a 
comprehensive approach is taken, each of these risk factors must be addressed by the various 
sectors and disciplines best suited to provide expertise.  Each of these sectors needs to be kept 
apprised of what has transpired with individual cases. 

• Evidence shows that police are most effective when their crime prevention efforts are combined 
with multi-sectoral collaborations.  Schools, governments, communities and numerous other key 
players all have vital roles to play. 

Preventing crime through sustainable responses

• Sustainable crime prevention creates lasting conditions, structures, programs and policies 
required to respond to crime and victimization.

“Partnerships are an integral part of 
effective crime prevention, given the wide-
ranging nature of the causes of crime and 
the skills and responsibilities required to 
address them. This includes partnerships 
working across ministries and between 
authorities, community organizations, non-
governmental organizations, the business 
sector and private citizens.”

- Institute for the Prevention of Crime 
(2008)

        25                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



• Risk factors that may contribute to crime did not emerge overnight.  It took years, decades 
and generations to develop. Similarly, building protective factors will not happen overnight.  
It will take years, decades and generations to develop these through sustained and long-term 
approaches to create safer communities in the long run.   

• Sustainable responses enable communities to build capacity and be prepared for crime.  Without 
sustainable, long-term programs in place, crime and victimization will come back. 

Prevent crime by increasing knowledge and sharing information among police, criminal justice 
and community agency partners

• A vast amount of information and knowledge exists on crime prevention efforts that are effective.  
Facilitating the sharing of this information allows communities to build capacity using existing 
resources, ideas and practices. 

• Information sharing allows for the development and delivery of programs and strategies that 
may be working well elsewhere, instead of dedicating resources to re-invent the wheel. 

• It is important to share information among agencies and partners about individuals who are 
at risk for offending. The more information that is shared, the greater the likelihood that the 
individual can be assessed and targeted by multiple sectors at multiple fronts, thereby building 
lasting protective factors. 

Prevent crime by recognizing the diversity of Ontarians

• Diversity refers to the differences in race, ethnicity, nationality, religion, gender, sexual identity, 
socioeconomic status, physical ability, language, beliefs, values, behavioural patterns, or customs 
among various groups within Ontario.  

• Ontario’s demography is diverse in many ways and is continually changing. Crime prevention 
approaches should develop and deliver programs, policies and strategies that recognize and 
apply to the diverse regions, populations and groups in Ontario.

• Ontario’s Aboriginal people have unique needs and capabilities.  These must be recognized, 
acknowledged, engaged and partnered with when developing and delivering crime policies and 
programs. 

        26              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Priority Groups 

There is a strong need to focus on three priority groups through the combined use of a social 
development and situational crime prevention approach:

a) children and youth; 
b) individuals convicted of a criminal offence, and
c) victims of crime.

Early Intervention with Children & Youth

The propensity to offend is significantly higher among one of our youngest demographic groups, with 
almost 50% of crime being committed by individuals between the ages 12-24.46  Research shows that 

15-18 is the peak age period for delinquent acts.47   

Although youth in Ontario represent only 23% 
of Ontario’s population, they account for 56% 
of those charged with a crime and 52% of those 
charged with a violent crime in 2007.48   

Most importantly, it has been found that the earlier the onset of criminal and delinquent behaviour, 
and the longer it is allowed to continue without effective intervention, the greater the likelihood that 
a child will go on to committing crime in adulthood. 

Both crime prevention theory and practice point to the fact that focusing on early intervention – that 
is, when problems often first begin to appear – is more effective in the long-term than responses that 
seek to address immediate issues.  Intervening at critical points in a child’s life ensures that they are 
offered positive opportunities to lead safe and productive lives into adulthood.49  

As such, there is a strong case to be made for early intervention.  The social development approach 
seeks to place a high value on early intervention which naturally applies to all children and youth in 
Ontario.  This must start at a young age.  

“Young men of 15 to 24 are the age group 
with the highest rate of offending and 
victimisation worldwide.”

- International Centre for the Prevention 
of Crime (2008)

“Identifying children and young people who are on the cusp of getting involved in offending is 
crucial in preventing them escalating rapidly into more serious crime, and in preventing them 
becoming victims of crime.  The success of early intervention depends on services recognising 
individual risk, discussing potential solutions in a multi-agency forum and responding in a co-
ordinated way.”

- United Kingdom Home Office (2008)
        27

                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Those Convicted of Criminal Offences

People convicted of a criminal offence do not necessarily receive a sentence that is served in a 
correctional facility. Of those that do, they come from our communities and most will return to 
our communities after serving their time in correctional institutions.  On any given day, provincial 
corrections in Ontario has approximately 8,500 people in custody and another 56,000 under 
community supervision (probation, conditional sentences, parole). There are some significant 
consequences – both from a financial and community safety point of view – to the unsuccessful 
reintegration of offenders into society. It is to each community’s benefit to assist in the successful 
reintegration of current and former offenders.  

A small number of people commit a disproportionately large number of crimes. Of those who 
have been convicted nearly 75% have had multiple prior convictions.50  As such, it is in society’s 
best interests to work with those who commit crime repeatedly. A key feature of successful crime 
prevention includes a focus on those who are responsible for committing crime repeatedly.

When offenders leave the correctional system and return to their communities, they face a vast 
number of pressing challenges including housing, employment, treatment and building pro-social 
networks.  Former offenders rely on the resources and services available in their community to 
successfully reintegrate. 

While offenders receive valuable treatment and 
intervention within the correctional system, 
a continuum of care that extends into the 
community and outside of the programming 
provided in correctional facilities is important. 
This should be provided collaboratively by 
the criminal justice system, health and social 
services, the offender’s family and/or friends, 

and community-based organizations.  In addition, the offender’s family often requires support to 
cope.  Parental/sibling criminality is often related to crime.  Working closely with the families of 
offenders is a key to preventing crime. 

“In the absence of material, psychological 
and social support at the time of their 
release,	offenders	may	have	a	very	difficult	
time breaking the cycle of release and re-
arrest.”

- International Centre for Criminal Law 
Reform and Criminal Justice Policy (2007)

        28
              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Victims

In 2004, 5% of the Canadian population reported being a victim of violent crime with one third 
reporting being victims more than once.51 Victimization can be attributed to various individual, 
environmental and social factors. There are a number of predictors that point to victimization, with 
age being one of the strongest. Individuals between the ages of 15 and 24 were 9 times more likely 
than those aged 55 and older to be victims of violent crime. Other personal characteristics such as 
being male, being single/separated/divorced, or having a low household income are also significant 
predictors.  It was also found that rates of violent victimization are 2½ times higher among Aboriginal 
people than the national rate.52  Many crimes victimize not only one individual but entire families 
and communities.  

In Ontario, 187 victim services agencies reported serving approximately 3,000 individuals in 
2005/06.  74% of these were female and 14% were male.  88% of those served were victims of crime 
against the person with 35% being victims of sexual assault.  Most victims of violent crime knew 
the offender with 70% victimized by a spouse, ex-spouse or intimate partner, 24% by another family 
member and 6% by a friend, acquaintance or stranger.53

Victimization is a risk factor for crime and further victimization and as such, examining victimization 
is an important part of crime prevention.  Studies show that there is a consistent link between 
juvenile offending and a history of violent victimization.54  Victimization can have severe financial, 
emotional and physical impacts on the actual victim, family and friends.  Focusing on victims of 
crime prevents re-victimization by identifying the factors that make some individuals/groups more 
susceptible than others. Victim Services organizations can contribute to developing a more accurate 
understanding of the factors that contribute to victimization allowing crime prevention activities to 
be targeted towards the areas of greatest need.  Reducing repeat victimization reduces re-offending 
and responding to victims requires a holistic approach.   
 

        29
                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Section 9 - The Next Phase

As outlined at the outset, the intention of the Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action 
booklet is to enhance and build upon the current crime prevention dialogue, knowledge, partnerships 
and efforts in Ontario and encourage communities to engage in crime prevention.  

The next step is to begin the consultation process with a view to developing a comprehensive crime 
prevention response to the crime issues faced by Ontario.

 

MCSCS welcomes your thoughts, comments and input on this document.  
These can be sent to:

Oscar Mosquera
Manager, Program Development Section
External Relations Branch
Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services 
25 Grosvenor Street 
Toronto ON M7A 2H3
416-314-3074
Oscar.Mosquera@ontario.ca

Navdeep Sidhu
Community Safety Analyst, Program Development 
Section
External Relations Branch
Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services
25 Grosvenor Street
Toronto ON M7A 2H3
416-314-3081 
Navdeep.Sidhu@ontario.ca

Amanda Martikainen
Grants	Officer,	Program	Development	Section
External Relations Branch
Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services
25 Grosvenor Street
Toronto ON M7A 2H3
416-212-3557
Amanda.Martikainen@ontario.ca

        30
              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Appendix 1: Risk and Protective Factors55

Level Risk Factors Protective Factors
Individual •	 A need for recognition and belonging

•	 Aggression
•	 Behavioral problems
•	 Difficult	temperament
•	 Early or precocious sexual activity
•	 Feeling of hopelessness
•	 Feeling of powerlessness
•	 Fetal Alcohol Syndrome
•	 Gender
•	 Impulsivity
•	 Involvement in the child welfare system
•	 Learning	difficulties
•	 Limited attachment to the community
•	 Low academic aspirations
•	 Low literacy
•	 Low self-esteem
•	 Negative	influences	in	the	youth’s	life	
•	 Negative labeling by teachers
•	 Over-reliance on anti-social peers
•	 Poor anger management
•	 Poor educational potential
•	 Poor employment potential
•	 Poor mental health
•	 Poor school performance
•	 Premature and low birth weight
•	 Pre-teen exposure to stress
•	 Prior delinquency
•	 Sense of alienation
•	 Sexual abuse
•	 Street socialization
•	 Violent victimization

•	 Average to above average intelligence
•	 Close friendships with positive peers
•	 Effective problem solving skills
•	 Optimism and positive expectations for future
•	 Participation in extracurricular activities
•	 Personal coping strategies
•	 Positive interpersonal skills
•	 Positive pro-social behaviors
•	 Positive relationship with an adult
•	 Positive school experiences
•	 Secure attachment with caregiver as infant
•	 Self	efficacy
•	 Self esteem
•	 Sense of responsibility

Family •	 Anti-social parents
•	 Failure to provide basic care/necessities
•	 Families with few resources
•	 Family mobility
•	 Family violence
•	 Mistreatment during childhood
•	 Neglect
•	 Parent and/or sibling criminality
•	 Parent’s	own	abuse/neglect	as	a	child
•	 Parents with substance abuse problems
•	 Parental attitudes that support violence
•	 Physical abuse and neglect
•	 Single parent family
•	 Teen parenthood
•	 Unstable family income
•	 Unsupportive/abusive spouses
•	 Young mother

•	 Adequate parental behavior and practices
•	 Adequate parental supervision
•	 Both parents involved in childcare
•	 Caregiver expectation of positive future for children
•	 Maternal employment and education
•	 Parental level of education
•	 Positive marriage
•	 Positive parent-child attachment and interactions 

Positive perceptions of mother
•	 Positive support within the family
•	 Presence	of	a	strong	father	or	mother	figure	in	

single parent families
•	 Relationship based on family bond
•	 Respect for friends by parents
•	 Stability of the family unit

        31
                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Level Risk Factors Protective Factors
Community •	 Availability	of	drugs	and	firearms

•	 Crime in the area
•	 Few or no positive role models
•	 Feeling unsafe in neighbourhood
•	 High concentration of poverty
•	 High residential mobility
•	 Lack of affordable housing
•	 Limited access to health care
•	 Neighbourhood characterized by poor 

housing, lack of recreational, health and 
educational facilities

•	 Peer pressure
•	 Poor community design
•	 Poor living facilities
•	 Poverty
•	 Presence of young offenders
•	 Presence of youth gangs
•	 Racism and marginalization

•	 Access to resources, professional services and 
social support

•	 Appropriate housing in close proximity to 
services

•	 Caring school environment
•	 High employment
•	 Integration of families into the life of the 

community
•	 Involvement in culturally-based activities
•	 Positive, cohesive communities
•	 Recreational facilities and programs for 

children and youth
•	 Relationships established with neighbours
•	 School activities involving the family

Societal •	 Cultural norms supporting violence
•	 In and out migration
•	 Lack of accessibility to a continuum of 

services
•	 Lack of accessible, affordable child care
•	 Negative messaging in the media
•	 Social disorganization – e.g. high poverty and 

residential mobility
•	 Traditional gender roles

•	 High awareness of determinants of well-being
•	 Low social tolerance of violence
•	 Strong social awareness of maltreatment
•	 Supportive social policies, including:

•	 Child allowances
•	 Child care
•	 Education
•	 Housing	benefits
•	 Job sharing
•	 Parental leaves
•	 Prenatal and postnatal supports
•	 Universal health care

Systemic •	 Low level of public trust in police/justice system 
•	 Low level of perceived police/justice system 

legitimacy, i.e., inequitable access to the system, 
lack of transparency 

•	 Ineffectiveness of police/justice system in carrying 
out its full mandate 

•	 Ineffectiveness of police/justice system in 
engaging/mobilizing/partnering with community

•	 High level of public trust in police/justice system 
•	 High level of justice system transparency; equal 

access to criminal justice system services. 
•	 Effective/efficient	delivery	of	police/justice	system	

services
•	 Strong police/justice system engagement/

partnerships with community

        32
              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



Endnotes

1 http://www.ontario.ca/en/about_ontario/EC001035?openNav=people_and_culture

2 Statistics Canada. 2006. Population and Dwelling Count Highlight Tables, 2006 Census (table). Canadian Statistics. Last updated 
July 8, 2009. http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/dp-pd/hlt/97-550/Index.cfm?TPL=P1C&Page=RETR&LA 
NG=Eng&T=101 (accessed April 30, 2010)

 3 Statistics Canada. 2006. Canada’s Ethnocultural Mosaic, 2006 Census: Provinces and Territories. Statistics Canada Catalogue
no. 97-562-XIE2006001. Ottawa. No Date. Analysis Series, 2006 Census. http://www12.statcan.ca/census-recensement/2006/
assa/97-562/p13-eng.cfm (accessed April 30, 2010).

 4 Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services. (2008). A Safe Strong Secure Ontario (MCSCS) Strategic Plan 2008-
2013. http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/stellent/groups/public/@mcscs/@www/@com/documents/webasset/ ec069601.pdf

5 Ministry of Aboriginal Affairs. (2011). Aboriginal People. Retrieved from http://www.aboriginalaffairs.gov.on.ca/english/services/
datasheets/Aboriginal.pdf

6 Statistics Canada. 2009. Measuring Crime in Canada: Introducing the Crime Severity Index and Improvements to the Uniform 
Crime Reporting Survey. [85-004-X.][Ottawa.] http://www.statcan.gc.ca/access_acces/alternative_alternatif.
action?teng=85-004-x2009001-eng.pdf&tfra=85-004-x2009001-fra.pdf&l=eng&loc=../85-004-x2009001-eng.pdf 

7 General Social Survey – Cycle 13: Personal Safety and Perceptions of Policing (August 2001) Statistics Canada [page 11]

 8 Statistics Canada. 2011. Police Reported Crime Statistics in Canada, 2010. [http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-002-x/2011001/
article/11523-eng.htm]

 9 Statistics Canada. (2004). General Social Survey. Ottawa.
 
10 Statistics Canada. 2008. Family Violence in Canada: A Statistical Profile [85-224.] [Ottawa.]www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-224-x/85-
224-x2008000-eng.pdf
 
 11 Statistics Canada. 2011. Family Violence in Canada: A Statistical Profile [85-224.] [Ottawa] http://www.statcan.
gc.ca/pub/85-224-x/85-224-x2010000-eng.htm

 12 Statistics Canada. 2011. Family Violence in Canada: A Statistical Profile [85-224.] [Ottawa] http://www.statcan.
gc.ca/pub/85-224-x/85-224-x2010000-eng.htm

 13 Ministry of Transportation. (2010). Impaired Driving Fact Sheets. Retrieved from http://www.mto.gov.on.ca/english/safety/ 
impaired/fact-sheet.shtml

14 Statistics Canada. 2011. Police-reported crime statistics in Canada, 2010. [85-002.] [Ottawa] http://www.statcan. gc.ca/pub/85-
002-x/2011001/article/11523-eng.htm#a5

15 Statistics Canada. 2011. Police-reported hate crime in Canada, 2009. [85-002.] [Ottawa.] http://www.statcan.gc.ca/ pub/85-
002-x/2011001/article/11469-eng.htm#a11

 16 OACP. 2007. Out of the Shadows: An Overview of Organized Crime in Ontario.

 17 Public Safety Canada. (2008). Bullying Prevention: Nature and Extent of Bullying in Canada (BP-01). Retrieved from http://
www.publicsafety.gc.ca/res/cp/res/2008-bp-01-eng.aspx

        33
                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



 18 Centre for Addiction and Mental Health. 2004. The Mental Health and Well-being of Ontario Students. Retrieved from: http://
www.camh.net/News_events/News_releases_and_media_advisories_and_backgrounders/OSDUS2003_Mental_Health%20Report_
Detailed.pdf

19 Taylor-Butts, A and Angela Bressan. 2006. Youth Crime in Canada, 2006. [85-002-XIE, v.28, no.3.] [Ottawa.] Statistics Canada.
http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-002-x/85-002-x2008003-eng.pdf
 
20 Erickson, Patricia G. and Jennifer E. Butters. 2006. “Final Report: Youth, Weapons and Violence in Toronto and Montreal.”
Report prepared for Public Safety & Emergency Preparedness Canada. Ottawa: Public Safety Canada.

 21 Dauvergne, M. 2010. Knives and violent crime in Canada, 2008. [85-002-X.] [Ottawa.] Statistics Canada. April 2010. http://
www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85-002-x/2010001/article/11146-eng.pdf

 22 RCMP. 2006. Feature Focus: Youth Gangs and Guns. [Ottawa]. http://www.rcmp-grc.gc.ca/pubs/yg-ja/gangs-bandes-eng.pdf

 23 Astwood Strategy Corporation. 2004. 2002 Canadian Police Survey on Youth Gangs. Ottawa: Public Safety and Emergency
Preparedness Canada.

 24 Ambitious Outsiders: The Evolution of Criminal Gangs and the Emergence of the Contemporary Street Gang by the Criminal
Intelligence Service of Ontario.

 25 Astwood Strategy Corporation. 2004. 2002 Canadian Police Survey on Youth Gangs. Ottawa: Public Safety and Emergency
Preparedness Canada.

 26 Ambitious Outsiders: The Evolution of Criminal Gangs and the Emergence of the Contemporary Street Gang by the Criminal
Intelligence Service of Ontario.

 27 Criminal Intelligence Service Canada. 2009. Report on Organized Crime. [Ottawa.] http://www.cisc.gc.ca/annual_ reports/
annual_report_2009/document/report_oc_2009_e.pdf

 28 Public Safety Canada. 2006. Working Together to Combat Organized Crime: A Public Report on Actions under the National
Agenda to Combat Organized Crime. Ottawa: Public Safety Canada.

29  DEA, FBI and RCMP. 2006. Canada/US Organized Crime Threat Assessment. www.publicsafety.gc.ca/prg/le/ _.../2006_
Canada-US_OC-TA_en.pdf

 30 Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services. (2008). A Safe Strong Secure Ontario (MCSCS) Strategic Plan 2008-
2013. http://www.mcscs.jus.gov.on.ca/stellent/groups/public/@mcscs/@www/@com/ documents/webasset/ ec069601.pdf

 31 OACP. 2007. Out of the Shadows: An Overview of Organized Crime in Ontario. http://www.oacp.ca/upload5/news/C% 20ON_
OC_2007%20v20070622%20-%20Allows%20printing.pdf

 32 Statistics Canada. 2008. Incarceration of Aboriginal people in adult correctional services. [Ottawa.] http://www.statcan.gc.ca/
daily-quotidien/090721/t090721b1-eng.htm

 33 Public Safety Canada. Risk Factors for Aboriginal Offenders. Research Summary Vol 11. No 5. September 2006. http://www.
publicsafety.gc.ca/res/cor/sum/cprs200609_1-eng.aspx

 34 Ibid

        34
              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



 35 Ministere de la securite publique. 2001. Departmental Crime Prevention Policy: Making our Communities Safer for Everyone. 
www.bibliotheque.assnat.qc.ca/01/MONO/2006/02/674660.pdf

36 NCPC. (2007). A Blueprint for Effective Crime Prevention. [Ottawa] Public Safety Canada.
http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/prg/cp/_fl /ncps-blu-prin-eng.pdf

37 Zhang, T. (2011). Costs of crime in Canada, 2008. Ottawa, ON: Research & Statistics Division, Department of Justice Canada

38 Dooling, Anjana (2009) ‘Crime Prevention Pays Why stopping crime before it happens saves us all’. Crime Prevention Ottawa
[Ottawa, ON]

39  Institute for the Prevention of Crime (2009) Making Cities Safer: Action Briefs for Municipal Stakeholders.[Ottawa:ON]

40  Roche, J., Petrunka, K., & Peters, R. DeV. (2008). Investing in Our Future: Highlights of Better Beginnings, Better Futures
Research Findings at Grade 9. Kingston, ON: Better Beginnings, Better Futures Research Coordination Unit.

 41 Jones, D et al. (2008). The Economic Return on PCCD’s Investment in Research-based Programs: A Cost-Benefi t Assessment 
of Delinquency Prevention in Pennsylvania. The Prevention Research Centre for the Promotion of Human Development.

 42 Statistics Canada. 2004. General Social Survey on Victimization, Cycle 18: An Overview of Findings. [85-565-XIE.] http://
dsppsd.pwgsc.gc.ca/Collection/Statcan/85-565-X/85-565-XIE2005001.pdf

 43 Boyer E., McCaslin, W. First Nations: Communities at Risk and in Crisis: Justice and Security. Journal of Aboriginal Health,
November 2009.

 44 Ibid.

 45 Ontario Association of Chiefs of Police Community Policing Committee (2010) Community Policing Model.

 46 NCPC. 2009. Supporting the Successful Implementation of the National Crime Prevention Strategy. [PS4-74/2009E-PDF.]
Public Safety Canada. http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/res/cp/res/_fl /ssincps-amosnpc-eng.pdf

 47 Canadian Council on Social Development and Canadian Criminal Justice Association. 1989. CPSD: A Discussion Paper for
Policy makers and Practitioners. http://www.ccsd.ca/cpsd/ccsd/pdf/cptsd1984.pdf

 48 McMurtry, R. and Alvin Curling. 2008. Roots of Youth Violence. http://www.rootsofyouthviolence.on.ca

 49 The John Howard Society of Alberta. 1995. Crime Prevention Through Social Development: A Literature Review. http://www.
johnhoward.ab.ca/pub/pdf/C6.pdf

50 Griffiths, C.T., Dandurand, Y, and Danielle Murdoch. 2007. The Social Reintegration of Offenders and Crime Prevention.
NCPC. http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/res/cp/res/_fl /soc-reint-eng.pdf

 51 Samuel Perreault, Julie Sauvé, and Mike Burns (2009) Multiple Victimization in Canada, 2004. C a n adian Centre for Justice
Statistics Profi le Series (Ottawa, ON) http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/85f0033m/85f0033m2010022-eng.pdf

52 Karen Mihorean, Sandra Besserer, Dianne Hendrick, Jodi-Anne Brzozowski, Catherine Trainor and Stacie Ogg (2001) A
Profile of Criminal Victimization: Results of the 1999 General Social Survey. Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics Profile Series
(Ottawa, ON).

       35
                                                                                                                                      Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action



53 Suzanne Tremblay and Sylvain de Leseleuc (2007) Victim Services in Canada: National, Provincial and Territorial Fact 
Sheets, 2005/2006. Canadian Centre for Justice Statistics (Ottawa ON).

54 Chen, Xiaojin. (2009) The Link Between Juvenile Offending and Victimization. Tulane University (New Orleans, LA).

55 National Crime Prevention Centre (2008) Family Based Risk and Protective Factors and Their Effects on Juvenile 
Delinquency. (Ottawa, ON) http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/res/cp/res/rpf-jd-eng.aspx#a1; 
National Crime Prevention Centre (2007) Youth Gang Involvement: What Are the Risk Factors? (Ottawa, ON)
http://www.publicsafety.gc.ca/prg/cp/bldngevd/2007-yg-2-eng.aspx#s2; 
Alex Sutherland, Simon Merrington, Sarah Jones and Kerry Baker with Colin Roberts (2005) Role of Risk and Protective 
Factors. Youth Justice Board (Wales); 
MCSCS (2010) Canadian Provincial/Territorial Crime Prevention Jurisdictional Scan. (Toronto, ON)

              Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action





COMMUNITY SAFETY 
AND WELL-BEING 
IN ONTARIO

A Snapshot of Local Voices

Booklet 2



Message from the Minister    .....................................................................................

Message from the President of the Ontario Association of Chiefs of Police     ........

Section 1 - Introduction     .........................................................................................

Section 2 - Methodology     .......................................................................................

Section 3 - Locally-Identified Challenges   ...............................................................

Section 4 - Locally-Identified Promising Practices     ...............................................

Section 5 - Ontario’s Way Forward    ........................................................................

Table of Contents

1

2

3

4

6

15

34



Local involvement and input from Ontario communities is critical 
for successful community safety and well-being practices across 
Ontario and is the foundation of this snapshot. 

Throughout 2013, staff from the Ministry of Community Safety 
and Correctional Services travelled across the province and 
visited with a number of different communities to build upon 
current crime prevention dialogue and to learn about locally-
identified promising practices, as well as community challenges.  
My sincere appreciation goes out to those communities who 
participated.  

During the engagement process it became evident that a shift has 
occurred in the way organizations and communities look at crime 
prevention.  More than ever, different sectors are advocating for 
collaboration and integration across all human service sectors to 
effectively and efficiently address the root causes of crime and 
social disorder, and increase safety and well-being in Ontario.

I am pleased to see meaningful collaboration on community 
safety and well-being initiatives taking place across the province, and I encourage all sectors to continue working 
together to build a stronger and safer Ontario.

Honourable Yasir Naqvi
Minister of Community Safety and Correctional Services

Message from the Minister

                                                1                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



Message from the President of the Ontario 
Association of Chiefs of Police

Building safe, healthy communities is a goal that all Ontarians 
share.  Individuals from all walks of life agree that when we 
work together to prevent crime and victimization and increase 
community safety and well-being, the result is a better quality 
of life for everyone.  That is why Ontario’s police leaders are 
strongly committed to working with government and community 
partners to develop crime prevention, community safety and well-
being practices that work for all Ontarians. 

This document highlights dialogue among community members 
facilitated by the Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional 
Services in 2013.  During these discussions, community members 
brought forward issues and priorities, and local promising practices 
in their communities.  It is evident that Ontarian’s care deeply 
about crime prevention and having strong, healthy communities.  
Dialogue and collaboration are powerful tools, which is why this 
document is so important.

I hope you will take the time to read what members of the 
community had to say and consider how you can become involved in building a stronger Ontario.  As police 
leaders, members of the Ontario Association of Chiefs of Police are acutely aware that our success in preventing 
crime and increasing community safety and well-being depends on our collaboration with Ontario’s diverse 
communities.  Police cannot do it alone, and together we can make a difference in the lives of the people of our 
great province.

Thank you for your interest in crime prevention and building strong and healthy communities.  Let’s continue to 
work together to build a safe and healthy Ontario.

Chief Jennifer Evans
President, Ontario Association of Chiefs of Police

                  Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                                 2



Setting the Stage 

The Ministry of Community Safety and Correctional Services (Ministry) has been working with federal, provincial 
and municipal partners and local community stakeholders to develop a provincial approach to increase community 
safety and well-being.  

The dialogue initially used the terminology “crime prevention” which has traditionally been seen as mainly a 
police responsibility.  But it is clear that Ontario communities recognize the essential leadership roles played 
by a wide variety of sectors.  Part of this clarity comes from the understanding that while those in the policing 
sector tend to use the phrase “crime prevention”, educators may identify “safe schools” and health professionals 
may focus on the “social determinants of health”.  What these sectors are all referring to, in their own way, is 
community safety and well-being.  As a result, the provincial dialogue has been refocused. 

The Ministry encourages communities to move away from relying solely on reactionary and incident driven 
responses, and implement social development practices by identifying and responding to risks that increase the 
likelihood of criminal activity, victimization or harm, and working together to build local capacity and strong 
networks to implement proactive measures.  

The provincial approach requires integrated community leadership and the flexibility to be responsive to local 
circumstances, needs and priorities.  In order to plan for the future, community safety and well-being must be 
a shared commitment that is grounded in local leadership, meaningful multi-sectoral collaboration and must 
include responses that are community focused, rooted in evidence and outcome-based.

Purpose

Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices has been written as a follow-up to the 
Crime Prevention in Ontario: A Framework for Action (Framework for Action), which was released broadly in 
2012.  The Framework for Action was the first booklet in this series, and was developed to raise awareness and 
promote the benefits of community safety and well-being among Ontario communities.  

As local input from Ontario is a critical component to the success of the provincial approach, this second booklet 
is based entirely on information gathered from communities across the province.  

This booklet is intended to act as an additional resource for local communities.  It highlights locally-identified 
challenges to community safety and well-being that are shared across communities and locally-identified 
promising practices that respond to noted challenges.  It also sheds light on Ontario’s way forward in strengthening 
community safety and well-being on a sustainable basis and introduces the Ministry’s third and final booklet in 
this series which will take the shape of a framework for community safety and well-being planning.

Section 1 - Introduction

                                                3                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



Community Engagement Sessions 

As community engagement is vital to the success of the provincial approach, the Ministry worked with its inter-
ministerial, policing and community partners throughout 2013 to organize and facilitate over 30 engagement 
sessions in urban, rural, remote and Aboriginal communities across the province.  Ministry staff travelled as far 
north as Eabametoong, as far south as Kingsville, as far west as Kenora and as far east as Cornwall.  

As this booklet is based entirely on information gathered from the community engagement sessions it is important 
to note that the information included is a reflection of some of these community voices, and is not intended to 
represent the perspectives of all Ontario communities, or the policy or position of the Ministry or Government of 
Ontario.  In addition, the locally-identified promising practices highlighted in this booklet have not been evaluated 
by, and are not endorsed by the Ministry or Government of Ontario.  

Structure and Design 

The community engagement sessions were structured to provide an opportunity for the Ministry to inform 
participants on the Framework for Action and initiate open-ended dialogue to learn about community safety and 
well-being needs, challenges, gaps and locally-identified promising practices. The sessions were intended to 
engage community members about their roles in community safety and well-being, and identify the shared benefits 
that can be realized from undertaking multi-sectoral approaches.  The Ministry’s local policing and community 
partners volunteered, through various methods, to host a multi-sectoral community engagement session.  Further 
outreach was conducted locally to allow for a wide variety of perspectives and feedback. Individuals in attendance 
included, but were not limited to, representatives from municipal governments, police services and police services 
boards, community and social services, schools and school boards, the academic community, health and mental 
health, corrections and youth justice, Band Councils and First Nations, the private sector and the general public.  
The number of participants varied from community to community, and ranged from 15 – 80 individuals, with an 
average of approximately 30 community members per session. 

Collecting and Selecting Information 

The local challenges and promising practices identified by participants at the community engagement sessions were 
documented.  Information regarding local challenges was reviewed and analyzed to identify common occurrences 
across sectors and communities.  The promising practices were also reviewed and validated by community 
leads.  Practices (including programs, strategies and initiatives) were qualitatively assessed for alignment with 
the following six foundational principles to achieve community safety and well-being, and those highlighted 
demonstrate strengths with at least one: 

Section 2 - Methodology

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                               4



•  Diversity;
•  Community leadership; 
•  Integrated, multi-sectoral, multi-disciplinary partnerships; 
•  Knowledge and information sharing; 
•  Evidence and evaluation; and
•  Sustainable responses.

Methodological Limitations 

The sample is limited.  The locally-identified challenges and promising practices highlighted within this 
booklet are self-reported, time-limited and the amount of local information communicated at each community 
engagement session varied.  The comments made by those in attendance at the sessions are not attributed to specific 
stakeholders, sectors or communities; rather, the information gathered is a reflection of some community voices.  
The information received and validated by community leads on their locally-identified promising practices varied 
in detail and complexity, and the qualitative assessment was based on this information.  

                                                5                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



Section 3 - Locally-Identified Challenges

Participants at the community engagement sessions spoke about their local community safety and well-being 
challenges from a wide variety of perspectives.  Some tried to capture the overarching needs of the community, 
while others spoke as individuals and identified specific challenges that impact them personally.  Conversely, 
some participants spoke on behalf of the particular organization for which they work or volunteer and others 
from the perspective of the broader sector to which those organizations belong.  Despite the wide variety of 
perspectives, many common challenges were highlighted by various participants, across multiple sectors and 
communities.  More specifically, the challenges mentioned most often at the engagement sessions relate to the 
following four themes:

•  Collaboration;
•  Service gaps;
•  Service accessibility; and
•  Resources and sustainability.

This section includes references to some of the locally-identified promising practices noted at the community 
engagement sessions, as well as current Ontario government programs that may assist with addressing some of 
the above noted challenges.

Collaboration

The benefits of collaboration were acknowledged by many communities at the engagement sessions, but not 
without mention of the following significant challenges they face when attempting to build and maintain effective 
partnerships:

•  Silos;
•  Information sharing; and
•  Community empowerment.

Some communities noted that service providers often work in isolation, otherwise known as silos.  This creates 
divisions not only between sectors, but also between providers working within the same sector.  A few communities 
indicated that silos are often reinforced by funding systems that compel agencies to compete with one another, 
making them less likely to initiate partnerships or share information.  Additionally, many communities identified 
difficulties building partnerships with specific sectors.  However, the sectors identified differed across communities, 
indicating that a few key agencies or individuals representing these sectors may need to be engaged at the local 
level. 

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                                6



While the absence of a partnership does not necessarily prevent 
the flow of information between sectors, it may create additional 
challenges.  It logically follows that when relationships are 
strengthened, collaborators operate as partners and tend to 
be more comfortable sharing information.  Even in instances 
where established partnerships exist, other factors may still 
prevent sectors from sharing information.  

A few communities suggested that legislative amendments are 
needed in order for sectors to effectively collaborate and share 
information, while others have found innovative ways to work within the existing legislative framework.  In 
some instances, legislation may appear to prohibit sectors from sharing information among themselves and/or 
across sectors in order to protect their clients’ privacy rights.  However, some pieces of legislation are specifically 
designed to enable sectors to share information in order to avoid risk-driven incidents from occurring.  The 
inconsistencies sometimes result in sectors choosing to simply err on the side of caution when it comes to privacy. 

While partnership building and information sharing are concepts often associated with a more formalized level of 
collaboration, the need for informal collaboration among community members and groups was also acknowledged 
at many community engagement sessions.  It is generally understood that members of a community should not 
simply report a crime once it has occurred, but should also be actively engaged in its prevention.  It was noted that 
some of the most successful community safety and well-being initiatives are often led by community members and 
groups.  A few communities indicated, however, that their members do not feel empowered to make a difference 
in their community and sometimes rely on professionals such as the police and other service providers to assume 
responsibility for the community’s safety and well-being. Additionally, some community members that become 
engaged may find it challenging to make the time to volunteer on a consistent, ongoing basis.  Other communities 
identified their successes and highlighted the emergence of grassroots initiatives in which mobilized community 
members seek to encourage and empower other citizens to engage in positive community-building activities.  

Ontario communities have implemented 
community safety and well-being practices that 
work within the existing legislative framework 
and one such example includes the Rapid 
Mobilization Table.  This is an example of a 
Situation Table that uses a four-filter approach 
to share information.  More information on this 
approach is described in detail on pages 25 
and 26.

The Ontario Working Group on Collaborative, Risk-Driven Community Safety (OWG), a co-operative effort of the 
Ministry, various Ontario police services and their community partners, have developed An Interpretive Guide to 
Information Sharing Practices in Ontario…within the Context of Collaborative, Risk-driven Community Safety and 
Well-being.  It focuses exclusively on some of the challenges inherent in exchanging personal and confidential 
information to address the immediate needs of those at risk of harm or victimization.  The guide was made available 
through the Ontario Association of Chiefs of Police (OACP) in July 2014, as part of a collection of documents entitled 
New Directions in Community Safety: Consolidated Lessons Learned about Risk and Collaboration.  The entire 
collection is available online at the following website: http://www.oacp.on.ca/news-events/resource-documents/ontario-
working-group-owg.  

                                                7                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



Shifting the dialogue from preventing crime to achieving 
community safety and well-being certainly makes the 
conversation more accessible to a broader audience.  But, with 
more voices and perspectives, come new challenges.  After 
identifying respective roles in achieving community safety and 
well-being, community members and local service providers 
are encouraged to consider how their roles relate, overlap and complement one another to ensure meaningful 
collaboration.  The engagement sessions provided the opportunity for the Ministry to build new relationships 
with, and between, multiple service providers, and helped to increase collaboration at the local level.  While 
recognizing these challenges, communities continue to work together to address these barriers and some are 
finding great collaborative success.  

Service Gaps

Participants at the community engagement sessions identified service gaps particular to their needs; some of those 
mentioned were highly specific and not shared across communities.  Common service gaps were also identified 
in several locations, often by multiple sectors, including:

•  Mental health;
•  Poverty, homelessness and economic opportunities; and
•  Youth.

The local priority most frequently identified at the community engagement sessions was mental health.  
Communities identified mental health issues as a 
significant risk factor that can lead individuals to 
either engage in crime, social disorder incidents or 
activities and/or become victims of crime.  Some 
communities noted that a significant service gap 
exists in this area.  In addition, some communities 
also highlighted the need for more services, such 
as enhancing emergency response by ensuring 
the presence of trained mental health specialists, 
for individuals with mental health needs.  A few 
communities specifically spoke about the need 
for additional resources for youth with mental 
health needs, to provide services early on in life.  
Some communities also noted that addictions and 
substance abuse create additional challenges for 
those with mental health needs.     

East Side Pride and Our West End Initiative 
are two examples of grassroots organizations 
currently in operation in Ontario.  More 
information can be found on page 16. 

To address the priority of mental health, one Ontario 
community has established a multi-disciplinary Community 
Outreach and Support Team to provide integrated and 
coordinated responses to individuals with mental health 
needs who are in crisis.  The sectors involved include police 
and mental health.  More information about this team can be 
found on page 20.

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                                8

The Ministry has used this information to select “Prevention 
Through the Promotion of Mental Health” as the theme for 
the 2014/15 – 2015/16 Safer and Vital Communities (SVC) 
Grant.  This grant provides funding to community-based, 
not-for-profit, incorporated organizations and First Nations’ 
Chiefs and Band Councils to develop and deliver community 
safety and well-being initiatives.  More information about this 
grant and other grants can be found at www.ontario.ca.   



Many communities also identified poverty and homelessness as contributing factors to crime and victimization, 
and recognize the need for adequate, affordable and stable housing.  It was suggested that more services are 
needed, and should be targeted to those who face the greatest risk of homelessness.  Some communities identified 
their vulnerable, at-risk populations as youth, people newly released from custody/jail and individuals with 
mental health needs.  Individuals falling into more than one of these groups, such as a youth in conflict with the 
law with mental health needs may face even greater challenges with achieving adequate housing.  In addition, 
some communities highlighted a lack of employment related opportunities and/or a need for more education and 
employment programs for youth and people newly released from custody/jail. 

Overall, the most common priority group identified 
at the community engagement sessions as requiring 
additional services was youth.  A few communities 
noted the negative impacts of social media, including 
cyberbullying, and other communities expressed 
concern with the issue of youth suicide.  Some 
communities indicated that more programming 
is required to support positive parenting and 
preventative counselling services related to 
domestic violence and healthy relationships, as well 
as early childhood development. Other 
communities made reference to the need for more 
programming for seniors to provide opportunities 
to connect with youth in an attempt to reduce 
intergenerational gaps. 

A community has responded to the need for healthy 
relationship programming by assisting school boards to 
implement an interactive classroom curriculum specifically 
for youth called The Fourth R.  The Fourth R aims to 
reduce dating violence by teaching youth about healthy 
relationships.  Further details about this program can be 
found on page 33. 

Some communities have responded to the need for early 
childhood development by implementing a program for 
children in their early years called Stop Now And Plan 
(SNAP), which helps to regulate angry feelings by getting 
participants to stop, think and plan positive alternatives 
before acting impulsively.  For additional information on this 
program refer to pages 27 and 28. 

The provincial government also offers funding through the Seniors Community Grant for projects that encourage 
greater social inclusion, volunteerism and community engagement for seniors across the province.  This grant is open 
to non-profit seniors’ organizations, local service boards, municipalities, Aboriginal groups and individuals representing 
seniors groups.  More information about this grant and other grants can be found at www.ontario.ca.  

In recognition of the fact that many individuals and families experiencing homelessness often face complex and co-
occurring challenges related to mental health, addictions and poverty, one Ontario community has implemented a 
Community Addiction Response Strategy.  This strategy uses a collaborative community-based approach to assist 
individuals and families experiencing homelessness to achieve stable housing.  More information about this strategy 
can be found on page 24.

                                                9                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



Although it is important for communities to assess their own specific service gaps to help identify local priorities, 
by sharing common service gaps communities have an opportunity to work together and learn from one another 
when attempting to address common gaps.

Service Accessibility

Service accessibility is an important consideration in addressing a community’s priority service gaps.  At the 
community engagement sessions, many communities identified a lack of access to existing programs and services 
as a significant challenge.  Communities acknowledged the following reasons for their accessibility issues:

•  Lack of knowledge, awareness and coordination;
•  Waitlists;
•  Location and transportation; and
•  Low uptake of services.

One reason that creates service accessibility challenges 
that was noted by many communities is a lack of 
knowledge and awareness about existing programs and 
services.  In many instances, up-to-date information 
is not readily available, making it more difficult for 
people to access services on their own and impacting 
the ability of agencies to make referrals to other 
available services.  This lack of awareness may be a 
contributing factor to the overall lack of coordination 

Some Ontario communities have also responded to the need for parenting programs and have implemented:

• Strengthening Families for the Future, which aims to facilitate change within the family, and can be found on 
pages 30 and 31; 

• Caring Dads, which seeks to improve fathers’ parenting skills, and can be found on pages 22 and 23; and 
• the Triple P - Positive Parenting Program (Triple P), that aims to prevent and treat problems in the family, school 

and community before they arise, and can be found on page 28.  

The provincial government offers Parents Reaching Out Grants to support parents in identifying barriers to community 
engagement, and to find local solutions to become more involved in supporting student achievement and well-being.  
Grant recipients may include school councils, parent organizations and involvement committees, publicly funded 
school boards, non-profit organizations and post-secondary institutions operating in Ontario.  More information about 
this grant and other grants can be found at www.ontario.ca.   

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                              10

Some Ontario communities have acknowledged the 
need for better coordination among human service 
providers and in response have implemented community 
safety and well-being practices with that intention.  
Some examples include New Opportunities and Hope 
Supportive Partnerships Advocating Community 
Empowerment (page 17) and Situation Tables (pages 19, 
20, 25 and 26).



among services that was referenced by several communities.  It was suggested that better coordination among 
human service providers would make it easier for people to connect with the supports they need, and help to avoid 
service duplication across agencies. 

Many communities also identified lengthy waitlists as a 
significant barrier to accessing existing programs and services.  
In some instances, it was noted that programs and services may 
be reactive rather than preventative, meaning that, for example, 
priority may be given to those who have already come into 
contact with the law.  Additionally, a few communities indicated 
that the limited hours during which some services are available 
(e.g., weekdays and during standard business hours) can affect 
an individual’s ability to access the appropriate services when 
they are needed.  It was suggested that extending and expanding 
service hours to include evenings, weekends and/or holidays could help to improve service accessibility.

Generally, communities also cited location as a barrier to service accessibility.  Many communities indicated that 
people must travel out of the region to access certain programs and services.  Often services exist in central, urban 
locations, leaving parts of the community un-served or under-served.  This can be of particular concern when the 
under-served areas overlap with the high risk areas of the community, which are home to vulnerable individuals 
and groups who most need the services.  Many communities also indicated that there are challenges related to 
accessing transportation to services.  In some communities there is a lack of available transportation to service 
locations, while in other communities transportation is available, but too costly.  A few communities suggested 
partnering with local service clubs to respond to local transportation needs. 

It was noted that even in instances where it appears that programs and services are both available and accessible, 
low uptake of services can present a significant challenge.  People may not be accessing services on a consistent 
and/or continuous basis and, therefore, programs and services may not be achieving the intended results.  This 
issue is of particular concern when uptake is low or infrequent among those who most need the programs and 
services being offered, such as high risk vulnerable populations.  It was suggested that better outreach strategies 
are needed in some communities.         

One community has implemented an 
innovative program that aims to address the 
issue of lengthy waitlists, specifically for at-risk 
youth. Youth Outreach Under 18 Response 
Services provides short-term support for 
youth aged 12 to 18 years old who exhibit 
risk factors often associated with crime and 
victimization.  More information about this 
program can be found on pages 18 and19.

                                                11                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



It is clear that simply establishing a program or a service is not enough to ensure that all members of a community 
who require the program or service can and will access them.  Reasons for service accessibility issues are varied 
and the complexity of the causes suggests that multi-dimensional solutions are required.  

Resources and Sustainability

A contributing factor to the overall availability and accessibility of services identified by communities may 
be related to their challenges with ensuring the sustainability of the programs and services offered. Generally, 
communities indicated that current resources are either insufficient or unsustainable due to challenging:

•  Funding structures; 
•  Funding criteria; and
•  Limited evaluation.

Specific challenges were identified with the structure of grant 
funding.  Grants often have specific criteria that outline the areas 
in which funding can be spent.  In some instances, funding may 
only be used for program start-up costs, rather than for on-going 
operations such as staffing or evaluation.  Other grant criteria 
can also make it difficult for communities to target funding 
towards locally-identified priorities if they are unrelated to the 
priorities of the funding organization.  Failure to abide by grant 
funding criteria may result in a loss of funding.  Many grants 
are short-term, which means that grant recipients must either develop programs that fit within the timeframe 
for funding, or find ways to adapt and continue the program with other resources once the grant has finished.  
Additionally, knowledge and awareness of some grants may be low and as a result, potential recipients may miss 
opportunities to access funding.  
   
Some communities also noted that it can be challenging to meet the expectations placed on grant recipients.  If 
a program is funded through multiple grants from more than one source, reporting and other expectations are 
multiplied and can be difficult to manage for some community organizations.  In a few instances, communities 
indicated that recipients are required to provide a substantial amount of information, sometimes related to the 
resources to be used to implement the program, or evaluation of the model upon which the program is based.  

In response to the overwhelming 
sustainability concerns identified at the 
community engagement sessions, the 
Ministry extended the term of the SVC 
Grant from one to two years, for the period 
of 2014/15 – 2015/16, in order to support 
the sustainability of initiatives funded.  More 
information about this grant and other grants 
can be found at www.ontario.ca. 

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                               12



Fulfilling these requirements can be particularly challenging 
if recipients are utilizing the funding to initiate pilot projects 
that aim to test out an innovative, new approach.  Overall, 
there is a significant need for a coordinated funding system 
which both streamlines administrative requirements and 
ensures the accountability of funding.

Communities’ challenges related to resources and 
sustainability are very closely linked to their challenges 
related to program evaluation.  It was recognized that 
conducting meaningful evaluations can be complex, time 
consuming and require significant resources.  For example, 
it is difficult for police services and other community safety 
and well-being partners to prove that an individual did not 
commit a crime or become a victim because he or she was 
involved in a specific program.  Similarly, it is difficult for a 
health care agency to prove that an individual did not develop 
a disease because he or she followed a particular diet and 
exercise routine, or a school to prove that a student avoided 
expulsion because he or she participated in a specific extra-
curricular program.  Generally, prevention initiatives are 
simply more difficult to evaluate. Because finding a way to 
demonstrate the social value of an investment is essential to 
illustrating societal savings, and validate funding decisions, 
some communities have acknowledged the opportunity 
to leverage their local academic community to assist in 
conducting evaluations.

Although some communities are finding challenges with obtaining resources and ensuring sustainability, many 
others are using existing resources in an innovative and collaborative way to achieve greater efficiency and 
effectiveness in their community safety and well-being practices.  Communities are encouraged to partner with 
others, and learn from those who have developed new ways to ensure the needs of their community are being met 
on an ongoing basis.

The OWG has also developed a guidance 
document that identifies examples of effective 
and appropriate performance indicators for 
measuring community safety and well-being.  
The performance measures are derived from 
the applied research and evaluation efforts of 
municipalities, university departments, provincial 
agencies and offices.  The measures have been 
shown to work and be of value to those who are 
interested in strengthening community capacities 
to develop and care for the safety and well-
being of Ontarians.  The guidance document, 
Performance Measures…for Community Safety 
and Well-being, was made available through 
the OACP in July 2014, as part of a collection of 
documents entitled New Directions in Community 
Safety: Consolidated Lessons Learned about 
Risk and Collaboration.  The entire collection is 
available online at http://www.oacp.on.ca/news-
events/resource-documents/ontario-working-
group-owg. 

Two Ontario based programs mentioned at 
the community engagement sessions, SNAP 
and Triple P, have had return on investment 
evaluations, and have shown positive results 
in obtaining value for money spent.  More 
information about these programs can be found 
on pages 27 and 28. 

                                                13                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



Conclusion

The local involvement and input received at the community engagement sessions shed light on many common 
challenges experienced by multiple participants, across various sectors and communities when aiming to increase 
community safety and well-being.  The sessions have shown that communities are working together in partnership 
to shrink service gaps, increase service accessibility and use existing resources in a more innovative way to 
create sustainable responses.  When developing community safety and well-being practices, communities are 
encouraged to be proactive in considering the challenges outlined above in order to mitigate and/or avoid them 
if possible.  Encouragingly, and perhaps most importantly, the sessions also gave communities the opportunity to 
share and celebrate their successes, and identify the following local promising practices.

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                                14



It is evident from the community engagement sessions that there is a tremendous amount of great work happening 
in local settings across Ontario to increase community safety and well-being.  Although there were many 
community safety and well-being promising practices mentioned at the community engagement sessions, the 
following section represents a snapshot of those practices that exhibit an assessed strength with at least one of the 
following six foundational principles of achieving community safety and well-being:

•  Diversity;
•  Community leadership; 
•  Integrated, multi-sectoral, multi-disciplinary partnerships; 
•  Knowledge and information sharing; 
•  Evidence and evaluation; and
•  Sustainable responses.

This section is organized by the above noted principles and the practices are highlighted underneath the principle 
that represents its greatest assessed strength.  The Ministry encourages communities to consider the foundational 
principles, and learn from one another when developing and implementing local community safety and well-
being practices.  

The locally-identified promising practices highlighted in this section do not reflect a full compendium, and have 
not been evaluated by, and are not endorsed by the Ministry or Government of Ontario.  The practices highlighted 
below identify the communities which mentioned and validated the information, and those communities referenced 
below also do not represent a conclusive list of where the engagement sessions were held.  

For more information on the following practices please conduct research and you may also contact SafetyPlanning@
Ontario.ca. To determine whether these practices are suitable to respond to local circumstances and needs within 
your community, it is encouraged that a thorough examination be undertaken. 

Diversity

Ontario’s demography is diverse in many ways and continually changing.  Community safety and well-being 
practices should be developed and delivered to recognize and respond to the diverse needs of the regions, 
populations and groups in Ontario as a one size fits all approach is not appropriate.  It is imperative that practices 
demonstrate an understanding of how people are excluded and marginalized, acknowledge cultural appropriateness 
and reference research regarding the local demographics to understand community needs.  As such, each of the 
promising practices identified in this section respond to the diverse needs of the communities in which they were 
mentioned.  

Section 4 - Locally-Identified Promising 
Practices 

                                                15                           Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



Section 4 - Locally-Identified Promising 
Practices 

Community Leadership

Community safety and well-being is a community-wide responsibility and it requires dedication and input from 
everyone.  Communities are in the best position to accurately identify risk factors and as a result, can best create 
responses to address their specific needs.  It is through strong community leadership that everyone can identify 
their role and take ownership and responsibility for helping to create safe and healthy communities.  

The following initiatives are examples of community mobilization at the grassroots level.  These initiatives 
demonstrate that when community members work together to address local issues, they can have a positive impact 
on their respective neighbourhoods. 

East Side Pride 

East Side Pride, created by a group of citizens in Chatham-Kent in 1999, is a grassroots organization with a 
mission to build and maintain a safe and healthy neighbourhood.  It was established by a group of volunteers 
who wanted to take a stand to reclaim their neighbourhood and continues to be run by volunteers who develop 
programs that proactively address crime and promote community engagement.  Collaborating regularly and with 
multiple sectors, including police, the municipality, various non-profit organizations, a community centre, a local 
women’s centre and several local businesses, they engage in activities to better their community and encourage 
positive behaviour in their neighbourhood.  

Our West End Initiative 

Our West End Initiative is a grassroots organization located in Windsor that is made up of community members 
committed to making their neighbourhood a safe place to live, work and play.  They work with and empower 
residents through collaborative roundtable discussions to identify local assets and community needs.  As a result 
of these discussions, Our West End Initiative is able to support residents by providing the tools and opportunities 
necessary for the development of programs and creation of additional resources.  Supplementary research and 
focus groups are on-going and will be used in the development of a multi-dimensional plan for improvement, 
driven by the needs of the neighbourhood and local residents. 

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                                16



New Opportunities and Hope Supportive Partnerships Advocating Community Empowerment 

New Opportunities and Hope (N.O.A.H.) was formed by Sudbury residents interested in working together to 
make their neighbourhoods healthier and more productive places to live.  Through N.O.A.H., it was determined 
that a ‘one stop shop’ offering a number of different supportive services through a single point of access under one 
roof would be beneficial for the residents living in the involved neighbourhoods.  As a result, the concept of ‘The 
Neighbourhood Resource Centre’ was born, which has since evolved into N.O.A.H.’s Supportive Partnerships 
Advocating Community Empowerment (S.P.A.C.E.).  

N.O.A.H.’s S.P.A.C.E. is a collaborative partnership among more than 40 different community agencies working 
together to create hope and provide inclusive services to community residents.  This includes educational and 
cultural workshops, community barbeques, flu vaccine clinics and other community events.  Core partners of 
N.O.A.H.’s S.P.A.C.E. include community organizations, a child welfare organization, police, a district health 
unit and an Aboriginal organization.  Through N.O.A.H.’s S.P.A.C.E., community partners come together under 
one roof to share knowledge, meet residents with identified needs, provide accessible resources and referrals, 
develop opportunities and implement sustainable solutions that will create healthier outcomes for all.

These community leadership practices primarily target the following risk factors and enhance the subsequent 
protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• crime in the area;
• social disorganization – e.g., high poverty and 

residential mobility; and 
• neighbourhood characterized by poor housing, lack of 

recreational, health and educational facilities.

• access to resources, professional services and social 
support;

• positive cohesive communities; and 
• strong police/justice system engagement/partnership 

with the community.

Muslim Family Support Service 

The Muslim Family Support Service is designed to assist individuals, couples and families in the Muslim 
community in London in their efforts to resolve personal and interpersonal difficulties.  This is done through 
culturally sensitive outreach to the Muslim community and mainstream services, with the aim to build bridges 
of understanding and to facilitate connection.  This service encourages agencies to be more flexible and provides 

                                                17                           Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



information to assist in understanding cultural appropriateness.  This service is sensitive to language and religious 
differences, and recognizes that the needs of one group may be different from another.  It is oriented to short-term 
crises and assists families in learning about and accessing mainstream services. 

The Muslim Family Support Service was developed to meet community needs identified during a Family Safety 
Project.   An advisory committee consisting of members of the Muslim community and representatives from 
social service organizations was established to support and guide the work of the service. 

The Muslim Family Support Service primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent 
protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• feeling of powerlessness;
• sense of alienation; and 
• limited attachment to the community.

• integration of families into the life of the community;
• access to resources, professional services and social 

support; and 
• positive cohesive communities.

Integrated, Multi-Sectoral, Multi-Disciplinary Partnerships 

Everyone plays a role in community safety and well-being.  Therefore, it is essential for these practices to be a 
coordinated and integrated effort between relevant human service providers and sectors at the local level.  

The following programs include meaningful multi-sectoral partnerships that address risk factors associated with 
crime, victimization and harm from various angles. 

Youth Outreach Under 18 Response Services 

Youth Outreach Under 18 Response Services (YOURS) was created in 2005 to help eliminate the service gaps for 
youth who are on waitlists by providing them with short-term support and referrals until other services may be 
accessed.  Specifically, YOURS targets unattached or disengaged male and female youth in Port Hope between 
the ages of 12 and 18 who exhibit behavioural issues, desperation, frustration, anger management issues, eating 
disorders, sexual abuse, substance abuse, are involved in the criminal justice system and/or are at risk of dropping 
out of school.    

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                              18



YOURS is an example of multiple sectors working collaboratively to coordinate service delivery.  Program 
referrals are provided by local school boards, health organizations, youth justice participants and families of 
youth, or the youth themselves.  In addition, child and family services, counselling centres, community mental 
health and child welfare organizations provide supportive services to youth involved in the program to ensure the 
youth receive the assistance they require.    

YOURS primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• feelings of hopelessness;
• behavioural issues; and 
• prior delinquency.

• access to resources, professional services and social 
support;

• personal coping strategies and optimism; and 
• positive expectations for the future.

Furthering Our Communities Uniting Services 

Furthering Our Communities Uniting Services (FOCUS) was implemented in Toronto in 2013 and aims to reduce/
prevent crime and social disorder and increase community safety and well-being, while building meaningful 
collaborative, multi-sectoral partnerships.  FOCUS is an example of a Situation Table that is being implemented 
across Ontario.  A Situation Table consists of human service providers from different sectors working together to 
provide immediate, coordinated and integrated responses to address situations facing individuals and/or families 
at acutely elevated risk, as recognized across a broad range of service providers.  Situation Tables convene to 
discuss acutely elevated risk situations that have been brought forward by an agency sitting at the table and within 
24 to 48 hours, the relevant service providers stage an intervention to help connect that individual and/or family 
with the appropriate supports and services to address their acute needs.

FOCUS involves multiple sectors coming together once a week, including but not limited to, housing, social 
services, health, justice and education.  Participants may vary depending on the community.  Each partner has a 
different expertise and brings with them knowledge of resources, programs and services that are available in the 
community.  After a situation has been identified, the group determines the most appropriate agency to provide 
assistance.  FOCUS aims to connect individuals and/or families to resources before they are victimized and/or 
engage in criminal activity, thereby reducing the likelihood for solely emergency response.  

                                                19                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



Situation Tables primarily target the following risk factors and enhance the subsequent protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• marginalization;
• lack of accessibility to a continuum of services; and
• ineffectiveness of police/justice system in engaging/ 

mobilizing/partnering with the community.

• access to resources, professional services and social 
support; 

• strong police/justice system engagement/partnership 
with the community; and 

• effective/efficient delivery of police/justice system 
services.

Community Outreach and Support Team 

Community Outreach and Support Teams (COAST) provide an integrated, community-based response to 
individuals aged 16 and over who are marginalized, vulnerable and experiencing mental health and/or addictions 
issues.  Located in Halton, COAST aims to reduce the amount of time police officers spend dealing with calls 
that would be better handled by the health care system, and divert individuals experiencing a mental health crisis 
from emergency rooms and the criminal justice system.  COAST also enables individuals in crisis who have a 
serious mental illness to remain safely within their own environment where management plans can be developed 
to diffuse a crisis situation.  

COAST involves a partnership between the justice and health sectors.  It generally consists of a plain clothes 
police officer and a mental health crisis worker.  In other communities, patrol officers respond to calls and, based 
on information obtained, determine if reaching out to a COAST is appropriate.  Some provide follow-up and 
outreach to family members and support agencies.  

COAST primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• poor mental health;
• feelings of powerlessness; and 
• ineffectiveness of police/justice system in engaging/ 

mobilizing/partnering with the community. 

• access to resources, professional services and social 
support;

• effective/efficient delivery of police/justice system 
services; and

• high awareness of determinants of well-being.

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                               20



Niigan Mosewak 
 
Niigan Mosewak, mentioned in Orillia, is an Ojibway phrase meaning “Walking Forward” and is used as the 
descriptor for an Aboriginal youth diversion program developed in 2008 that targets at-risk youth aged 13 to 17 
from Aboriginal communities in Nipissing, Manitoulin, Parry Sound and Sudbury.  This program is delivered as a 
summer camp that includes youth and adult mentors and provides youth with the tools they need to develop into 
healthy and contributing citizens in their community.  Following the traditional teachings of the Medicine Wheel, 
this program encompasses a holistic approach and incorporates physical, emotional, spiritual and mental aspects 
of being.  

Walking the Path 

With its inception in 1996, Walking the Path, also mentioned in Orillia, teaches youth across Ontario in kindergarten 
to grade 12 about the history, beliefs and cultural traditions of Aboriginal people.  Based on Anishnawbe cultural 
teachings, the program can be altered to suit the needs of various communities and is designed to provide students 
with insight into indigenous culture and to instill pride in Aboriginal youth by teaching them about where they 
came from.  In ten modules, Walking the Path includes youth empowerment strategies, promotes self-concept, 
self-esteem and respect for others, and also deals with issues including healing from trauma, abuse, racism and 
combating stereotypes, prejudice and biases.  

Niigan Mosewak and Walking the Path

Youth are referred to Niigan Mosewak by the police, courts, probation and parole services, local schools and 
community and health organizations.  In addition, Walking the Path was developed in partnership between a local 
police service, the provincial police and a local school board.  Families, teachers, police and communities are 
also involved in planning and delivering educational initiatives to youth.  Elders are engaged in the development 
and delivery of both programs, ensuring that Aboriginal people’s needs and capabilities are recognized.  It is 
important for programs to acknowledge the diverse needs of Aboriginal people in particular, as First Nation and 
Aboriginal communities face unique challenges with respect to crime, violence and victimization.  Acknowledging 
these challenges and their unique history by involving the public and elders will help to ensure that Aboriginal 
communities are receiving assistance that is culturally appropriate.                  

                                                21                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



Niigan Mosewak and Walking the Path both primarily target the following risk factors and enhance the subsequent 
protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• victimization/abuse;
• isolation; and 
• impact of assimilation policies. 

• personal coping strategies;
• positive relationship with an adult; and 
• access to resources, professional services and social 

support.   

Caring Dads  

Caring Dads is a specialized program for men seeking to improve their parenting skills through counselling 
and educational sessions.  Implemented in Halton, the goal of  Caring Dads is to create healthy parenting and 
eliminate family violence by prioritizing the needs of children and ensuring men understand the impact of their 
behaviour on their children and partner.  On a weekly basis, men are encouraged to take responsibility for their 
actions, while being taught how to engage with their children in an empathetic and nurturing way.  Caring Dads 
includes a mother contact component, where mothers of the men’s children are contacted on a minimum of two 
occasions and provided with referrals, supports, advocacy services and, if necessary, immediate safety planning.  
Program facilitators also spend considerable time communicating with referral agents to share information 
about the men’s progress and potentially ongoing risk to their children or their children’s mothers.  This program 
acknowledges gender differences, as men and women often do not have the same experiences and face different 
challenges.  Participants in this program develop skills for interacting with their children in healthy ways, including 
learning to recognize and avoid the use of controlling, intimidating and abusive actions. 

Caring Dads was developed in collaboration by university professors, community organizations, child protective 
services, batterer intervention programs, children’s mental health agencies, women’s advocates, centres of 
children and families involved in the justice system, family resource agencies and probation and parole services.  
The partnerships between academia and community organizations in the development of this program created 
a strong foundation of theory and practice.  In addition, referrals to the program are provided by a local child 
welfare organization, courts, probation and parole offices; family and self-referrals are also accepted.  

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                                22



Caring Dads primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• parental attitudes that support violence;
• mistreatment during childhood; and 
• neglect.

• adequate parental behaviours and practices;
• stability of the family unit; and 
• positive support within the family.

Knowledge and Sharing Information 

A lot of information already exists on community safety and well-being efforts.  Facilitating the sharing of this 
knowledge and information allows communities to build capacity using existing resources, ideas and practices 
and avoid the duplication of services.  It is also important to share information within the existing legislative 
framework with relevant partners about individuals who are at risk of victimization or offending, as this creates a 
greater likelihood that individuals will be connected with the appropriate services.  

The following practices highlight various ways of sharing knowledge and information between partners, 
stakeholders, clients and the public, including formal protocols, public meetings and informal sharing agreements 
that align with the existing legislative framework.

New Directions Treatment Program

The New Directions Treatment Program was created in 2010 and provides counselling services to youth aged 12 
to 18 in Barrie who have been convicted of a sexual offence or related charge.  It aims to reduce risk factors for 
sexual offending among youth and strengthen their families by educating parents and increasing their level of pro-
social engagement with their families, peers and the broader community.  The program includes a comprehensive 
risk assessment, and individual and family counselling.  It is delivered in partnership between a community 
organization and probation services.  While this program is generally only provided to youth for the duration 
of their probation order, if they have not completed their treatment, their involvement in the program may be 
extended.

The New Directions Treatment Program has developed policies and procedures for the sharing of client’s personal 
information with other service providers.  For example, release of information forms must be signed by participants 
before program staff can contact certain professionals.  At the beginning of the program, youth are required to 

                                                23                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



sign consent to service forms that outline the organization’s practices regarding confidentiality.  Program staff 
also have conversations with participants regarding information that needs to be shared with their parent/guardian 
(e.g., safety concerns about themselves or towards others) and information that can be kept between them. 

The New Directions Treatment Program primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent 
protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• prior delinquency;
• aggression; and 
• poor emotional regulation. 

• sense of personal responsibility;
• adequate parental supervision; and 
• positive support within the family.

Community Addiction Response Strategy 

The Community Addiction Response Strategy (CAReS) was implemented in London in 2008 and aims to improve 
the housing and health outcomes of individuals and families experiencing homelessness.  CAReS seeks to alleviate 
demands on the health, social and criminal justice systems by using a collaborative, community-based approach 
to achieve housing stability when assisting those experiencing homelessness or those at risk of being homeless.  
Recognizing often complex and co-occurring challenges associated with addictions, mental health, trauma and 
poverty, responses are provided based on the results of an assessment and individual priorities.  CAReS is funded 
by the municipality and delivered in partnership with a local public health organization, addiction centre and a 
homeless shelter.    

To ensure that community partners, stakeholders and the public are aware of CAReS, updates are provided at 
quarterly community committee meetings.  Community members and organizations that provide services to 
people experiencing homelessness and have shared goals are invited to attend the meetings where they will 
receive status updates on CAReS programming, activities and emerging community trends. 

CAReS primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• lack of affordable housing;
• poverty; and 
• poor mental health.

• access to resources, professional services and social 
support;

• positive cohesive communities; and
• effective/efficient delivery of police/justice system 

services.

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                               24



Violent Threat Risk Assessment Protocol

Violent Threat Risk Assessment (VTRA) Protocols aim to reduce violence, manage threats of violence and promote 
individual, school and community safety through early intervention, support and the sharing of information.  The 
VTRA Protocol has been implemented in Belleville, Cornwall, Halton, York and Sarnia, and support collaborative 
planning among schools, community partners, families, children and youth, and the development of safe, caring 
and restorative approaches.  Specifically, they promote the immediate sharing of information about a child or 
youth who pose a risk of violence to themselves or to others.     

The foundation upon which the VTRA Protocol rests, is that schools, police, health and community agencies will 
work together and identify/develop strategies to mitigate potential threats of violence.  While information sharing 
practices vary between communities, in most circumstances formal information sharing protocols are signed 
between partners in order to facilitate the process.  

VTRA Protocols primarily target the following risk factors and enhance the subsequent protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
•  negative influences in the youth’s life;
•  sense of alienation; and 
•  cultural norms supporting violence.

• caring school environment;
• positive relationship with an adult; and 
• access to resources, professional services and social 

support.

Rapid Mobilization Table 

The Rapid Mobilization Table (RMT) is another example of a Situation Table that has been operationalized in 
Ontario.  Implemented in Sudbury, it consists of human service providers from different sectors collaborating to 
provide immediate, coordinated and integrated responses to support individuals, families, groups or locations 
that have been identified by partners to be at acutely elevated risk.  RMT convenes twice a week to identify 
and discuss situations that place community members at a high risk of harm.  Once a situation is identified, all 
necessary agency partners participate in a coordinated, joint response ensuring that those at risk are connected 
to appropriate, timely and effective supports.   RMT data is used to identify trends, common risk factors and 

                                                25                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



potential gaps in community services.   This information, including potential opportunities and recommendations, 
is shared with community leaders to inform community planning and decision-making.   

In order for Situation Tables to be successful, they require participating agencies to share the most basic and 
limited personal information about individuals or families at acutely elevated risk, to best address their needs 
and offer the appropriate support services.  Obtaining consent to share personal and confidential information 
is the first priority of a Situation Table.  In cases where consent cannot be obtained at the outset, RMT uses a 
four filter approach to ease the flow of limited personal information, working within existing legislation.  This 
approach sets parameters on what information is being shared and with whom to guide each discussion and 
limit the disclosure of personal information.  The following four filter approach was developed and refined by 
the Community Mobilization Prince Albert team in Saskatchewan and was quickly adopted by all operational 
Situation Tables across their province: 

1. Filter One - Preliminary Screening 
• Agencies understand they can only bring forward a situation for discussion once they have exhausted their 

means to be able to appropriately handle the situation within their own agency.
• If the agency determines the risk factors are beyond their scope to mitigate, and could be better handled by 

a larger discussion across multiple human service sectors, then the situation is brought to the table.

2. Filter Two - Identifying Acutely Elevated Risk
• When a situation is brought forward to the table it is first presented in a de-identified manner.  
• After a brief discussion around the table, a consensus decision-making process is used to determine 

whether or not the situation meets the threshold of an acutely elevated risk.

3. Filter Three - Limited Information Shared
• If there is consensus at the table that an acutely elevated risk exists, limited personal information is shared 

about the individual and/or family, including but not limited to, a name, date of birth and address.  
• This provides an opportunity for the agencies around the table to see if they already provide services to the 

individual and/or family as well as identify which agencies should be involved in the intervention stage.  

4. Filter Four - Full Discussion with Relevant Agencies
• Agencies named as a result of filter three take the discussion offline at the end of the meeting and share 

further information amongst each other as needed to determine the appropriate next steps. 

See page 20 for the risk factors and protective factors that Situation Tables primarily target and enhance.

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                                26



Evidence and Evaluation

Developing community safety and well-being practices based on evidence helps to validate their significance and 
ensure investments are yielding benefits to the community.  It is also important to identify and understand the needs 
of the local community and use practices that will meet those needs, based on research.  Intended outcomes must 
be identified in the development stage in order to measure performance and progress made towards addressing 
identified issues both during and after implementation.  Outcomes should be used to measure the impacts or 
changes the practices are expected to make in the community.  Monitoring and evaluation should be ongoing as 
some outcomes may be evident immediately after practices are implemented and some may take more time to 
achieve.  When performance measurement focuses on the achievement of outcomes, as well as completion of 
activities, it presents opportunities for ongoing learning and adaptation to proven good practice.  

The following are examples of community safety and well-being practices that incorporate research and/or 
evaluation in their development, implementation and/or refinement. 

Stop Now And Plan 

Utilized in several communities, including Barrie and Toronto, Stop Now And Plan (SNAP) is a gender sensitive, 
cognitive behavioural family-focused program that provides a framework for effectively teaching children and 
their parents how to regulate emotions, exhibit self-control and use problem-solving skills.  It was developed 
for children between the ages of six and 12 who have come into contact with the law and/or show early signs of 
serious anti-social, aggressive or delinquent behaviour.  

Over the course of the intervention, SNAP helps to regulate angry feelings by getting participants to stop, think and 
plan positive alternatives before acting impulsively.  Training manuals have also been developed to help Aboriginal 
communities implement this program, recognizing their unique challenges.  In order for an organization to offer 
SNAP, they must obtain a license from the originating organization and complete a training and consultation 
agreement.

SNAP primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• poor self-control and problem solving;
• aggression; and 
• impulsivity.

• effective problem solving skills;
• sense of responsibility; and 
• pro-social behaviours.

                                                27                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



Triple P - Positive Parenting Program

Triple P - Positive Parenting Program (Triple P) is a parenting and family support system run by an accredited 
Triple P practitioner and delivered to parents with children up to 16 years of age in communities including Barrie, 
Windsor and York.  It aims to prevent and treat problems in the family, school and community before they arise 
and create family environments that help children realize their potential.  

This program draws on social learning, cognitive behavioural and developmental theory, as well as research into 
the risk factors associated with the development of social and behavioural problems in children.  Triple P provides 
parents with the skills and confidence they need to be self-sufficient and independently manage family issues by 
teaching them effective parenting strategies, including how to promote child development and manage common 
child behavioural problems. 

Triple P primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• family violence;
• parental attitudes that support violence; and 
• few or no positive role models.

• personal coping strategies;
• pro-social behaviours; and
• adequate parental behaviour and practices. 

SNAP and Triple P

SNAP and Triple P are evidence-based practices that were developed more than 25 years ago with ongoing 
research.  They have each been evaluated extensively by the central agencies (and others) that originally 
developed the practices and issue licences to implement them in communities across Ontario.  Through ongoing 
pre/post/follow-up evaluations, random control trials and cost benefit-analysis with participants, results of SNAP 
evaluations are positive.  Some successes include that SNAP has been found to have positive impacts on a parent’s 
ability to use effective child management strategies, reduced child behaviour problems and the likelihood that 
a child will become involved in the criminal justice system.  Third party external evaluations have also been 
conducted to ensure successes are repeated and return on investment is obtained.  Evaluation results for Triple P 
are also promising and have shown positive effects on observed and parent-reported child behavioural problems 
and parenting practices at the family and community level.  Triple P has also demonstrated positive influences on 
population-level child maltreatment indices.  

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                                 28



Positive Alternatives to School Suspension Program

The Positive Alternatives to School Suspension (PASS) Program began in 1999 as part of an endorsed progressive 
discipline intervention plan of the local boards of education.  It is an alternative to student home suspension 
offered to youth in grades four through 12 in Sarnia that aims to reduce the number of school suspensions, increase 
their focus on school, help youth feel comfortable in seeking support and improve their coping and social skills.  
Students are required to complete school work and engage in practices to help develop social competency skills.  
Participating schools provide youth with academic materials to ensure they make progress in their studies at their 
grade level.  This program is a collaborative partnership between the local school boards, college placement 
students and a community organization.     

The PASS Program was developed in response to community research that identified a need for structured 
suspension based supports and re-integration plans for youth with complex needs and/or involvement in the 
criminal justice system.  In the early stages of development, a detailed logic model was created to outline the 
program goals, short, medium and long-term outcomes and on-going activities that would be implemented to help 
achieve the noted outcomes.  In addition, on-going evaluations of program content and delivery are conducted 
by asking youth and their parents/guardians to assess the program at the end of each suspension.  Results to date 
have been reported as positive and the majority of participants and their parents/guardians have indicated that the 
PASS Program has helped them deal with the reasons they were suspended.  Youth have also suggested that going 
forward they are more likely to think about the consequences of their actions.  The program continues to evolve 
based on emerging trends and evaluations received. 

The PASS Program primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
•	 low	academic	inspirations;
•	 low	self-esteem;	and	
•	 sense	of	alienation.

•	 effective	problem	solving	skills;
•	 positive	school	experiences;	and	
•	 sense	of	responsibility.

Neighbourhood Based Crime Prevention

Established in 2006 in Ottawa, Neighbourhood Based Crime Prevention evolved out of a crime analysis led by 
a municipal crime prevention council in partnership with the police, city departments and a local university that 
helped identify high-risk neighbourhoods in the area.  Based on the analysis, the municipal crime prevention 

                                                29                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



council engaged multi-sectoral stakeholders in three priority neighbourhoods and provided funding for a staff 
member at three agencies in the respective neighbourhoods to help address locally identified issues.  In each 
neighbourhood, agency staff brought together a table of residents and community partners to analyze specific 
issues and priorities in that neighbourhood and develop initiatives to meet the diverse needs of the community and 
cater to the local demographic.  Some stakeholders involved in Neighbourhood Based Crime Prevention include 
police, resident and business associations, community agencies, education, health, housing and social services. 

The municipal crime prevention council provided technical and research support, funding and assisted in outreach 
to ensure communities access city resources and services.  In addition to using local research to determine 
where supplemental resources would be most effective, an external consultant was hired to assess the overall 
effectiveness.  Results were extremely positive, including reduced levels of crime in the targeted neighbourhoods 
between 20 and 27 per cent, and improved relationships between citizens, various services and the police.  

Neighbourhood Based Crime Prevention primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent 
protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• crime in the area;
• feeling unsafe in a neighbourhood; and 
• poor community design.

• access to resources, professional services and social 
support;

• positive cohesive communities; and
• integration of families into the life of the community.

Strengthening Families for the Future

Created in 2007, Strengthening Families for the Future is a prevention program for families with children between 
the ages of seven and 11 who are at risk of substance abuse, depression, violence, delinquency and dropping out 
of school.  In Kenora, it is delivered over nine to 14 consecutive weekly sessions each lasting for approximately 
three hours.  This program involves parents and children coming together to share a meal, followed by a one hour 
individual session for parents and their children, and a session with the entire family where they practise the skills 
they learned in their individual sessions.  This program is powerful in that it facilitates change within the family 
by involving the whole family and not just parents or children.

Strengthening Families for the Future is modelled on a successful program developed in 1988 by a professor at the 
University of Utah.  The original program has been evaluated extensively in various countries across the globe.  
Since being implemented in Ontario, the program has been updated to include information from local treatment 

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                                 30



agencies.  This adaptation of the program has also undergone extensive evaluation and has been identified as a 
best practice program by Health Canada.  Preliminary results show that Strengthening Families for the Future 
is a promising intervention for fostering significant improvements in family functioning, parenting and a child’s 
psychological functioning. 

Strengthening Families for the Future primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent 
protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• behavioural problems;
• feeling of hopelessness; and 
• families with few resources. 

• self-esteem;
• personal coping strategies; and 
• positive parent-child attachment and 

interactions. 

Sustainable Responses 

While lasting conditions, structures, programs and policies take time to establish, sustainable responses are critical 
to supporting communities’ ongoing ability to build capacity and respond to harm.  Without sustainable, long-
term practices in place, crime and victimization will reoccur, and the health and well-being of the community will 
not be maximized.  

The following practices have elements that are important to ensuring sustainability, such as addressing co-
occurring challenges at the system level, using volunteers to reduce financial pressures, building local capacity to 
develop strategies and establishing a train-the-trainer model to help ensure longevity of the practice. 

Aspire 

Established in 2010, Aspire seeks to prevent violent youth crime by improving academic achievement and building 
peer relationships.  This program provides children in kindergarten to grade six in under-serviced neighbourhoods 
in Mississauga with one-on-one after school tutoring and peer mentoring sessions at no-cost.  Students are paired 
with a peer tutor that is in high school or college/university, meeting once a week after school to work on areas of 
academic need.  In partnership with other community agencies, the municipality and local police service, students 
are provided with a convenient location for tutoring and attending events. 

                                                31                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



Aspire is structured around a community operated model, where youth and young adults are encouraged to take 
ownership of the program.  While agency staff provide support in program delivery, volunteers ensure that the 
program does not solely rely on funding.  Volunteers are provided with incentives to participate in the program; 
for example, they can earn volunteer hours as part of their educational requirements. 

Aspire primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• low self-esteem;
• low academic aspirations; and 
• negative influences in the youth’s life.

• optimism and positive expectations for the future;
• positive school experiences; and
• participation in extra-curricular activities.

Community Crisis Response Program

Since 2008, the Community Crisis Response Program (CCRP) has provided support and resources to Toronto 
communities impacted by violent and traumatic incidents (e.g., a shooting).  This program is activated when 
a violent incident occurs in a neighbourhood and involves helping communities develop localized strategies, 
including the development of a coordinated community crisis response protocol.  CCRP leads an integrated response 
by coordinating municipal services, school boards, police, the public, community/faith-based organizations and 
residents to assist with a neighbourhood’s response and recovery.   It operates under three key components: crisis 
intervention, prevention and preparation. 

CCRP seeks to improve the safety and well-being of neighbourhoods by increasing the local capacity to develop 
collaborative strategies to intervene, prevent and prepare for violent and traumatic incidents.  It connects 
community stakeholders in order to address locally identified safety challenges by enhancing local service 
delivery and leveraging inter-sectoral linkages.  The success of CCRP has resulted in it being embedded into the 
core business of the municipality in which it originated.     

CCRP primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• violent victimization;
• feeling unsafe in a neighbourhood; and
• low level of perceived police/justice system legitimacy. 

• personal coping strategies;
• positive cohesive communities; and
• high awareness of detriments of well-being.

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                               32



The Fourth R 

The Fourth R is an optional interactive classroom curriculum that aims to promote healthy relationships, reduce 
youth relationship violence and decrease substance misuse in Ottawa.  It was developed and evaluated by an 
addictions and mental health centre in partnership with a local school board.  The Fourth R focuses on relationship 
goals and challenges that influence youth decision-making through a gendered approach by emphasizing gender-
specific patterns and aligning them with activities.  It is integrated into existing grade seven, eight and nine health 
and physical education curricula and is administered in co-ed or sex-segregated classrooms.  In addition, there 
are Aboriginal and alternative education versions of The Fourth R that align with cross-curricular expectations.  
Each of these programs seek to involve community members in delivering positive messages to youth about 
healthy relationships.  Teachers and parents are engaged using strategies that assist in building bridges between 
community agencies and schools to increase access to resources and services for youth. 

Using a longer-term approach of working with youth, The Fourth R consists of 21 sessions delivered over the 
course of a school year.  Teachers are trained to deliver the program and are provided with curriculum materials.  
After they are trained, they do not need to be re-trained, but are provided with program updates as they are made 
available.  In addition, “Master Trainers” are also trained within each school board in the community to ensure 
that they have the capacity to offer the training themselves.  The Fourth R addresses co-occurring challenges 
by teaching lessons and using activities that teach youth negotiation, delay and refusal skills, help youth define 
and rehearse responsibilities associated with healthy relationships, and allow the use of role-playing to increase 
interpersonal problem-solving skills.  

The Fourth R primarily targets the following risk factors and enhances the subsequent protective factors:

Risk Factors Protective Factors
• peer pressure;
• negative influences in the youth’s life; and 
• family violence.

• personal coping strategies;
• pro-social behaviours; and
• sense of responsibility.

Conclusion 

Whether it is demonstrating strong community leadership, meaningful partnerships or comfort with sharing 
knowledge and information, using research and evaluation, or being innovative to achieve sustainable solutions 
that are responsive to the diversity of the community, it is evident that Ontario communities are implementing 
social development approaches to achieve greater community safety and well-being.  

                                                33                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   



Overall, the most significant learning from the community engagement sessions is the strong recognition across 
the province of the need to change the way we look at service delivery in all sectors moving forward in order for 
Ontarians to get the services they need, when they need them.  Relying solely on reactionary and incident driven 
responses to community safety and well-being is inefficient, ineffective and unsustainable.  It is encouraging that 
communities continue to move towards innovative, collaborative and risk-driven approaches to prevent crime and 
victimization and increase safety and well-being in a more effective and efficient way.  

In response to this learning, the third and final booklet in the Ministry’s provincial approach will take the shape 
of a framework for community safety and well-being planning.  This framework will set the stage for service 
delivery and the development of local community safety and well-being plans that encourage meaningful multi-
sectoral partnerships to respond to crime and complex social issues on a sustainable basis.  The framework will 
also respond to the common challenges and build on the principles and local strengths of community safety and 
well-being practices identified in this booklet.  It will continue to inspire communities to refocus their efforts to 
work towards meaningful collaboration, an environment that promotes information and data sharing, and holistic 
performance measurement that is outcomes-based.  In addition to the framework, the Ministry will provide 
guidance to assist communities in developing and evaluating local community safety and well-being plans that 
leverage existing community strengths and resources to respond to local circumstances, needs and priorities. 

       Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices                                               34

Section 5 - Ontario’s Way Forward



Thank you for your commitment to community safety and well-being.  As community safety and well-being is 
ever evolving, the Ministry would like to continue to hear about novel practices being developed or implemented 
in local communities. The Ministry also welcomes your thoughts, comments and input on this booklet. Please 
send your novel practices and comments to SafeyPlanning@Ontario.ca.

Ministry Contributors:

Stephen Waldie, Director, External Relations Branch, Public Safety Division
Oscar Mosquera & Julie Moscato, Managers 
Shannon Christofides, Team Lead
Afra Khan & Claudia Tenuta, Community Safety Analysts
Emily Jefferson & Stephanie Leonard, Junior Community Safety Analysts 
Sheniz Kassam, Administrative Services Assistant

                                                35                            Community Safety and Well-Being in Ontario: A Snapshot of Local Voices   









































































































Update on Source Protection Implementation – 
Township of Puslinch Council 

Kyle Davis, Risk Management Official 
Wellington County Municipalities 

September 2, 2015 



Communications 

 
From a “brand” perspective we are using a 
common source protection logo, specific to 
Wellington County that has been designed by 
our consultant but is different from the 
Provincial Source Water logo 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
www.wellingtonwater.ca 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 



Status of Source Protection Plans 
 

 
• ABMV (Maitland) Plan became effective on April 1, 2015.  

 
• CTC (Credit) Plan was approved by Minister in July 2015 and will become effective 

on December 31, 2015. 
 

• Halton-Hamilton Plan was approved by Minister in July 2015 and will become 
effective on December 31, 2015. 

 
• Saugeen Plan ended public consultation March 6, 2015 and was submitted to 

Minister for approval in June 2015. 
 

• Grand River (Lake Erie) Plan ended public consultation April 24, 2015 and was 
submitted to Minister for approval in July 2015. 

   
• Province has indicated all plans will be approved by end of 2015.  Effective dates 

are typically three to six months after approval.   
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 





So What does the Halton- Hamilton Effective Date Mean? 
 

• Appointment of Risk Management Official and Risk Management Inspector prior 
to effective date (ie this fall) 
 

• Development application screening must begin by the effective date 
 
• Training of counter staff on source protection and on source protection 

application form 
 
• Annual reporting requirements begin with appointment of RMO / RMI 
 
• Timelines begin for updating of Official Plan, Zoning Bylaws, negotiating Risk 

Management Plans and mandatory education 
 
• Launch of database system 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Other Updates 
 

• Following letters from many municipalities, the Province extended the timeline for using 
Source Protection Municipal Implementation Fund (SPMIF) funds until December 2016.  
Puslinch has already signed extension amendment and returned it to the Province. 
 

 
• R J Burnside and Associates, has been hired to conduct activity verification for drinking 

water threats on commercial, industrial and institutional properties.  This will start with 
notifications and site visits this fall. 

 
 

• WSP Canada has been hired to conduct septic inspections.  Inspections began the end of 
July and will continue through the fall.  At least 50% of properties have signed up for 
inspections proactively.  The remaining properties have received letters scheduling their 
inspection date.  If a home owner wishes to reschedule they can call WSP. 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 



Water Quantity (Tier 3) 



Water Quantity (Tier 3) 
• As part of the Clean Water Act requirements, Tier 1 

and 2 water budget and water quantity assessments 
were completed for the Grand River watershed (Grand 
River Assessment Report 2012). 

 
• This assessment was required to identify 

subwatersheds that are potentially under stress for 
water quantity and therefore require further study 
under a Tier 3 water budget or water quantity 
assessment. 

 
• Both Central Grand (Region of Waterloo) and Upper 

Speed (Guelph and Guelph / Eramosa) subwatersheds 
were identified in the Grand River Assessment Report. 



Reproduced 
from the 
Grand River 
Assessment 
Report (2012) 



Water Quantity (Tier 3) 
• Since Fall 2014, worked with GRCA, MOECC and MNRF to establish a 

process for Wellington County municipality review of the Guelph 
Tier 3 

 
• Retained Harden Environmental to provide hydrogeological 

comments on behalf of Township of Puslinch 
 
• RJ Burnside was retained for Guelph / Eramosa and Blackport 

Hydrogeology was retained for Erin 
 
• RMO has coordinated review with consultants, Township / Town 

staff and CAOs 
 



Water Quantity (Tier 3) 
• Numerous meetings have occurred with the various agencies (MOECC, MNRF, 

GRCA), municipalities (Townships, Town, County, City of Guelph) and 
consultants. 

 
• Province has agreed to fund Wellington County municipality review as a peer 

review of the Water Quantity Risk Assessment Report (Tier 3). 
 
• Our consultants have worked together in finalizing their comments and have 

met with City of Guelph’s consultant (Matrix Solutions). 
 
• On June 19, 2015, Wellington Source Water Protection forwarded letter and 

municipal peer reviews (Harden, Blackport and Burnside memos) to the 
GRCA, MOECC and MNRF 
 

 
 



Water Quantity (Tier 3) 
• Peer review indicated concern with delineation of the Well Head Protection 

Area – Quantity extent and significance level 
 
• Concerns also related to additional data that should be included to ensure 

Tier 3 report and model is accurate of field conditions and based on best 
available science 

 
• Requested commitment from GRCA, Guelph, MOECC and MNRF to address 

the peer review concerns 
 
• Requested written confirmation of process and timing to alter extent / 

significance of WHPA – Q 
 
• Requested confirmation of Council, public and industry consultation process 

 



Water Quantity (Tier 3) 
• Received written response from GRCA on June 25, 2015 

 
• Attended follow-up meeting on July 24, 2015 with GRCA, MOECC, 

MNRF, City of Guelph and consultants 
 

• Agreement to strike a steering committee with RMO as our 
representative supported by RJ Burnside.  Harden and Blackport will 
provide support but not attend steering committee meetings 
 

• Agreement to develop terms of reference for remainder of Tier 3 
project.  Being drafted by GRCA and will be circulated for comment 
 
 



Water Quantity (Tier 3) 
• MOECC to provide written confirmation on process to alter and 

approve the extent and significance level of WHPA – Q 
 
• Further review of model to determine extent of current third 

party (ie industry) data and further discussions needed on 
process to incorporate additional industry data 
 

• Terms of Reference to provide details on industry / public 
consultation process 

 
• Expected timeline is at least one to two years 

 







Background: 
• The 2016 International Plowing Match and Rural Expo. 

(IPM) is taking place on September 20 – 24 in Minto, 
Wellington County. 

• Main goals: 
- Opportunity to engage with the public. 
- Educate. 
- Develop relationships. 

• Each municipality within Wellington County will be 
responsible for designing and manning a booth in the 
Industry and Entertainment tent at IPM. 

 



Items for Discussion: 

1. Theme 
2. Approaching local businesses (industry) 
3. Sourcing local talent (entertainment) 
4. Budget 
5. Next Steps 



Theme: 

• Choosing a unique theme for Puslinch. 
o Ex. Mapleton – theatre. 

• Suggestions: Aberfoyle Antique Market, Farmers’ 
Market (will be having “live” market in the tent). 

• Goal: develop a theme that engages visitors and 
facilitate interaction with visitors. 

• Feedback – what would we like our theme to be? 



Approaching Local Businesses (Industry): 

• Each municipality has been asked to approach 
local businesses. 

• Each business would be responsible for 
managing their own staff. 
o No financial compensation from Township 
o Advertising and marketing opportunity. 

• Feedback: What local businesses would the 
Township like to approach? 



Sourcing Local Talent (Entertainment): 

• Each municipality has been asked to compile a 
list of local musical entertainment. 

• Need to source local talent and approach 
artists. 

• No financial compensation from the Township. 
• Feedback: What artists and/or musical talent 

groups would the Township like to approach? 



Budget & Next Steps: 

• Financial contribution? 
• Goal: Cohesion amongst each municipality’s 

booth. 
• Feedback: What would the Township be able 

to contribute financially to our booth at IPM? 
• Next Steps: “Match Minutes”. 











































































































































































































































Planning & Development Advisory Committee Meeting 
June 9, 2015 

7:00 pm 
Council Chambers, Aberfoyle 

 
MINUTES 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT: 
John Sepulis, Chair 
Dianne Paron 
Councilor Ken Roth 
Robin Wayne 
Dennis O’Connor 
 
OTHERS IN ATTENDANCE:  
Kelly Patzer – Development Coordinator 
Aldo Salis – County of Wellington 
Blair Caldwell 
Silvia Biro 
Vilmos Kadvanj 
Edit Kadvanj 
Laurie Arnott 
Doug Scott 
George Vicker 
Anne Secord 
Meghan Secord 
Helen Ribble 
Steve Ribble 
Kathy White 
 
1. - 5. COMMITTEE OF ADJUSTMENT 

• See June 9, 2015 Committee of Adjustment Minutes 

DEVELOPMENT APPLICATIONS 
 
6.  OPENING REMARKS 

• The Chair advised the gallery that the following portion of the Committee meeting will 
be reviewing and commenting on planning development applications.  

7. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST 
• John Sepulis declared pecuniary interest on Severance Application B48/15 

(D10/SEP), as he owns the subject property. 

8. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
• Moved by Dennis O’Connor, Seconded by Robin Wayne 
• That the minutes of the Tuesday May 12, 2015 Planning & Development Advisory 

Committee Meeting are hereby adopted. 
CARRIED 

 
9. APPLICATIONS FOR SITE ALTERATION 
 
9(a) Site Alteration Application P11/KAD, Puslinch Concession Gore Part Lots 38 and 

 39 RP 61R11538 Part 2. 
 
 Application to fill in a pond on the subject lands to allow for a level building lot to be 

created.  The total amount of fill proposed to be imported on the subject lands is 
0m³; approximately 2000 m³ of fill will be placed back into an excavation that it 
 was removed from. 

 
 



 2 

 
The Chair stated the purpose of this Meeting is to inform and provide the public with the 
opportunity to ask questions, or to express views with respect to a Site Alteration 
Application by Vilmos Kadvanj – Concession Gore, Part Lots 38 & 39, Highway 6.  
 
The Chair requested the gallery to please sign in if they wish to be on record and would like 
to be notified of future meetings and decisions regarding this application. 
 
The Chair informed the format of the Meeting is as follows:  
 

• Staff will present the report specifically outlining the purpose of the application, 
summarizing compliance with the Township’s notification and submission 
requirements, and outlining staff and Township’s consultants comments and 
recommendations.   

• The applicant will present the purpose and details of the application and any 
further relevant information. 

• Following this the public can obtain clarification, ask questions and express their 
views on the proposal.  

• Members of the Committee will then have an opportunity to ask questions 
 
The Chair noted the applicant and staff will attempt to answer questions or respond to 
concerns this evening. If this is not possible, the applicant and/or staff will follow up and 
obtain this information. 
 
Karen Landry stated the application is to fill in a pit that was dug by the owner with the 
existing fill that was removed from the pit. The application was circulated to Township Staff 
and the Public for comment and no objections were received. The owner will be required to 
post securities and enter into an agreement with the Township as part of the permit 
process.  
 
Sylvia Biro of 1027 Gordon Street, Guelph, agent for Vilmos Kadvanj, stated the hole is a 
pit that was dug out previously and the owner now wishes to refill it. 
 
Robin Wayne noted the entrance permit is expired to construct the field entrance. 
 
Syliva Biro confirmed the entrance has been constructed and was done so while the 
entrance permit was valid. 
 
There were no other questions or comments. 
 

• Moved by Dennis O’Connor and Seconded by Robin Wayne 
• That the Planning and Development Advisory Committee recommends that Council 

enact a By-law to authorize the entering into of an agreement as outlined in Report 
PD-2015-011 with Vilmos Kadvanj – Part Lots 38 and 39, Concession Gore, Part 2, 
Reference Plan 61R-11538; and 

• That prior to execution of the agreement by the Mayor and Clerk, the applicant 
submit securities in a form satisfactory to the Township in the amount of $20,000.00. 

CARRIED 
 
10. ZONING BY-LAW AMENDMENTS - none 
 
11(a) Severance Application B44/15 (D10/REI) – Reid’s Heritage Homes, Concession 2, 

Part Lots 11&12, municipally known as 6783 Wellington Rd 34 
 
 Proposed severance is 4.7 hectares with 55m frontage, existing and proposed rural 

residential use with existing dwelling and detached accessory building. To correct 
title where 3 properties inadvertently merged. 

  
 Retained parcel is 36.3 hectares with 236m frontage, existing and proposed office 

and airstrip with existing office, hanger, cabin and 3 storage buildings. 
 



 3 

• Moved by Dianne Paron, Seconded by Ken Roth that the following comments 
be forwarded to the County of Wellington Land Division Committee: 

• No Comments 
• Note that Township Staff  are to review conformity of the parcels to the By-law 

with regards to lot frontage requirements  
CARRIED 

11(b) Severance Application B45/15 (D10/REI) – Reid’s Heritage Homes, Concession 2, 
Part Lots 11&12, municipally known as 6783 Wellington Rd 34 

 
 Proposed severance is 32.9 hectares with 25m frontage with 25m frontage, existing 

and proposed woodlot. To correct title where 2 separate parcels inadvertently 
merged. 

 
 Retained parcel is 36.3 hectares with 236m frontage, existing and proposed office 

and airstrip with existing hanger, cabin and 3 storage buildings. 
 

• Moved by Dennis O’Connor, Seconded by Robin Wayne that the following 
comments be forwarded to the County of Wellington Land Division 
Committee: 

• No Comments 
• Note that Township Staff  are to review conformity of the parcels to the By-law 

with regards to lot frontage requirements  
CARRIED 

11(c) Severance Application B47/15 (D10/WAT) – Michael & Carol Watson, Concession 
4, Part Lot 10, municipally known as 4642 Sideroad 10 N 

 
 Proposed severance is 66m fr x 121m = 0.8 hectares, existing bush for proposed 

rural residential use. 
 
 Retained parcel is 16 hectares with 301m frontage on Sideroad 10 and 85m frontage 

on Concession 4, existing and proposed rural residential and agricultural use with 
existing dwelling and barn/shed. 

 
• Moved by Ken Roth, Seconded by Dianne Paron that the following comments 

be forwarded to the County of Wellington Land Division Committee: 
• No Comments 

CARRIED 

Dianne Paron Chaired the following application and John Sepulis removed himself from the 
Committee: 
 
11(d) Severance Application B48/15 (D10/SEP) – John & Anne Sepulis, Concession 3, 

Part Lot 20, municipally known as 4476 Sideroad 20 N 
 
 Proposed severance is 65m fr x 63m = 0.4hectares, vacant land for proposed rural 

residential use. 
 
 Retained parcel is 3.3 hectares with 173m frontage on Sideroad 20 N and 113m 

frontage on Wellington Rd 34, existing and proposed rural residential use with 
existing dwelling. 

 
• Moved by Robin Wayne, Seconded by Dennis O’Connor  that the following 

comments be forwarded to the County of Wellington Land Division 
Committee: 

• No Comments 
CARRIED 

11(e) Severance Application B49/15 (D10/LAS) – Ervin & Margit Laszio, Concession 11, 
Part Lot 18, municipally known as 4539 Concession 11 

 
 Proposed severance is 65m fr x 75m = 0.5 hectares, vacant land for proposed rural 

residential use. 



 4 

 
 Retained parcel is 9.2 hectares with 410m frontage on Nassagaweya-Puslinch 

Townline and 139m frontage on Concession 11 Road, existing and proposed rural 
residential and agricultural use with existing dwelling, 3 bay garage and shed. 

 
• Moved by Ken Roth, Seconded by Dianne Paron that the following comments 

be forwarded to the County of Wellington Land Division Committee: 
• Reduce depth of property to reduce intrusion into the agricultural farmed land. 
• If property were made wider, instead of as deep, it would not interfere with 

crop production. 
CARRIED 

11(f) Severance Application B51/15 (D10/CHA) – Fernando Chaves, Concession 2, Part 
Lots 11&12, municipally known as 6783 Wellington Rd 34 

 
 Proposed severance is 50m frontage x 168metres = 0.8 hectares, existing 

agricultural use for proposed rural residential use. 
 
 Retained parcel is 35 hectares with 327m frontage, existing and proposed 

agricultural use within existing barn. 

• Moved by Dennis O’Connor, Seconded by Robin Wayne that the following 
comments be forwarded to the County of Wellington land Division Committee: 

• No Comments 
CARRIED 

12. OTHER MATTERS 
• County of Wellington update regarding the timing of secondary unit policy review 

and secondary dwellings for farm help was provided 

• Committee members confirmed required training is completed. 

12. CLOSED MEETING 
• No matters 

 
13. FUTURE MEETINGS  

• Tuesday July 14, 2015, 7:00 p.m. 
 
14. ADJOURNMENT 

• Moved by Ken Roth and Seconded by Dianne Paron. 
• That the Planning & Development Advisory Committee adjourns at 8:05 p.m. 

CARRIED 



 Committee of Adjustment Meeting 
June 9, 2015 

7:00 pm 
Council Chambers, Aberfoyle 

MINUTES 

MEMBERS PRESENT: 
John Sepulis, Chair 
Dianne Paron 
Councilor Ken Roth 
Robin Wayne 
Dennis O’Connor 

OTHERS IN ATTENDANCE:  
Kelly Patzer – Development Coordinator 
Aldo Salis – County of Wellington 
Blair Caldwell 
Silvia Biro 
Vilmos Kadvans 
Laurie Arnott 
Doug Scott 
George Vicker 
Anne Secord 
Meghan Secord 
Helen Ribble 
Steve Ribble 
Kathy White 

1.  OPENING REMARKS 
• The meeting was called to order at 7:00 pm. The Chair welcomed the gallery to the 

Committee of Adjustment meeting and informed the gallery Township Staff would 
present the application, then the applicant would have the opportunity to speak to 
present the purpose and details of the application and any provide any further 
relevant information. Following this the public can obtain clarification, ask questions 
and express their views on the proposal. The members of the Committee can then 
obtain clarification, ask questions and express their views on the proposal. All 
application decisions are subject to a 20 day appeal period. 

2. DISCLOSURE OF PECUNIARY INTEREST 
• None 

3. APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
• None 

4. COMMITTEE OF ADJUSTMENT – Applications for Minor Variance 
4(a) Minor Variance Application D13/SCO – Douglas Scott & Laurie Arnott – 

Property described as Concession 10, Rear Part Lot 10, 290 Hume Road, Township 
of Puslinch 

Requesting relief from provisions of Zoning By-Law #19/85, as amended, to allow a 
minimum side yard setback of 1 metre to permit a garage which allows wheelchair 
access. 

• Kelly Patzer summarized the application for minor variance as submitted and 
noted that no objections were received from circulated agencies or the Public, 
the application meets the four tests of a minor variance and Township Staff 
has no objection to the approval of the application subject to the condition that 



 2 

the 1 metre side yard setback shall apply only to the east side lot line to 
accommodate the proposed addition. 

• Doug Scott of 290 Hume Road explained when the property was purchased 
and the vendors were unsure of the side lot line, but it was believed to have a 
greater setback than what there actually is.   

• Doug Scot stated he and Laurie Arnott purchased the property then had it 
surveyed, which verified the location of the side lot line.  

• Doug Scott noted a new attached garage is required to be built to 
accommodate a wheelchair lift, and it is being designed to provide the most 
accessible access possible.  

• Doug Scott stated the lot to the east, abutting the proposed reduced setback 
is a vacant lot. He has had discussions with the owner of the vacant lot who 
has future plans to build a house closer to the road, a distance away from the 
proposed garage.  

• Dianne Paron questioned Kelly Patzer of the Building Department comments 
noted on the staff report  

• Kelly Patzer stated that was a note solely for the applicant’s information for 
the time of Building Permit 

• There were no other comments.  
Moved by Ken Roth and Seconded by Dianne Paron, 
In the matter of Section 45 (1) of the Planning Act, as amended, and Comprehensive 
Zoning By-law 19/85 as amended, and an application for a minor variance 
requesting permission to allow: 
A minimum side yard setback of 1 metre to permit a garage which allows wheelchair 
access, whereas Section 5(3e(v)), Agricultural (A) Zone, of the by-law requires a 
minimum side yard of 2.4 metres when the residence is 1.5 or 2 storeys and has an 
attached garage; 
That the application is Approved with the Following Conditions: 
1. The 1 metre side yard setback shall only apply to the east side lot line to 

accommodate the proposed garage addition. 

CARRIED 

4(b)  Minor Variance Application D13/HAG – Eric & Barbara Hagens – Property 
described as Part Lot 16, Concession 9, 7667 Maltby Road, Township of Puslinch. 

Requesting relief from  provisions of Zoning By-Law #19/85, as amended, to allow a 
minimum lot frontage of 84.1 metres to accommodate a proposed severance 
(County of Wellington file B20/15). 

• Kelly Patzer summarized the application, stating that the minor variance is 
being applied for as a result of Approved with Conditions Wellington County 
Severance Application B20/15. The By-law requires a lot frontage of 121.9 
metres for Agricultural zoned parcels over 4 hecatres. The proposed 
severance will leave the retained lot with a 84.1 metre frontage.   

• Kelly Patzer noted that no objections were received from circulated agencies.  
An objection letter was received from public noting the reduced frontage is not 
minor and it does not conform with the rural character of Maltby Road. 

• Kelly Patzer stated Township Staff have no objection to the approval of the 
application. 

• The agent/applicant was not there to speak to the application. 

• The Chair asked if anyone in the gallery wished to speak to the application.  



 3 

• Anne Secord of 7672 Maltby Road E stated she was speaking on behalf of 
her husband and two others. 

• Anne Secord stated that the reduction of frontage to 84 metres does not 
reflect the interest of neighbours or maintain the rural character of the 
neighbourhood. Neighbouring property values will be negatively impacted with 
small parcels of land and the close proximity of homes. Multiple driveways on 
Maltby Rd will create safety issues with more traffic on the road. 

• Anne Secord noted the minor variance for reduced frontage should have 
become before the severance application. 

• The Chair inquired if the Committee had any questions or comments. 

• Dennis O’Connor stated the reduced frontage is not suitable 

• Ken Roth questioned Aldo Salis if the frontage reduction is minor considering 
it is a 30% reduction is minor in nature 

• Aldo Salis noted applications are not evaluated on percentages, and when 
looking at the creation of new lots it is more of a question if it meets the intent 
of policies. 

• Dianne Paron asked if the application is denied, does the consent fail? 

• Also Salis stated yes it would, and it would be possible for both applications to 
go to the Ontario Municipal Board. 

• Kelly Patzer informed the Planning & Development Advisory Committee 
reviewed and commented on the severance application at a recent 
Committee meeting. 

• Robin Wayne noted that the reduced frontage is not minor. 
Moved by Ken Roth and Seconded by Dianne Paron  
In the matter of Section 45 (1) of the Planning Act, as amended, and Comprehensive 
Zoning By-law 19/85 as amended, and an application for a minor variance 
requesting permission to allow: 
A minimum lot frontage of 84.1 metres to accommodate a proposed severance 
(County of Wellington file B20/15), whereas Section 5(3b), Agricultural (A) Zone, of 
the by-law requires a minimum lot frontage of 121.9 metres for lots over 4 hectares 
in area. 
All those in favour of the motion: John Sepulis and Ken Roth 
All those opposed to the motion: Dennis O’Connor, Dianne Paron and Robin Wayne 
That the application is Denied for the following reasons: 
1. The requested permission for minor variance is not minor in nature 
2. The requested permission for minor variance is not desirable for the appropriate 

development or use of the property. 
CARRIED 

5. ADJOURNMENT 
• The Committee of Adjustment meeting adjourned at 7:19 p.m. 


	2015 09 02 - Council Agenda
	2015 08 12 - Council Minutes 
	2015 06 22 - Public Meeting Minutes DRS Developments Ltd.
	2015 07 07 - Public Meeting Minutes - Persian Investments
	Public Meetings
	Notice of Public Consultation Meetings - Community Based Strategic Plan - September 9th and 10th - Community Centre
	Notice of Public Meeting - Ferraro Inc. - September 10, 2015
	Report PD-2015-021 - Information Report - Public Meeting - Rezoning Application - File D14/FER
	Notice of Public Meeting - Proposed 2016 User ees and Charges By-Law/Proposed Grant Application Policy and Fee Reduction/Waiver Policy

	Communications 
	Item 6.1(a)
	Item 6.1(b)
	Item 6.2(a)
	Item 6.3(a)
	Item 6.4(a)
	Item 6.5(a)

	Intergovernmental Items 
	IG #1
	IG #2
	IG #3
	IG #4
	IG#5
	IG#6
	IG#7
	IG#8
	IG#9
	IG#10
	IG#11
	IG#12
	IG#13

	Delegations 
	Item 7.1 Update on Source Protection Implementation 
	Item 7.2 - Update 2016 International Plowing Match
	Item 7.2 - Update 2016 International Plowing Match

	Reports 
	Financial Reports - July 2015 
	Item 8.2(a)(i) - Financial Report  2015-07
	Item 8.2(a)(ii)  Cheque Register July 2015
	Item 8.2((a)(iii) Voided Cheque Register July 2015
	Item 8.2(a)(iv) Financial Report by Department - July 2015
	Item 8.2(a)(v) Total Revenues, Contributions from Working Reserves and Expenditures by Department - July 2015

	Applications for Cancellation, Reduction of Refund of Taxes Re: Chapter 25, Section 357, 358, the Municipal Act, S.O. 2001
	Report ADM-2015-011 - Bill 8 - Accountability and Transparency Act - Amendments to Municipal Freedom of Information and Protection of Privacy Act and the Ombudsman Act 
	Report ADM-2015-009 - Organization Review - Staff Resourcing - Development Coordinator Position
	Schedule "A"
	Schedule "B" 
	Schedule "C" 
	Schedule "D" 
	Schedule "E" 
	Schedule "F" 

	Report ADM-2015-010 - Staff Resourcing - Legislative Assistant Position
	Schedule "A" 

	Report ADM-2015-012 - Resourcing - County of Wellington 2016 Business Retention and Expansion - Retail Sector
	Report ADM-2013- Hiring Policy - Clarification Amendments 
	Report ADM-2015-014 - Site Alteration By-Law - Applicant Inquiries and Comments 
	Report REC-2015-007 - Agreement with Whistle Stop Co-operative Pre-school INc. - preschool program - Puslinch Community Centre 
	Report REC-2015-008 - Agreement with Guelph Community Health Centre - drop in play group program - Puslinch Community Centre
	Schedule "A"


	2015 06 09 - Planning & Advisory Committee Minutes 
	2015 06 09 - Committee of Adjustment Meeting 



